UNIVERSITY OF DEFENCE BRNO

FACULTY OF MILITARY HEALTH SCIENCES

ANNUAL REPORT

2019

HRADEC KRÁLOVÉ

CZECH REPUBLIC



Faculty of Military Health Sciences

Hradec Králové

EDITORIAL NOTES

Dear Reader,

This publication presents the main activities of the Faculty of Military Health Sciences of the University of Defence.

The 28th Annual Report includes the principal research and educational activities of the 8 departments, so that it may act as a basis for internal and external evaluation respectively.

Should you require more detailed information about our Faculty, it is available on our website http://fvz.unob.cz or http://www.pmfhk.cz.

In case of any suggestions or comments to our activities, do not hesitate to contact us at the address listed below.

Vice-Dean for Research

LTC prof. RNDr. Miroslav POHANKA, PhD, DSc

miroslav.pohanka@unob.cz Our contact address in different languages is as follows:

Univerzita obrany Brno Fakulta vojenského zdravotnictví Hradec Králové

University of Defence Brno Faculty of Military Health Sciences Hradec Králové

Universität der Verteidigung Brno Wehrmedizinische Fakultät Hradec Králové

Université de la Défense de Brno Faculté de Médecine Militaire de Hradec Králové

Universidad de Defensa Brno Facultad de Sanidad Militar Hradec Králové

Universitas Defensionis Brunensis Facultas Medicinae Militaris Greczreginensis

Třebešská 1575 500 01 Hradec Králové Czech Republic

CONTENTS

EDITORIAL NOTES	3
CONTENTS	.5
FOREWORD	.8
HISTORY	.9
THE MAIN AIMS OF THE FACULTY IN 2019	11
THE STRUCTURE OF THE FMHS	16
THE DEAN OF THE FACULTY AND HIS DEPUTIES	18
MEMBERS OF THE SCIENTIFIC COUNCIL	19
MEMBERS OF THE ACADEMIC SENATE	18
MEMBERS OF THE EDUCATION COMMISSION	20
MEMBERS OF THE EDITORIAL COMMISSION	20
DEPARTMENT OF EPIDEMIOLOGY K-301	22
DEPARTMENT OF MILITARY MEDICAL SERVICE ORGANIZATION AND	
MANAGEMENT K-302	28
DEPARTMENT OF RADIOBIOLOGY K-303	30
DEPARTMENT OF TOXICOLOGY AND MILITARY PHARMACY K-304	37
DEPARTMENT OF MILITARY SURGERY K-305	45
DEPARTMENT OF MILITARY INTERNAL MEDICINE AND MILITARY	
HYGIENE K-306	48
DEPARTMENT OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE AND MILITARY GENERAL	-
MEDICINE K-307	56
DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR PATHOLOGY AND BIOLOGY K-308	60
VIVARIUM	68
COMMUNICATION AND INFORMATION SYSTEMS OFFICE	70
VISITORS TO THE FACULTY OF MILITARY HEALTH SCIENCES	73
VISITS ABROAD	73
WORKSHOPS, COURSES, RESIDENCIES AT THE FACULTY	79
INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION	82
SCIENTIFIC AND RESEARCH ACTIVITIES	88
THE REVIEW OF RESEARCH PROJECTS CARRIED OUT AT THE	
FACULTY OF MILITARY HEALTH SCIENCES	91
ARTICLES IN JOURNALS WITH IMPACT FACTOR	01
ARTICLES IN SCOPUS INDEXED JOURNALS1	15
ARTICLES IN OTHERS JOURNALS1	18
TEXTBOOKS, MONOGRAPHS, ARTICLES IN MONOGRAPHS AND	
DD O O F F DU I O O	
PROCEEDINGS12	20
PROCEEDINGS	20 21

FOREWORD

The Faculty of Military Health Sciences of the University of Defence in Hradec Kralove represents a center of medical education and research of the Czech Army with long-term history in the Czech Republic. The military medical education began in Hradec Kralove in 1951. The school was established by an order of the President of the Republic as the Military Medical Academy, and later a honorary title of "Jan Evangelista Purkyne" was added. Later on, the name was changed to the Military Medical Research and Postgraduate Institute, but the name was reverted back in 1988. In 2004, during professionalization of the army and reorganization of military education the University of Defence was founded. Since then our Faculty has become an integral part of the University of Defence and has been renamed, once again, the Faculty of Military Health Sciences. At present, the Faculty is the only institution, which provides a military medical education at the university level. The Faculty provides an education in one accredited Bachelor's study program (Military Paramedic), three Master's study programs (Military General Medicine, Military Dentistry, Military Pharmacy) and eight doctoral study programs. However, our role is not only to educate and train all medical, pharmaceutical and nursing specialists and to maintain scientific excellence, but also to provide a general support to the Military Medical Service.

The very fact that the Faculty has survived all reforms and other changes demonstrates its uniqueness, as well as its high educational. professional and research level. The specificity of our educational model lies in a close cooperation with other scientific and educational workplaces. Thus the Faculty enjoys close collegial relationships with the Medical and Pharmaceutical Faculties of Charles University, the University of Hradec Kralove, the Faculty of Health Studies in Pardubice, the Faculty Hospital in Hradec Kralove and the Military Medical Agency. Especially the two faculties of Charles University and the University of Pardubice cooperate closely with our school in providing the education to our students. As a result, our Master degree students graduate both from our Faculty and from the respective Faculty of Charles University. In 2012, the Central Military Hospital in Prague was declared the Military Faculty Hospital. This medical facility, which we cooperate very closely with, creates a good background for military medical practice for our students. Finally, our school could not thrive without a support from representatives of the city of Hradec Kralove, which our school enjoys ever since its foundation.

At present, the Faculty covers the needs of troops concerning medical professional training in all specializations, medical science and research. The Faculty has educated a lot of specialists who have been subsequently awarded key positions both at national and international levels. These

positions have been held by former and present faculty personnel in important international institutions such as the NATO Surgeon General Office in Europe, memberships in various NATO and EU bodies, United Nations Security Council, and World Health Organization boards. The Faculty members are engaged in many research projects awarded by both national and foreign military, as well as civilian research agencies. The laboratory compartment houses state-of-the-art laboratory technologies focused mostly on projects advancing our knowledge of protection against CBRN agents. The scientific results are published in many respected international journals, such as the Lancet.

In spite of continuously lowering financial budget and personnel reduction, we aim to continue and even to increase most of our activities. Our scientific production rate is the highest at the entire University of Defence. The Czech (Medical Service) field hospitals are well-known around the world and highly valued among our NATO allies. Our approach is different from the majority of other services. Our training is both long-term and intensive, thus the students gain deeper knowledge and skills as well as awareness of a military life. Education, training and research should be joint and, to provide that, the Faculty strives to create a pool of excellent professors, scientists and teachers. The Faculty of Military Health Sciences is an open body for mutual cooperation with scientists and teachers from all democratic countries. In spite of changing priorities in the Czech Military, we have been still focusing on the specialization of the Czech Armed Forces in the nuclear, biological and chemical protection and we have been engaged in many humanitarian and military deployments of military medical services abroad. Our Faculty will play the key role in this demanding process. We will guarantee the research and fulfilment of training needs for medical corps, specialized forces and for some NATO countries. Nevertheless, our primary concern is to educate and train students and young physicians. This can be hardly possible without our closest partners, international collaborators and friends.

In conclusion, I would like to say that all results and successes I perceive as a consequence of the cooperation of teachers and students and other employees of our Faculty, developing relationships with our graduates and maintaining a close collaboration with our partners. The next period should, hopefully, bring us another step in the successful development of the Faculty and its dedicated employees.

Pavel BOSTIK, MD, PhD

Professor and Dean of the Faculty of Military Health Sciences

INTRODUCTION

HISTORY

The Purkyně Military Medical Academy has been a long-term educational and scientific center of the Czech Army Medical Service. There has been a very long history of systematic education of military medical personnel in our country. Its beginnings lie, as in many European countries, in the 18th century. Large, permanent armies were being built and the military medical service became a normal part of these armies. In 1776 the War Council of the Vienna Court issued an administrative order which definitely prohibited the employment of field surgeons in the armed forces who had not studied anatomy and who had not had their knowledge officially examined. This can be considered the beginning of organized education of military medical personnel in our country lasting up to the present days.

The fundamental milestone in the "Austrian" stage was, however, in 1785 with the establishment of the Military Medical (Surgical) Academy named the Josephinum after its founder, the enlightened monarch and father of many political and social reforms, Emperor Joseph II. He saw the mission of the school as fulfilling these tasks:

- education of qualified military surgeons (physicians)
- creation of a learned society for research in medical science

• creation of a permanent field sanitary commission for solving questions concerning combat casualty care.

A number of renowned physicians of Czech origin significantly contributed to nearly 90 years of the school's history.

The foundation of the independent Czechoslovak Republic in 1918 meant at the same time the creation of a democratic army. The basic element of career military physician training was represented by the Military Medical School. Its establishment was the result of a decision by the Czechoslovak Republic government which by its resolution of 25 June 1926 defined the principles of recruiting professional medical and pharmaceutical personnel to the army. The Military Medical School provided professional training for military physicians and further qualification growth for the performance of higher command functions in the military medical service structure.

 28^{th} Annual Report, 2019 - 8

The development of the Czechoslovak Military Medical Service in our country was interrupted by the Second World War. When the army was disbanded a number of physicians and medical students participated in foreign and domestic resistance. The largest number of them were concentrated in England. The British government permitted medical students to complete their studies at British universities. They graduated from Oxford University. The Czechoslovak Military Hospital was created at London Hammersmith Hospital. A few courses of the Medical and Pharmaceutical Reserve Officer School were taught in Leamington and Walton-on-the-Naze where the Czechoslovak Brigade's out-patients' department was situated. Thus, the tradition of the Czechoslovak military medical educational system maintained its continuity.

In 1945, the pre-war practice of recruiting professional personnel to the Military Medical Service was rebuilt. The Military Medical School in Prague was renowned. At the same time tendencies referring to the practice of some medical services of the world's leading armies which required the establishment of an independent military medical university were increasing. The results of the Second World War and the growth of new knowledge in the field of medicine and especially military medicine played a significant role in this.

In 1951, a new period began in the development of the Czechoslovak military medical educational system. This period has been permanently connected with Hradec Králové for 55 years. Rapid establishment of the Military Medical Academy (MMA) was possible only due to the fact that it was built on the basis of being a theoretical and clinical part of the Faculty of Medicine – a branch of Charles University established in 1945. Thanks to the reputation of its workers, a majority of whom became employees of the MMA, the school became an educational and scientific center of the Czechoslovak Medical Service and within a short time gained a good reputation both at home and abroad. The MMA has educated a number of outstanding military medical specialists and the first steps of several contemporary top specialists of Czechoslovak medicine were connected with its existence.

Beginning in 1958 and for the next 30 years the military medical system was transformed into the form of the Purkyně Military Medical Research and Postgraduate Institute. Research tasks and activities in the area of further schooling and specialization of military physicians and pharmacists became a fundamental part of its activity. The main portion of a further basic task of the school – the pregraduate training of future military physicians – was taken over by the renewed Faculty of Medicine of Charles University in Hradec Králové. The development of mutual cooperation between these two partner schools, to which the Faculty of Pharmacy of Charles University in

Hradec Králové joined in 1976 as a significant guarantee of the education of military pharmacists, has become a part of the military medical system.

In 1988, the school changed its name to the Purkyně Military Medical Academy which, institutionally, reflects more precisely the wide variety of its activities.

In November 1989, the school entered a qualitatively new period of development. It has passed through a transformation which has basically changed some military-professional teaching programs, the organizational structure of the school, personnel support, the composition of the educational staff and so on.

The Academy has been included in the new university educational system and since 1993 (origin of the Czech Republic) has served as a training center for Czech Army medical professionals. It has trained nearly 2600 military surgeons, dentists, and pharmacists till now.

After the transformation of the Purkyně Military Medical Faculty into the Faculty of Military Health Sciences (seated still in Hradec Králové) in 2004, the basic functions and tasks of the school focused on a specialized training of the Czech Army medical officers and research work in the area of military health service.

The Faculty of Military Health Sciences is focused to provide universitylevel studies from medicine, stomatology, pharmacy and medical rescue. The faculty has also eight PhD programs and provides the upper form of education as well. Since its establishing, the Faculty of Military Health Sciences is a significant school providing not only graduates but also significant research like publications in journal or participating in scientific projects. The results from creative work can be learned just from this report printed annually.

THE MAIN AIMS OF THE FACULTY IN 2019

The Faculty of Military Health Sciences (FMHS) of the University of Defence in Hradec Králové represents a centre of medical education, training and research of the Army of the Czech Republic. It covers entirely the needs of the troops concerning medical professional training in all specializations, medical informatics, science and research.

1. Education

The main aims of the FMHS in the field of education were as follows:

• to provide university-level studies in the subjects of military general medicine (6 years), stomatology, pharmacy (5 years), and medical rescue (3 years)

• to provide postgraduate study for PhD degree (4 years) in the following accredited disciplines:

Epidemiology	Military Hygiene
Field Internal Medicine	Military Radiobiology
Field Surgery	Molecular Pathology
Infection Biology	Toxicology
Medical Microbiology	

According to the needs of the Surgeon General of the Czech Armed Forces and the Military Medical Service Administration, the Faculty provides specialized and lifelong education of doctors, pharmacists and other military medical service personnel in specified branches of the Act No. 95/2004 of the Code about conditions of receiving professional qualification and specialized qualification to perform a medical profession as a physicians, dentists, and pharmacist. It unifies the system of their training with requirements of EU.

The Faculty organizes and provides training for medical personnel in the active duty, physicians and nurses. The Faculty provides professional refresher courses for medical staff, non-medical staff and non-medical personnel serving field medical units and individual units of the military hospital base on select up-to-date topics. The school actively participates in continued training of physicians and health care personnel, who then serve

in missions abroad. However, the unique military know-how is also attractive for people, who work out of the military health care sphere. The FMHS provides courses on the advanced first aid in the field not only for Military Medical Service personnel but also for non-medical professionals of Military Police units, reconnaissance and special units within the frame of the Czech Armed Forces, Rapid Reaction Units of the Czech Republic Police and others.

All soldiers selected for foreign missions attend special courses of an advanced first aid. Training in emergency life support in field conditions is required for medical personnel. The Battlefield First-Aid Courses for physicians and nurses or health care personnel include the problems of CBRNE protection as well and became a standard not only for the entire military medical staff, but also for many other specialists, who are enrolled in foreign missions.

Other courses concentrate on teaching and training of a comprehensive knowledge necessary for providing medical care within the frame of Disaster Medicine. The FMHS also provides other teaching and training activities determined by "The Plan of Courses and Professional Residencies Training of the Czech Armed Forces Medical Service" and "Notification of Director of Personal Section of the Ministry of Defence – Teaching Activities at Military schools and Training Facilities in the Czech Republic and Abroad". It participates in medical personnel training of medical and non-medical specializations under the methodical and professional leadership, in providing instructors for training of advanced categories of medical personnel and in teaching instructors of lower medical specialists training.

2. Scientific and research work

The FMHS of the University of Defence provides and solves research tasks for the Czech Armed Forces Medical Service. Well assembled scientific teams focus on individual research tasks using state-of-the-art technologies. Within the Faculty, complex laboratory technologies for scientific work are utilized for scientific advancements, which lead to the improvement of life force protection against CBRNE agents. The high scientific level and the achieved results in scientific and research activities of present teams have enabled to for scientific cooperation with foreign partners. The FMHS is a leading institution in the Czech Republic performing military research within the sphere of CBRNE issues in NATO and EU.

The high-quality research capabilities and international recognition of the scientific teams form a solid base for scientific cooperation with partners in NATO countries, which is financed by the NATO and EU funds. Within the sphere of the science and research, the FMHS fulfilled strategic purposes of the Czech Armed Forces transformation by targeting the priorities of the Army (biological agents, chemical agents, military health care). Furthermore, it joined the appropriate institutions and organizational structures of NATO and EU countries and obtained original results in these critical areas. From the point of view of specialization and direction of the Czech Armed Forces, the departments of the FMHS solve medical issues of biological, chemical and radiation protection. Previous and current scientific work focuses on medical aspects of the effects of CBRNE agents and several scientifically oriented departments within the FMHS work in collaboration in solving the specific tasks. This fully corresponds with set priorities in the field of scientific and research work of the Army of the Czech Republic. The military medical service organization and management, information systems, research activities of clinical and therapeutic preventive branches represent other important fields of scientific work.

Many invitations to international symposia and conferences as well as a number of publications prove that scientific knowledge is used in education. The FMHS personnel can publish achieved results of their research work, therapeutic preventive activities and educational activities in the journal Military Medical Science Letters – the oldest military specialized journal, which has been published since 1925. The journal is indexed in Scopus. As of the last year, the journal is published fully in English. Together with professional scientific results the pedagogical activities are subject of an annual evaluation. Based on the results, the academic staff is successful in keeping a good level of publication activities in journals with impact factor and in other national and foreign journals. This, in turn, enables for relatively broad and successful training activities in the accredited doctoral study programs.

Scientific, research and development activities in the field of medical support include the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of sick and wounded. An integral part of this work is to improve the system of the medical equipment administration and supply support.

Research and development is carried out at 8 departments – Epidemiology, Military Medical Service Organization and Management, Radiobiology, Toxicology and Military Pharmacology, Military Surgery, Military Internal Medicine and Hygiene, Emergency Medicine and Military General Medicine, Molecular Pathology and Biology.

In 2019, scientific work at the Faculty departments focused on CBRNE protection research, projects on pathogenesis of infectious diseases and potential intervention means, prevention in the field of hygiene and epidemiology, topical problems of the field surgery and field internal

medicine, topical problems of the organization, management, education and information technology in the Military Medical Service.

The continuous accreditation for proceedings to achieve professorships in the areas of Epidemiology, Medical Microbiology, Toxicology, Field Internal Medicine, Infection Biology and Molecular Pathology and the accreditation for habilitation (associate professorship) in the branches of Hygiene, Preventive Medicine and Epidemiology, Medical Microbiology, Toxicology, Field Surgery, Military Radiobiology, Field Internal Medicine, Infection Biology and Molecular Pathology gives the evidence about the excellent level of achieved results in scientific and research activities of FMHS.

3. Therapeutic activities

Special therapeutic activities were provided especially at the departments of Field Internal Medicine, Field Surgery and General and Emergency Medicine. Close cooperation between these subjects and the health service establishments in the region have been continuously developed. Therapeutic medical care was provided especially in the fields of hematologic intensive care, traumatology, hepatobiliary surgery, plastic surgery at the departments of internal medicine and surgery at the Teaching Hospital.

4. International cooperation

The main aims of international cooperation of the FMHS were to exchange scientific, educational and therapeutic information and to develop working contacts between military medical, medical educational and research institutions of the NATO and EU countries as well as civilian medical institutions with educational, defence research and development programs worldwide. Residency and exchange programs for numerous students, doctors and research workers took place at those institutions. As for study programs, the Faculty keeps close relations with partner educational institutions above all in NATO and EU countries.

5. Expert activities

The membership in work groups for coordination and cooperation of military medical research and professional training at NATO (COMEDS, BIOMEDAC, RTA/RTO) and at EDA (European Defence Agency), in work groups of government experts for the Convention on the prohibition of biological, bacteriological, and chemical weapons and their destruction in Geneva and UNO, organizing scientific conferences with international participation, and solving foreign research projects under the cooperation of the FMHS personnel are very important for the presentation of international cooperation results. The priority still remains in cooperation in the frame of the Human Factors Medicine of the NATO Research and Technology Organization and its work groups (TG, WG), CBRNE and Human Factors cooperation within the frame of EDA and additional collaborative research projects with other foreign scientific institutions. Our aim is to intensify international cooperation in NATO focused on scientific support of the armed forces structure.

6. Scientific and educational information services

Scientific and educational information services that support the Medical Service of the Czech Republic Army were provided by the Department of Information and Communication Technologies. Numerous literature retrievals, courses, library and printing workshops and other information services support for students, teachers, scientists, postgraduates, doctors, nurses and other medical experts were carried out.

7. Foreign missions

The FMHS performed the preparation of health personnel for humanitarian and peacekeeping missions and members of the FMHS staff participated in several foreign missions.



THE STRUCTURE OF THE FMHS

THE DEAN OF THE FACULTY AND HIS DEPUTIES

Dean:	BOŠTÍK Pavel	email: pavel.bostik@unob.cz
Vice-Dean of Studies	KRUTIŠOVÁ Pavla	email: pavla.krutisova@unob.cz
Vice-Dean for Research	POHANKA Miroslav	email: miroslav.pohanka@unob.cz
Vice-Dean for External Relations and Marketing	BOŠTÍKOVÁVanda	email: vanda.bostikova@unob.cz
Vice-Dean for Student Affairs and Specialized Education of Military Physicians	PLODR Michal	email: michal.plodr@unob.cz
Deputy-Dean – Chief Administrative Officer	KOMÁREK Jan	email: jan.komarek@unob.cz
Deputy-Dean – Head of Information Security and Planning Office	FLÉGL Václav	email: vaclav.flegl@unob.cz

28th Annual Report, 2019 - 17

MEMBERS OF THE SCIENTIFIC COUNCIL

ANZENBACHER Pavel	BOŠTÍK Pavel (Head of the Scientific Council)	
BUBENÍK Zoltán	ČERVINKA Miroslav	
FUSEK Josef	HORÁČEK Jan	
HYTYCH Vladislav	CHLÍBEK Roman	
JEBAVÝ Ladislav	JUN Daniel	
KACEROVSKÝ Marian	KASSA Jiří	
KOLÁŘ Milan	KROČOVÁ Zuzana	
MANĎÁK Jiří	PÁRAL Jiří	
POHANKA Miroslav (Vice- chairman)	PRYMULA Roman	
RŮŽEK Daniel	SALAVEC Miroslav	
STAŠOVÁ Leona	ŠIMŮNEK Tomáš	
ŠINKOROVÁ Zuzana	ŠPLIŇO Miroslav	
ŠUBRT Zdeněk		

MEMBERS OF THE ACADEMIC SENATE

Academic members

Student members

DUŠEK Tomáš (till 06 November 2019)

HORÁČEK Jan (Vice-chairmantill 06 November 2019)

CHLÍBEK Roman

JAKL Martin

JUN Daniel (Head of the Senate) (till 06 November 2019)

KUBELKOVÁ Klára (Vice-chairman) (since 26 November 2019)

KUČERA Tomáš (since 26 November 2019)

LOCHMAN Petr

PAVLÍK Vladimír (till 06 November 2019)

PÚDELKA L'udovít (since 26 November 2019)

SMETANA Jan (Head of the Senate) (since 26 November 2019)

ŠINKOROVÁ Zuzana

ŽĎÁRA Jaroslav (since 26 November 2019)

ŽĎÁROVÁ KARASOVÁ Jana (till 06 November 2019) COUFAL Ondřej (since 26 November 2019)

ČECHOVÁ Lenka (till 06 November 2019)

DOSTÁL Jakub (till 06 November 2019)

MACHALA Jan (since 26 November 2019)

MINAŘÍKOVÁ Anna (since 26 November 2019)

MIŠÍK Jakub (Vice-chairman) (since 26 November 2019)

MOTKA Jan (since 26 November 2019)

MUSIL Vít (till 06 November 2019)

NEJEDLÝ Pavel (till 20 June 2019)

ODLOŽILOVÁ Šárka (Vice-chairman) (till 14 June 2019)

EDUCATION COMMISSION, EDITORIAL COMMISSION

MEMBERS OF THE EDUCATION COMMISSION

DRAHOKOUPILOVÁ Eva	DUŠKOVÁ Klára
HEPNAROVÁ Vendula	JAKL Martin
KRUTIŠOVÁ Pavla	KUBELKOVÁ Klára
KULICH Marek	MALÝ Ondřej
MÍŠKOVÁ Zdena (Secretary)	MRVEČKA Petr
POTÁČ Michal (till 30 June 2019)	PUDÍK Peter (Head of the Education Commission)
ROHLENA Milan (Vice-chairman)	RŮŽIČKA Milan (since 01 July 2019)
SMETANA Jan	STŘÍTECKÁ Hana
TICHÝ Aleš	VOPLATKOVÁ Zdeňka

MEMBERS OF THE EDITORIAL COMMISSION

BOŠTÍKOVÁ Vanda	FIDRANSKÝ Miroslav
KRUTIŠOVÁ Pavla	NOVÁKOVÁ Jana (Secretary)
POHANKA Miroslav	POTÁČ Michal (Head of Editorial Commission)
TICHÝ Aleš	VOPLATKOVÁ Zdeňka
BOŠTÍKOVÁ Vanda	

DEPARTMENT OF EPIDEMIOLOGY K-301

Educational and Research Staff

BOŠTÍK Pavel (Head of the Group)	pavel.bostik@unob.cz
BOŠTÍKOVÁ Vanda	vanda.bostikova@unob.cz
HANOVCOVÁ Irena (Head of the Group)	irena.hanovcova@unob.cz
CHLÍBEK Roman (Head of the Department)	roman.chlibek@unob.cz
JANOVSKÁ Sylva	sylva.janovska@unob.cz
MAREK Jan	jan.marek@unob.cz
SLEHA Radek	radek.sleha@unob.cz
SMETANA Jan (Deputy-Head)	jan.smetana@unob.cz
ŠPLIŇO Miroslav	miroslav.splino@unob.cz

Technicians

BERNARDOVÁ Marta	marta.bernardova@unob.cz
MALÍKOVÁ Martina	martina.malikovam@unob.cz
SOLÁROVÁ Alena	alena.solarova@unob.cz
VOŽENÍLKOVÁ Kristýna	kristyna.vozenilkova@unob.cz
VYCHYTILOVÁ Pavlína	pavlina.vychytilova@unob.cz

Administrative, Secretarial and Other Staff

LEGERSKA Kateřina	katerina.legerska@unob.cz
Postgraduate Students	
ANTAL Zdeněk (till 09 September 2019)	zdenek.antal@unob.cz
BENKOVÁ Markéta	marketa.benkova@unob.cz
BRIXI Jan (since 01 October 2019)	jan.brixi@unob.cz

28th Annual Report, 2019 - 21

DEPARTMENT OF EPIDEMIOLOGY K-301

DYRHONOVÁ Markéta (till 13 September 2019)	marketa.dyrhonova@unob.cz
HAŠKOVÁ Kateřina	katerina.haskova@unob.cz
HEDIMA Nenadi Clare (since 01 October 2019)	nenadiclare.hedima@unob.cz
HOLMQUIST Ivana	ivana.holmquist@unob.cz
HYMPÁNOVÁ Michaela	michaela.hympanova@unob.cz
CHMELAŘ Josef	josef.chmelar@unob.cz
KARÁSEK Luboš (since 01 October 2019)	lubos.karasek@unob.cz
KUČEROVÁ Šárka	sarka.kucerovacihelkova@unob.cz
MACHAČ Jan	jan.machac@unob.cz
MALIŠ Jiří	jiri.malis@unob.cz
MORAVEC Michal	michal.moravec@unob.cz
NEJTEK Tomáš	tomas.nejtek@unob.cz
POLCAROVÁ Petra	petra.polcarova@unob.cz
PÚDELKA L'udovít (since 01 October 2019)	ludovit.pudelka@unob.cz
SAŇÁK František (till 24 May 2019)	petr.sanak@unob.cz
SZANYI Juraj	juraj.szanyi@unob.cz
ŠMAHEL Petr	petr.smahel@unob.cz
ZELENÁ Hana (till 13 September 2019)	hana.zelena@unob.cz

The Department of Epidemiology provides and carries out education of students of the University of Defence, Faculty of Military Health Sciences, the Faculty of Medicine and the Faculty of Pharmacy in Hradec Kralove and the University of Pardubice, in the field of general and special epidemiology, infectious disease medicine, travel and preventive medicine, and medical microbiology. Within the framework of the military medical subjects for students of the Faculty of Military health Sciences, the Department provides teaching of military epidemiology and the issue of the protection of living

forces against biological attack. Furthermore, the Department arranges and carries out professional fellowships and specialization training of the ACR Hygiene and Epidemiology Service workers, including the training of the ACR officers for foreign missions. In the military, the Department is the leading workplace in specialization training in Hygiene, Epidemiology and Medical Microbiology. Besides Epidemiology, the teachers of the Department also give lectures in Applied Microbiology, General and Special Immunology, problems of highly virulent infections and selected chapters from Infectiology and the complete issues of Vaccinology. Basic tasks in scientific work have been long term focused on the area of military health protection, CBRN protection with a focus on biological weapons, disaster relief and provision of preventive health care in specific conditions. In the year 2019, the Department was solving several research projects and tasks:

- Testing of resistant enterococci sensitivity to disinfectants
- · Surveillance of vancomycin resistant enterococci
- · Prevalence of ticks infected with tick encephalitis in military training areas
- Seroprevalence of tick encephalitis antibodies in the ACR soldiers
- Surveillance of tick encephalitis antibodies in adult civil population
- Seroprevalence of type E hepatitis virus antibodies in the ACR soldiers
- Bond of gB protein to chitosan; evaluation of the immune response in a mice model
- Evaluation of VZV strains virulence by the RTCA method
- Testing of the new KAS disinfection effectivity according to the standards; Synthesis and evaluation of novel compounds based on quaternary ammonium salts for eradication of microbial bio films
- AZV-17-31765A Project The potential of xanthohumol and beta-bitter acids in the therapy of nosocomial infections

The Department is one of the most recognized centers in the field of vaccination, also respected abroad.

The Department of Epidemiology is the basic expert workplace of the ACR in the field of military health protection against the effects of biological weapons, biological agents and agents of infectious diseases, including the problems of preventive medicine and vaccination. The Department workers are responsible for development of these scientific branches and for the process of standardization in the stated branches within ACR and NATO.

RESEARCH PROJECTS

BIOFILM – Synthesis and evaluation of novel compounds based on quaternary ammonium salts for eradication of microbial bio films

Marková, A., Marek, J.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2018–2020 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201808)

Biofilm is community of microorganisms fixed to the various surfaces (in healthcare, for example, tissues, catheters, cannula plastic implants, teeth and dental implants). Biofilm formation is much better for a number of microorganisms than staying in a planktonic form. Microorganisms are able to differentiate during the biofilm formation and produce specific biofilm phenotype. Formations of flagella and fimbria are genetic modifications enabling initiation of adhesion, however production of extracellular polysaccharide matrix is significant for biofilm protection. Due to polysaccharide matrix are biofilms more resistant against external conditions (mechanical and chemical). In general, planktonic forms of microorganisms are more easily eliminated than their biofilms. Our main research activity will include synthesis of novel compounds based on quaternary ammonium salts and evaluating their eradication ability against pathogenic microorganisms. Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) will be measured for all substances, then we will focus on introducing a new MBEC-based methodology for measuring minimum biofilm eradication concentration (MBEC). Our laboratory has appropriate strains of biofilm forming microorganisms (Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Staphylococcus aureus etc.). Two or three suitable strains will be chosen and we will compare antimicrobial action of new compounds against biofilm and planktonic form. Furthermore, the effect of new compounds will be compared with standards (benzalkonium etc.) The most important outcome of this study is to show the differences in the effectiveness of disinfectants on the microorganisms in two different life forms.

BREASTFEEDING – Factors influencing initiation and continuation of breastfeeding in the South-East United States

Holmquist, I., Boštíková, V.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2018–2020 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201812)

The purpose of this study is to determine and analyze changes in breastfeeding rates and to explore factors influencing initiation of breastfeeding in a hospital setting with specific focus on the South-East United States and the Czech Republic. Exploring factors that influence initiation of breastfeeding in hospital settings is especially important because most of currently available studies only review the effects of direct breastfeeding programs. Data about the effect of policies and probreastfeeding programs are rarely collected and reported. This study will compare and contrast practices, policies and pro-breastfeeding interventions in the South-East United States with practices, policies and probreastfeeding interventions in the Czech Republic.

MBEC – MBEC assay: The method modification for individual bacterial strains and multiple-species biofilms

Hympánová, M., Marek, J.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2019–2021 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201905)

Microorganisms can exist either as planktonic free floating cells or as threedimensional single-species or polymicrobial communities which are embedded in a self-produced matrix. These microbial consortia called biofilms, are associated with biotic or abiotic surfaces and presented by higher resistance against antimicrobial agents. Methods as the determination of MIC (minimal inhibitory concentration) are essential conventional methods for the susceptibility testing. However, regarding the important role of microbial biofilms in the development of persistent infections, the research is nowadays more focused on MBEC (minimal biofilm eradication concentration) evaluation. The anti-biofilm agents would be more valuable in clinical practice. Regarding that, the aim of this project is to modified MBEC assay for individual bacterial strains and for multiple-species biofilms. Moreover, this method will be used together with standard MIC assay to determinate antimicrobial effect of certain agents commonly used in clinical practice. The potential of xanthohumol and beta-bitter acids in the therapy of nosocomial infections

Boštík, P., Boštíková, V., Páral, J., Mikyška, A., Čermák, P., Bogdanová, K., Houška, M.

Supported by the Internal Grant Agency of the Czech Republic Health Service, 2017–2020 (Project No.: NV17-31765A)

The increasingly more prevalent bacterial resistance to antibiotics presents an important worldwide problem. Compounds of natural origin with a proven anti-bacterial effect may represent new resources in thisarea or serve as complimentary therapies utilized together with antibiotics. Certain compounds from hops, especially beta-bitter acids and xanthohumol possess strong inhibitory effects on Gram-positive (Staphylococcus aureus, including resistant variants such as MRSA) and anaerobic bacteria, namely Clostridium perfringens and C. difficile. Some of the other characteristics of these compounds, including their low solubility in water, low toxicity and low level of adsorption in the gastrointestinal tract (GIT), predispose them as useful tools for local infections of skin and GIT. Formulations containing these compounds, which will be developed and evaluated in this project, can thus represent much needed tools for a local therapy of infections caused by antibiotic-resistant strains of bacteria.

TICK – Evaluation of risk of infection with tick-borne encephalitis, Lyme borreliosis and ehrlichiosis during the training of soldiers of the Czech Army in selected military areas

Polcarová, P., Smetana, J.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2019–2020 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201903)

The tick *lxodes ricinus* is the most important arthropod which transmitting diseases in Central Europe. There are mainly Lyme borreliosis and tickborne encephalitis among the diseases transmitted by this type of tick in the Czech Republic. The less known anaplasmosis (ehrlichiosis) is also transmitted by the tick to humans, but its incidence is lower. The Czech Republic is an endemic country for these three tick-borne diseases. All three tick-borne diseases are zoonoses whose etiologic agent has a reservoir especially in forest animals. Humans are a random part in the cycle of these infections. As the incidence of ticks is currently increasing, the risk of tick-borne diseases also increases. People spending a lot of time in nature, including soldiers of Czech Armed Forces, are at the highest risk of infection. Natural focci of infections could be probably located in military training areas, where soldiers regularly exercise. The aim of this study is to investigate ticks collected in four major military areas (Boletice, Březina, Hradiště, Libavá) for

the presence of tick-borne encephalitis virus and bacteria *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato and *Anaplasma phagophytophila*. The result will be an assessment of the risk of infection by mentioned pathogens during military service and proposing of appropriate preventive measures.

DEPARTMENT OF MILITARY MEDICAL SERVICE ORGANIZATION AND MANAGEMENT K-302

Educational and Research Staff

BLAŽEK Pavel	pavel.blazek@unob.cz
FUSEK Josef	josef.fusek@unob.cz
HUMLÍČEK Vojtěch	vojtech.humlicek@unob.cz
JANOUCH Jindřich	jindrich.janouch@unob.cz
POTÁČ Michal (Deputy-Head)	michal.potac@unob.cz
RŮŽIČKA Milan (Head of the Group)	milan.ruzicka@unob.cz
SMOLA Petr	petr.smola@unob.cz
SUCHÁNEK Zbyněk	zbynek.suchanek@unob.cz
VAŠEK Tomáš (till 31 December 2019)	tomas.vasek@unob.cz
ŽĎÁRA Jaroslav	jaroslav.zdara@unob.cz

Administrative, Secretarial and Other Staff

MÍŠKOVÁ Leona

leona.miskova@unob.cz

The Department of Military Medical Service Organization and Management is the primary department which offers military and professional training for the students of the Faculty of Military Health Sciences, particularly in the field of military medical service support in operations, disaster medicine, crisis management, emergency planning and psychology. Other covered subject areas are military history, military tactics & logistics, military communication, topography and CBRN defence. The organizes follow-up education for Department militarv doctors. stomatologists, pharmacists and bachelors in advanced courses. Likewise, it offers specialized training and refresher courses for paramedical personnel to the extent necessary to carry out required medical duties in military operations, e.g. military medical service organization, medical evacuation and crisis intervention. It participates in preparation of non-medical personnel located within the HQ and staff of the military medical units and facilities. It carries out training in medical support planning, working with maps,

DEPARTMENT OF MILITARY MEDICAL SERVICE ORGANIZATION AND MANAGEMENT K-302

deployment of field medical facilities, calculation of medical casualties and military medical units command, control and cooperation.

The subject "Organization and Tactics of the Medical Service" makes students acquainted with terms and conditions of the medical service during wartime and in foreign operations, identifies tasks and principles of medical support and medical C2 issues that are fundamental to comprehension and correct application of knowledge in terms of other military medical branches. It familiarizes students with the principles followed from NATO documents and standardization agreements.

The Department's primary aim is to pass the knowledge on to students, develop their habits and skills to fulfill basic tasks and duties arising from their planned command functions. It is involved in preparation of medical personnel prior to deployment. The Department provides knowledge and passes previous experience on to control authorities and executive facilities of the medical services in crisis, a war or other emergency situations as well as in humanitarian missions. It applies the knowledge of military subjects to specific environment of medical service, respecting both military principles and requirements as well as the principles of International Humanitarian Law.

The research work of the Department focuses on improving the quality and efficiency of organization and management of the medical service in accordance with military doctrine of the Czech Republic. It contributes in optimization process of the organizational structure of the medical units, departments and facilities, elaborating principles of their operations and methods of their control during a war. It develops materials and proposals from these areas for conceptual authorities of the ACR Medical Service, including NATO STANAG assessment reports in terms of their ratification and options of implementation.

The Department is an expert guarantor in the field of military medical service organization and management. It provides expert statements for the Ministry of Defence and Military Medical Agency and gives consultations to managers of all military medical service levels.

DEPARTMENT OF RADIOBIOLOGY K-303

Educational and Research Staff

ANDREJSOVÁ Lenka	lenka.andrejsova@unob.cz
ČÍŽKOVÁ Jana	jana.cizkova@unob.cz
FILIPOVÁ Alžběta	alzbeta.filipova@unob.cz
MERVARTOVÁ Lenka (since 01 May 2019)	lenka.mervartova@unob.cz
ŠINKOROVÁ Zuzana (Head of the Department)	zuzana.sinkorova@unob.cz
TICHÝ Aleš (Deputy-Head)	ales.tichy@unob.cz
VÁVROVÁ Jiřina (Emerit. Prof.)	jirina.vavrova@unob.cz

Technicians

MERVARTOVÁ Lenka (till 30 April 2019)
PRŮCHOVÁ Šárka
TÓTHOVÁ lveta

lenka.mervartova@unob.cz
sarka.pruchova@unob.cz
iveta.tothova@unob.cz

Administrative, Secretarial and Other Staff

ŠKODOVÁ Kateřina

katerina.skodova@unob.cz

Postgraduate Students

ČECHÁKOVÁ Lucie ČÍŽKOVÁ Jana (since 01 October 2019) GREPL Jakub JELIČOVÁ Marcela KMOCHOVÁ Adéla (till 11 June 2019) KULTOVÁ Gabriela lucie.cechakova@unob.cz jana.cizkova@unob.cz jakub.grepl@unob.cz marcela.jelicova@unob.cz adela.kmochova@unob.cz gabriela.kultova@unob.cz

DEPARTMENT OF RADIOBIOLOGY K-303

LIEROVÁ Anna NĚMCOVÁ Markéta ONDREJ Martin ŠTUK Jan anna.lierova@unob.cz marketa.nemcova@unob.cz mertin.ondrej@unob.cz jan.stuk@unob.cz

The Department of Radiobiology was established at Purkyně Military Medical Research and Postgraduate Institute on September the 1st 1963. The first chief of the department became Colonel Prof. MUDr. Josef Mráz, CSc., who was in 1968 appointed the first professor of military radiobiology of Charles University. The main tasks of the department are teaching and research activities, which are closely connected.

In the field of research, the experimental work includes histology and cytology, in vitro methods, methods of proteomic analysis and methods of flow cytometry. Individual technological units allow in vitro and in vivo observation of post-radiation mechanisms on molecular, cellular, and organ levels.

Military research is focused on early diagnosis and therapy of postradiation damage as the main objective of the department. The aim of investigation in the medium-term horizon is discovery and practical introduction of biodosimetric markers, study of molecular mechanisms of radiation-induced DNA damage repair and autophagy, development of radioprotection agents as well as continuous renewal of decontamination agents for the Army of the Czech Republic. Mutual cooperation with other CBRN research workplaces world-wide also remains an integral part of our research activities. Cooperation with civilian workplaces at the Faculty of Medicine and the University Hospital in Hradec Králové is focused on radiation oncology.

The Department of Radiobiology takes part in military medical-specialist education in the form of pre-gradual and post-gradual education mainly in doctoral studies. The main educational activity is lecturing military radiobiology. The main topics are: the nuclear weapons effects on the living organism, the possibilities of the protection and medical treatment of irradiated persons. Other specific military issues are disaster medicine, CBRN protection etc., which are taught at the Faculty of Military Health Sciences, including the topics, which are presented by the instructors of our department.

RESEARCH PROJECTS

BIOINDICATORS – Determination of DNA damage bioindicators after irradiation by electrochemical analysis

Jeličová, M., Šinkorová, Z.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2019–2020 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201904)

This specific research project continues the completed specific research project "Electrochemical detection of DNA damage after gamma irradiation", which was focused on introducing and optimizing a new biodosimetric method based on the principle of electrochemical monitoring of DNA damage. The method of electrochemical detection for biodosimetry purposes has been developed at the workplace by the researcher since 2016 and the newly submitted project will continue in relation to the achieved results so far. The main aim of the research part of the project is to detect oxidative stress products as a result of damaged DNA by ionizing radiation using the already optimized electrochemical method. Part of the project will be to increase the sensitivity of the electrodes by modifying the surface to ensure the most sensitive detection of the level of oxidative stress products in the biological sample. The results of the electrochemical determination will be compared with the existing biodosimetric methods and the ELISA method. This method should then serve as a new approach to retrospective determination absorbed dose of ionizing radiation.

CILIA – Primary cilia as an indicator of cell stress

Filipová, A., Jeličová, M.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2017–2019 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201703)

Cellular stress is regarded as a pathophysiological damage mechanism in terms of homeostasis; it is triggered by diverse stimuli such as radiation, starvation, or chemical effects (e.g. cytostatics). Proliferating cells more sensitive to stress stimuli, particularly during cell division. From a homeostatic point of view, subliminal stimuli often induce repair mechanisms, and supra-threshold stimuli may induce apoptosis. The qualitative assessment of these processes is challenging and requires a comprehensive approach including both molecular biology and functional cell assays. Cellular stress could be defined as a complex system involving different levels of cell organization, i.e. genetic information, cytoskeleton structure, metabolism, and cell-to-cell contact. Cytoskeleton stability is an important indicator of cellular stress; therefore, an appropriate analysis of these changes could provide further insight on the development, and

consequences, of cellular stress, its environment and homeostasis. In this sense, ionizing irradiation is a known source of cellular stress as it often induces centrosome multiplication in addition to DNA double strand breaks; centrosomes are essential for correct chromosome segregation during the cell cycle as they anchor the mitotic spindle, these centrosomes are formed from the mother centriole which is also the basal body of primary cilia. Primary cilia are membrane bound structures which are dynamically regulated during the G0/G1 phase and absorbed before entry into mitosis; therefore, ciliogenesis is closely associated with centrosome duplication during the cell cycle. Under normal conditions, centrosome duplication occurs only once within the cell cycle; however, the effect of radiation on primary cilia has not been studied to sufficient extent. The objective of this project is to describe and evaluate the suitability of primary cilia as an indicator of cytoskeletal instability due to cellular stress, induced by ionizing irradiation, in proliferating fibroblasts.

Development of novel radioprotectvive agents based on small molecular inhibitors

Šinkorová, Z., Marek,, J., Řezáčová, M.

Supported by the Czech Republic Grant Agency, 2017–2019 (Project No.: GA17-13541S)

Radiotherapy is a very important modality for treating cancer. Its therapeutic potential is however limited by normal tissue damage, which leads to a wide range of symptoms (impeding quality of life of oncologic patients), prevents delivery of intended dose and reduces the tumoreradicating effect of the therapy. Both acute and chronic radiotoxicity have been associated with cell death. Whereas multiple cell death pathways are executed in cancer cells after irradiation, in radiosensitive tissues such as bone marrow or gastrointestinal tract, the cell death is dominantly mediated via apoptosis. Since a pro-apoptotic protein PUMA plays a key role in this process, its inhibition increases resistance against radiation. Inhibitors of PUMA seem therefore very promising in selective modulation of normal tissue damage during radiotherapy. Their clinical utilization could be very wide due to PUMA involvement in pathogenesis of myocardial reperfusion injury and neurodegenerative diseases.

New approaches in diagnostics and therapy of irradiated persons

Tichý, A.

Supported by the Czech Republic Ministry of Internal Affairs, 2017–2020 (Project No.: VH20172020010)

The aim of the project is identification and quantification of proteins by mass spectrometry. Subsequent bioinformatic data analysis will select significant plasma proteins that are quantitatively different in serum samples of leukemic patients before and after whole body irradiation. The result will be a list of proteins with a demonstrable relationship to exposure to ionizing radiation. Furthermore, we aim to identify new irradiation indicators by flow cytometry. First, we aim to quantify changes in hematological parameters (leukocytes, thrombocytes, hematocrit) of an experimental mammalian model including LD50/30 as a basic indicator of the severity of an acute radiation syndrome (ARS), to classify irradiated subjects into one of the five Radiation Categories. Furthermore, the radiosensitivity of the major lymphocyte populations and their decrease in peripheral blood will be determined as a significant indicator for determining the dose range needed to distinguish the severity of ARS development. Quantitative changes in the leukocyte cytoplasm will be analyzed for accurate sorting. The result will be a panel of biological indicators that allow, on the basis of predefined parameters, to determine whether or not an individual was exposed to ionizing radiation and to estimate ARS development depending on RC categorization. In the last part of the project we will focus on testing of new ways of ARS therapy by growth factors. The goal is to test several combinations of clinically available growth factors for more complex bone marrow stimulation in ARS. The tested factors will include: peg-G-CSF. KGF and IGF-1. In addition to the determination of experimental survival curves, the efficacy of treatment by histopathological examination of selected tissues will be assessed and we expect the treatment to be verified with the most appropriate combination of growth factors in the higher mammalian model. The results will be recommendations for the application of growth factors and the evaluation of the benefits for ARS therapy.

DEPARTMENT OF TOXICOLOGY AND MILITARY PHARMACY K-304

DEPARTMENT OF TOXICOLOGY AND MILITARY PHARMACY K-304

Educational and Research Staff

DLABKOVÁ Alžběta (maternity leave till 1 April 2019)	alzbeta.dlabkova@unob.cz
HEPNAROVÁ Vendula (maternity leave since 19 June 2019)	vendula.hepnarova@unob.cz
HRABINOVÁ Martina	martina.hrabinova@unob.cz
JOŠT Petr	petr.jost@unob.cz
JUN Daniel (Head of the Department	daniel.jun@unob.cz
JUNOVÁ Lucie	lucie.junova@unob.cz
KASSA Jiří	jiri.kassa@unob.cz
KORÁBEČNÝ Jan	jan.korabecny@unob.cz
KUČERA Tomáš	tomas.kucera2@unob.cz
MÚČKOVÁ Ľubica (till 30 March 2019)	lubica.muckova@unob.cz
PEJCHAL Jaroslav (Head of the Group)	jaroslav.pejchal@unob.cz
SOUKUP Ondřej	ondrej.soukup@unob.cz
SVOBODOVÁ Hana (maternity leave)	hana.svobodova@unob.cz
ŽĎÁROVÁ KARASOVÁ Jana (Deputy-Head)	jana.zdarovakarasova@unob.cz

Technicians

HATLAPATKOVÁ Jana	jana.hatlapatkova@unob.cz
HERMAN David	david.herman@unob.cz
KADEŘÁVKOVÁ lveta (since 01 October 2019)	iveta.kaderavkova@unob.cz
KRBÁLEK Lucie	lucie.krbalek@unob.cz
ŠKRANCOVÁ Věra	vera.skrancova@unob.cz

DEPARTMENT OF TOXICOLOGY AND MILITARY PHARMACY K-304

UHLÍŘOVÁ Jana (till 30 September 2019)

jana.uhlirova@unob.cz

Administrative, Secretarial and Other Staff

alena.martincova@unob.cz

Postgraduate Students

BABKOVÁ Kateřina	katerina.babkova@unob.cz
BZONEK Petr (since 01 October 2019)	petr.bzonek@unob.cz
GÓRECKI Lukáš (till 17 June 2019)	lukas.gorecki@unob.cz
HERMAN David	david.herman@unob.cz
HRABINOVÁ Martina	martina.hrabinova@unob.cz
JEŘÁBKOVÁ Markéta (since 01 October 2019)	marketa.jerabkova@unob.cz
KOBRLOVÁ Tereza	tereza.kobrlova@unob.cz
KONEČNÝ Jan	jan.konecny@unob.cz
KŘENKOVÁ Zuzana (since 01 October 2019)	zuzana.krenkova@unob.cz
KUČERA Tomáš (till 17 June 2019)	tomas.kucera2@unob.cz
MARKOVÁ Aneta	aneta.markova@unob.cz
MATULA Marek	marek.matula@unob.cz
MÚČKOVÁ Ľubica	lubica.muckova@unob.cz
OPRAVIL Jakub	jakub.opravil@unob.cz
PULKRÁBKOVÁ Lenka (since 01 October 2019)	lenka.pulkrabkova@unob.cz
RYBKA Aleš	ales.rybka@unob.cz
SPĚVÁKOVÁ Barbora (since 01 October 2019)	barbora.spevakova@unob.cz
SVOBODOVÁ Barbora	barbora.svobodova@unob.cz
VÁŇOVÁ Nela (till 07 June 2019)

nela.vanova@unob.cz

The Department of Toxicology was established in 1951. Since then, as an integral part of the Faculty of Military Health Sciences, it has been involved in education and scientific research work on chemical warfare agents for defensive and protective purposes only.

The Department of Toxicology and Military Pharmacy was established on the 1st September 2014 by integration of the Department of Toxicology, the Centre of Advanced Studies and the Department of Public Health. It comprises two groups - the military pharmacy group (biochemical laboratory, laboratory of organic synthesis, analytical laboratory, decontamination laboratory) and the toxicology group (toxicological laboratory, pharmacological laboratory, neurophysiological laboratory, neurobehavioral laboratory, laboratory of cell toxicology). This structure permits a complex study of highly toxic substances including chemical warfare agents with aims to determine their action on biochemical, neurobehavioral, histochemical, pharmacological and neurophysiological level, to study and develop antidotes, to analyze all types of samples with respect to the presence of known chemical warfare agents, to test decontamination effectiveness of developed and field decontamination kits. Present scientific research projects are focused on therapeutic, prophylactic and protective measures against the most toxic chemical warfare agents. Special attention has been paid to the most recent and most dangerous nerve agents and mustards. Department have participated in OPCW **Biomedical Proficiency Test.**

The main educational activity task was to give lectures for in undergraduate and post-graduate studies dealing with problems of biological effects of real and potential chemical warfare agents, the possibilities of the medical and chemical protection against them and the approaches to medical care of for persons intoxicated with chemical warfare agents, especially nerve agents. The Department provides and guarantees the teaching master's degree program, Military Pharmacy and also participates in the teaching of toxicology in Disaster Medicine.

In 2017, the Department of Toxicology and Military Pharmacy has continued in the cooperation, started by with the Armed Forces Biomedical Research Institute in Brétigny-sur-Orge (France), the Institute for Medical Research and Occupational Health in Zagreb (Croatia), WIHE in Warsaw (Poland), the Sahlgrenska Academy, the University of Goteborg (Sweden) and University of California, San Diego, Skaggs School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences (USA) – in the field of development of prophylactic and therapeutic means against nerve agents and organophosphorus insecticides. The cooperation has been mostly characterized by the exchange of scientific information. The cooperation with the Department of Organic Chemistry, Institute of Chemistry, P. J. Šafárik University in Košice

(the Slovak Republic), the University of Bologna (Italy), the School of Biology, the Environmental Sciences and Chemistry (Spain) and the University Bourgogne Franche-Comté (France) is continuing in the field of the development of new potential therapeutic means against Alzheimer's disease.

RESEARCH PROJECTS

AGENTS – Development of new agents with anti-inflammatory effect

Konečný, J., Korábečný, J.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2018–2020 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201803)

Nerve agents (NAs) are highly toxic organophosphorus compounds with rapid onset of action. Their mechanism of action involves irreversible inhibition of acetylcholinesterase (AChE), this process leads to accumulation of neurotransmitter acetylcholine (ACh) with cholinergic crisis as a consequence. According to previously published studies, NAs affect not only cholinergic receptors, but also other receptors like NMDA receptors that plays a pivotal role in inflammatory responses. The multi-target-directed ligands (MTDLs) approach includes compounds that are capable to simultaneously target multiple biological systems. The aim of the project is to verify the concept of new dual-targeted compounds, designed in accordance with the MTDLs strategy, amalgamating AChE inhibitors and NMDA receptor antagonists into single molecules. Tacrine, 7-MEOTA, 6-chlorotacrine and others will be used as AChE reversible inhibitors whereas memantine or neramexane will be applied as NMDA receptor antagonists. The project aims to investigate the effect of newly developed hybrid compounds on AChE inhibition as well as their effect on NMDA receptors under in vitro conditions.

BIOFILM – Synthesis and evaluation of novel compounds based on quaternary ammonium salts for eradication of microbial bio films

Marková, A., Marek, J.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2018–2020 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201808)

Biofilm is community of microorganisms fixed to the various surfaces (in healthcare, for example, tissues, catheters, cannula plastic implants, teeth and dental implants). Biofilm formation is much better for a number of microorganisms than staying in a planktonic form. Microorganisms are able to differentiate during the biofilm formation and produce specific biofilm phenotype. Formations of flagella and fimbria are genetic modifications

enabling initiation of adhesion, however production of extracellular polysaccharide matrix is significant for biofilm protection. Due to polysaccharide matrix are biofilms more resistant against external conditions (mechanical and chemical). In general, planktonic forms of microorganisms are more easily eliminated than their biofilms. Our main research activity will include synthesis of novel compounds based on guaternary ammonium salts and evaluating their eradication ability against pathogenic microorganisms. Minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) will be measured for all substances, then we will focus on introducing a new MBEC-based methodology for measuring minimum biofilm eradication concentration (MBEC). Our laboratory has appropriate strains of biofilm forming microorganisms (Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Staphylococcus aureus etc.). Two or three suitable strains will be chosen and we will compare antimicrobial action of new compounds against biofilm and planktonic form. Furthermore, the effect of new compounds will be compared with standards (benzalkonium etc.) The most important outcome of this study is to show the differences in the effectiveness of disinfectants on the microorganisms in two different life forms.

Centrally acting antidotes for the treatment of organophosphorus poisoning

Soukup, O., Jun, D.

Supported by the Internal Grant Agency of the Czech Republic Health Service, 2017–2020 (Project No.: NV17-32801A)

Inactivation of acetylcholinestarse (AChE) in nerve and muscle by organophosphates is the toxic mechanism common to both nerve agents and pesticides. Standard countermeasures against OP poisoning involves muscarinic inhibition and the use of oxime – a reactivator. The latter, however, is limited by a versatility of oximes and by a low penetration of reactivators into the brain. The aim of this project is to develop oxime reactivators with better penetration of the blood brain barrier (BBB). Namely, monoquaternary oximes with balanced physico-chemical properties containing selected nuclophile capable of AChE reactivation and a ligand of peripherial anionic site ensuring the binding to the enzyme. Unique reactivators will be prepared and by application of series of in vitro and in vivo tests the compounds will be evaluated and described. The best candidate of preclinical development with practical potential will be indentified.

Development of polyvalent decontamination mean

Jun, D., Marek, J.

Supported by the Internal Grant Agency of the Czech Republic Health Service, 2018–2021 (Project No.: NV18-09-00181)

Project is aimed at the development of new combined micellar decontamination systems based on quaternary nitrogen compounds having detergent and active decontamination properties, which will cause faster hydrolysis of chemical warfare agents. In the case of biological agents, these molecules are strong disinfectants, able to destabilize pathogen membrane structures. Several decontamination mixtures will be prepared and tested both in vitro and in vivo for their decontamination and disinfection properties against selected chemical and biological agents. The expected result of the project is efficient decontamination solution for personal skin decontamination with good tolerability.

EXPOSURE – Determination of toxicological parameters and markers of exposure to potential chemical warfare agents

Herman, D., Váňová, N., Jun, D., Múčková, Ľ., Čechová, L., Mišík, J.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2018–2019 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201807)

Present scientific project follows up the previous project of Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports (SV/FVZ201505) and is focused on the development of analytical methods able to prove the exposure to potential warfare agents and to evaluate oxidative stress they might induce. Since the threat of misuse of such compounds is due to their high toxicity still actual. development of selective and sensitive techniques for their determination is highly demanded. After entering the blood, these compounds bind to the proteins by covalent bonding. Therefore, enzymatic cleavage of proteins and solid phase extraction are used in the process of sample preparation and specific cleavage products are subsequently determined by high pressure liquid chromatography - mass spectrometry (LC-MS). In vitro evaluation of oxidative stress will be based on determination of intracellular levels of reactive oxygen species (ROS) using 2',7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein as a fluorescent probe. Biomarkers of oxidative stress (BOS) represented by malondialdehyde and 3-nitrotyrosine and thiol antioxidant status will be evaluated by LC-MS.

MARYSA – Research in chemical properties and methods of individual protection against the last generation of nerve agents

Florus, S., Hatlapatková, J., Hepnarová, V., Jošt, P., Jun, D., Junová, L., Pejchal, J., Žďárová Karasová, J., Kadlčák, J., Čapoun, T.

Supported by the Czech Republic Ministry of Internal Affairs, 2019–2022 (Project No.:)

Main goal of the project is physical properties and protection research against last generation of highly toxic agents with nerve effects O-ethyl-N-diethylaminoethylidenamidofluorophosphate type, signed as A-234 (group A). These agents are supposed to be used in terroristic attacks or aspotential chemical weapons. The toxicity and antidotal therapy, verifying and suggestion of detection and identification methods and decontamina-tion of these agents will be studied during the project.

MDCK – The development and validation of new in vitro methodology based on MDCK cell lines for the study of the penetration of potential drugs across the blood brain barrier

Kobrlová, T., Soukup, O.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2017–2019 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201708)

The organophosphates are considered as one of the most dangerous abusable toxic substances. The mechanism of action of organophosphates is inhibition of acetylcholinesterase enzyme. The treatment of intoxication included anticholinergics. anticonvulsants and reactivators of acetylcholinesterase. One problem of reactivators effect is poor penetration into the central nervous system in sufficient amount. It is necessary to develope compounds which will be able to cross the blood-brain barrier without a serious side effect. The penetration across the BBB is necessary to determine. The in vivo methods are expensive, time and animals consuming. One of the screening methods PAMPA, which was introduced in our laboratory, uses the lipidic membrane for simulation of BBB. The mechanisms present in live organisms are not included in the PAMPA method. The aim of this project is to develop a new methodology for assesing the BBB penetration which uses the MDCK cell line. A special kind of these cells can express tranporters, e.g. P-glykoprotein. The method will be validated by standardly used drugs. The parameters of antidotes will be established for both organophosphates poisonning and new synthesized potential drugs. The national and international cooperation is expected due to the high demand for such methods.

PROPHYLAXIS – Development of novel prophylactic countermeasure against nerve agents based on reversible cholinesterase inhibitors

Svobodová, B., Górecki, L., Korábečný, J.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2019–2021 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201901)

The aim of this project is to design and prepare a new reversible inhibitors of AChE by organic synthesis methods. The project comprises the

synthesis of two series of compounds which could be potentially useful as prophylactics against nerve agents.

Research of oxime-CB[7] complexes for central nervous system penetration of quaternary acetylcholinesterase reactivators

Žďárová Karasová, J., Lísa, M.

Supported by the Czech Republic Grant Agency, 2018–2020 (Project No.: GA18-08937S)

Acetylcholinesterase (AChE; E.C. 3.1.1.7) reactivators (also known as oximes) represent class of antidotes that may be used as therapeutics in the case of pesticide or nerve agent poisoning (OPs). Their effectiveness is limited by low passage through the biological barriers. Oximes are highly hydrophilic compounds due to their quaternary nitrogens and hydrophilic oxime groups included in structure; on the other hand their preservation in structure is essential for reactivation effect. The main aim of this project is improved the oxime delivery via their encapsulation into cucurbit[7]urils (CB[7]). Oximes-CB[7] complexes should increasingly overcome the bloodbrain barrier and thus diminish the OPs central effect with subsequent pathologic cascade. In our project we will comprehensively assess the impact of oximes-CB[7] complexation on in vitro and in vivo toxicity, pharmacokinetics profile (absorption, elimination and brain targeting), safety and antidotal effectiveness. These results may be subsequently used in further preclinical anti-OPs research.

SCAVENGERS - Butyrylcholinesterase reactivators for preparation of pseudo-catalytic scavengers applicable for organophosphorus intoxications

Musílek, K., Jun, D., Kuča, K.

Supported by the Czech Republic Grant Agency, 2018–2020 (Project No.: GA18-01734S)

Organophosphorus compounds are produced as chemical warfare agents or used as insecticides and cause life endangering intoxications. The concept pseudo-catalytic bioscavenger which could bind of organophosphorus compound, detoxify it and reactivate own bioscavenging activity was defined to prevent such intoxication. The truly human butyrylcholinesterase is now available as bioscavenger via purification by affinity chromatography with specific sorbent. However, for pseudo-catalytic concept, there is lack of small molecules (butyrylcholinesterase reactivators) which could reactivate butyrylcholinesterase bioscavenging function after detoxifying of organophosphorus compound. Thus, this project is focused on proof of concept of pseudo-catalytic bioscavenger by using human

butyrylcholinesterase and its reactivators, which will be developed for this purpose.

TENSIDES – Development of decontamination substances aganist chemical warfare agent based on surfactants

Matula, M., Jun, D.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2017–2019 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201702)

Decontamination of chemical warfare agents (CWA) is one of the possibilities of an efficient prophylaxis of poisonings. The Czech army has several decontamination mixtures mainly for the decontamination of equipment except of IPB-80 which can be used for skin decontamination. The aim of this study is to develop in vitro methods for evaluation of decontamination efficacy of decontamination mixtures. Subsequently, we will propose new mixtures and carry out evaluation of their effectiveness on CWA simulants and selected CWAs. The result would be the mixture which is capable to decontaminate nerve agents and also mustard gas.

DEPARTMENT OF MILITARY SURGERY K-305

DEPARTMENT OF MILITARY SURGERY K-305

Educational and Research Staff

DUŠEK Tomáš	tomas.dusek@unob.cz
KLEIN Leo	leo.klein@unob.cz
KOČÍ Jaromír	jaromir.koci@fnhk.cz
LOCHMAN Petr (Head of the Group)	petr.lochman@unob.cz
MALÝ Ondřej	ondrej.maly@unob.cz
PÁRAL Jiří (Head of the Department)	jiri.paral@unob.cz
ŠIMEK Jan	jan.simek@unob.cz
ŠMEJKAL Karel	karel.smejkal@unob.cz

Administrative, Secretarial and Other Staff

ZAHRADNÍČKOVÁ Jana	
--------------------	--

jana.zahradnickova@unob.cz

Postgraduate Students

BERKOVÁ Jana	jana.berkova@unob.cz
FLAŠAR Jan	jan.flasar@unob.cz
HERZINGER Jaroslav (since 01 October 2019)	jaroslav.herzinger@unob.cz
HOLEKA Pavel	pavel.holeka@unob.cz
KOTEK Jiří (since 01 October 2019)	jiri.kotek2@unob.cz
LEŠKO Michal	michal.lesko@unob.cz
MAJERNIK Josef	josef.majernik@unob.cz
MALÝ Ondřej	ondrej.maly@unob.cz
MENCLOVÁ Kateřina	katerina.menclova@unob.cz
SIROVÝ Miroslav	miroslav.sirovy@unob.cz

28th Annual Report, 2019-44

DEPARTMENT OF MILITARY SURGERY K-305

SOTONA Otakar ŠAFRÁNEK Petr

ŠIMEK Jan

TLAPÁK Jakub

otakar.sotona@unob.cz petr.safranek@unob.cz jan.simek@unob.cz jakub.tlapak@unob.cz

Structure and main tasks of the department

Division of Traumatology and Burns Treatment Lochman Petr – Head of the Group

Main tasks

- Undergraduate education of medical students
- Postgraduate training of military surgeons and other medical specialists
- Expertise and referential work for needs of the Czech Armed Forces
- Research in Military Surgery
- Preparation of medical health-care personnel before foreign missions of the Army of the Czech Republic

At present the Department of Military Surgery consists only of one division - The Division of Traumatology and Burns Treatment. Besides working at each Division of the Department of Surgery of the Teaching Hospital in Hradec Králové, members of the Department perform both, undergraduate courses in field surgery for students of the Faculty of Military Health Sciences, and postgraduate training of military physicians for their specialization exams in surgery and general medicine. The Department also participates in teaching of the Battlefield First-Aid Courses, disaster medicine and the first aid courses, organized by the Faculty of Military Health Sciences for the Czech Army members. Members of the Department participate in several specialised NATO working groups according to their expertise. Moreover, they are consultans of Surgeon General of the Czech Armed Forces. In the last several years, the Department has played important role in education and training of personnel of field hospitals operating in foreign missions (Yugoslavia, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Albania, Iraq, Afghanistan). Members of the Department also took part in those missions. Research and publication activities are also essential part of the Department members' work

Participation in a foreign mission

- J. Páral 11th Field Hospital, ISAF, Kabul, Afghanistan, 2002, 2011 (TSF)
- J. Páral British Field Hospital, Op TELIC, Shaibah, Iraq, 2004
- P. Lochman British Field Hospital, Op TELIC, Shaibah, Iraq, 2004
- P. Lochman Czech Field Surgical Team, ISAF, Kabul, Afghanistan, 2008
- J. Páral Czech Field Surgical Team, International Medical Treatment Facility (Role 3) KAIA, Kabul, Afghanistan 2012
- T. Dušek Czech Field Surgical Team, International Medical Treatment Facility (Role 3) KAIA, Kabul, Afghanistan 2012
- J. Šimek Czech Field Surgical Team, International Medical Treatment Facility (Role 3) KAIA, Kabul, Afghanistan 2012

National textbooks

- Small atlas of dressing techniques (Páral), 1st ed. Prague: Grada Publishing, 2008. 240 p. ISBN 978-80-247-2255-9
- Schein's Common Sense Emergency Abdominal Surgery. 1st Czech ed. Prague: Grada Publishing, 2011, 420 p. (Translated by Ferko, Klein et al.). ISBN 978-80-247-2357-0
- Acute mesenteric ischemia Modern diagnostics and treatment of acute bowel ischemia (Páral), 1st ed. Prague: Grada Publishing 2012. 112 p. ISBN 978-80-247-3996-0
- Handbook of surgery (Šubrt), 2nd ed. Prague: Grada Publishing 2015. 512 p. ISBN 978-80-247-1005-1

International textbooks

 Gastrointestinal Stromal Tumors (Páral). In Aperelho Digestivo (Coelho), Editora Atheneau, Sao Paulo, Brasilia, 2012, p. 325– 336. ISBN 978-85-388-0296-9

RESEARCH PROJECTS

ADHESIONS – Prevention of postoperative intraabdominal adhesions: an experimental study

Sirový, M., Páral, J.

The project aim is to evaluate a protective effect of intraperitoneal application of phospholipids in the form of fat emulsions on formation of intraabdominal adhesions. In the experimental study on the animal model (pig), the cecal wall and adjacent peritoneum abrasion, the small intestine abrasion and ileoileal anastomosis are performed under general anesthesia.

Subsequently, 100 ml of fat emulsion on the basis of soya oil (group 1) or 100 ml of fat emulsion on the basis of fish oil (group 2) or 100 ml of physiological solution (control group 3) is applied into the abdominal cavity. Two weeks later, the second laparotomy is performed and the amount and macroscopic quality of intraperitoneal adhesions are evaluated using the Lauder scoring system. Histological processing and evaluation of the sample of tissue adhesions and the traumatized peritoneum are carried out with respect to the level of fibrosis, the amount of collagen, the inflammatory response and neovascularization. Furthermore, healing of the small intestine anastomosis is histologically assessed. Expression of TGF- β fibrinogen and α -smooth muscle actin (α -SMA) in tissues of peritoneal adhesions will be assessed using the ELISA method. Besides that, serum lipid level is evaluated in regular samplings 0th, 1st, 3rd, 6th and 14th day of the experiment as well as serum interleukin 6 level. Results of all three groups will be statistically processed (IBM SPSS Statistics) and evaluated.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2019–2021 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201902)

The potential of xanthohumol and beta-bitter acids in the therapy of nosocomial infections

Boštík, P., Boštíková, V., Páral, J., Mikyška, A., Čermák, P., Bogdanová, K., Houška, M.

Supported by the Internal Grant Agency of the Czech Republic Health Service, 2017–2020 (Project No.: NV17-31765A)

The increasingly more prevalent bacterial resistance to antibiotics presents an important worldwide problem. Compounds of natural origin with a proven anti-bacterial effect may represent new resources in thisarea or serve as complimentary therapies utilized together with antibiotics. Certain compounds from hops, especially beta-bitter acids and xanthohumol possess strong inhibitory effects on Gram-positive (Staphylococcus aureus, including resistant variants such as MRSA) and anaerobic bacteria, namely Clostridium perfringens and C. difficile. Some of the other characteristics of these compounds, including their low solubility in water, low toxicity and low level of adsorption in the gastrointestinal tract (GIT), predispose them as useful tools for local infections of skin and GIT. Formulations containing these compounds, which will be developed and evaluated in this project, can thus represent much needed tools for a local therapy of infections caused by antibiotic-resistant strains of bacteria.

DEPARTMENT OF MILITARY INTERNAL MEDICINE AND MILITARY HYGIENE K-306

Educational and Research Staff

BRNDIAR Miroslav	miroslav.brndiar@unob.cz
HORÁČEK Jan (Head of the Department)	jan.horacek@unob.cz
JAKL Martin (Head of the Group)	martin.jakl@unob.cz
JEBAVÝ Ladislav	ladislav.jebavy@unob.cz
KUPSA Tomáš	tomas.kupsa@unob.cz
LAŠÁK Petr	petr.lasak@unob.cz
PAVLÍK Vladimír (Deputy-Head)	vladimir.pavlik@unob.cz
SKOŘEPA Pavel	pavel.skorepa@unob.cz
STŘÍTECKÁ Hana	hana.stritecka@unob.cz
ŠAFKA Václav	vaclav.safka@unob.cz

Technicians

PEREGRINOVÁ Jitka

jitka.peregrinova@unob.cz

Administrative, Secretarial and Other Staff

MACHAČOVÁ Iva

iva.machacova@unob.cz

Postgraduate Students

BROULÍKOVÁ Karolina	katerina.broulikova@unob.cz
CSOMOR Ján (since 01 October 2019)	jan.csomor@unob.cz
DOHNALOVÁ Lucie (till 18 September 2019)	dohnalova.luc@gmail.com
DUŠKOVÁ Klára	klara.duskova@unob.cz
GERYCH David	david.gerych@unob.cz

28th Annual Report, 2019 - 48

GREGA Tomáš	tomas.grega@uvn.cz
HAJŠL Martin	martin.hajsl@uvn.cz
HORÁČKOVÁ Kateřina	katerina.horackova@unob.cz
KAŠPÁREK Ivo	ivo.kasparek@unob.cz
KMOCHOVÁ Klára	klara.kmochova@uvn.cz
KOŘÁNOVÁ Michaela	michaela.koranova@uvn.cz
KRÁL Petr	petr.kral@unob.cz
KRUTIŠOVÁ Pavla	pavla.krutisova@unob.cz
KULICH Marek	marek.kulich@unob.cz
KUPSOVÁ Blanka (since 01 October 2019)	blanka.kupsova@unob.cz
KUTÁČ Dominik	dominik.kutac@uvn.cz
LAŠÁK Petr	petr.lasak@unob.cz
MELOUN Jan	jan.meloun@unob.cz
PRAVDOVÁ Lucie	lucie.pravdova@unob.cz
SALAJKOVÁ Šárka (till 24 September 2019)	sarka.salajkova@unob.cz
SEDLÁČKOVÁ Simona	simona.sedlackova@unob.cz
SKOŘEPA Pavel	pavel.skorepa@unob.cz
TUČEK David	david.tucek@unob.cz
URBAN Miroslav	urbanmiro@seznam.cz
VAŠEK Tomáš	tomas.vasek@unob.cz
VOŠKA Michal	michal.voska@gmail.com
VYMLÁTILOVÁ Lenka (till 30 September 2019)	lenka.vymlatilova@seznam.cz
ZMRZLÁ Hana (till 24 October 2019)	hana.zmrzla@unob.cz

The Department is divided into the group of Military Internal Medicine and the group of Military Hygiene.

Military Internal Medicine

The Department is divided into the group of Military Internal Medicine and the group of Military Hygiene. Military Internal Medicine The group of Military Internal Medicine is the clinical part of the department systematically focused on specialized part of Internal Medicine - Military Internal Medicine. Military Internal Medicine as a sub-speciality of Internal Medicine has been progressively developed into a recent shape and purpose in accordance with latest trends of military health support and modern therapeutic approaches. Military Internal Medicine provides knowledge of and practical experience with treatment of life-threatening non-surgical impairment in specific conditions of the military, especially during the armed conflicts. Nowadays, Internal Medicine is also of increasing importance in postoperative care, where multidisciplinary approach leads to improved prognosis of the most severe surgical affections. Furthermore, the knowledge of and practical experience with Military Internal Medicine are useful also in peacetime, especially in large-scale disasters - catastrophes. In fact, most of the skills obtained by Military Internal Medicine training are useful in a novel and progressive branch of medical specialization - Disaster Medicine.

Military Internal Medicine has been further developed into 3 basic branches: therapeutic-preventive, pedagogical-educational and research-scientific.

The therapeutic-preventive branch is the essential part of Military Internal Medicine. It provides specialized knowledge of and experience with treatment of the most severe medical affections. The group of Military Internal Medicine cooperates with internal departments of the University Hospital in Hradec Kralove, which provides its therapeutic and educational background.

Military Hygiene

The group of Military Hygiene monitors the living and working conditions of troops with the aim to develop, propose and assert measures for health protection and promotion of military professionals in order to maintain a good health state of troops and combat capability of the Army of the Czech Republic personnel in difficult conditions of military environment. In accordance with this function, the activity of the group of Military Hygiene is aimed at monitoring the impact of environmental factors on the organism, at evaluating their risk in working and living environment and at setting effective preventive measures to protect and promote health of soldiers..

Currently, the group of Military Hygiene complexly covers the basic issues of the relation between life and job environment and health of an individual.

The group can provide the analysis of selected physical and chemical factors of external environment in the conditions of the Army of the Czech Republic. It studies the possibilities of use of chemical substances for disinfection effects. The group is focused above all on response of the organism to work in protective clothing and severe climatic conditions and on evaluation of the degree of risk connected with environment contamination.

In the area of group of Military Hygiene, attention is paid namely to the incidence and prevalence of risk factors of non-infectious diseases of mass incidence, rational food, catering of troops in peacetime and wartime conditions – emergency food rations, assessment of the properly received and consumed energy.

Cooperation:

- Charles University, Faculty of Medicine in Hradec Kralove
- University Hospital in Hradec Kralove
- Military Medical Agency of the Army of the Czech Republic
- Central Military Hospital Military University Hospital in Prague
- Military Hospital Brno
- Military Hospital Olomouc

- Health Institute in Hradec Kralove
- Hygienic Station in Liberec
- Military Health Institute in Prague
- Training Command Military Academy in Vyškov
- Agricultural University in Nitra, Slovakia

TEACHING

Military Internal Medicine

The pedagogical-educational branch activities in Military Internal Medicine are closely related to therapeutic-preventive care. The department provides comprehensive education of Internal Medicine and Military Internal Medicine in both undergraduate and postgraduate degree programs. Almost all military medical specialists in Internal Medicine, including both Czechoslovakian and the Czech Army members, completed their postgraduate education of Internal Medicine at our department and gained specialization degree in Internal Medicine. We are proud to announce that during the history of our department, we assisted more than 1500 physicians in gaining the specialization degree in Internal Medicine.

Nowadays, the educational process involves undergraduate education in the program of Military Internal Medicine, Military Dentistry, Military Pharmacy and Military Health Assistant. The group of Military Internal Medicine participates actively in teaching in specialized courses, such as BATLS (Battlefield Advanced Trauma Life Support) and also provides medical support during specialized training operations of various units of the Army of the Czech Republic. In cooperation with the Internal Department of the Military University Hospital in Prague and internal departments of other military hospitals, the department provides necessary background for physicians in the military in order to gain the medical postgraduate certification in Internal Medicine.

Important and highly demanding assignment of the department is management and support of doctoral study program of Military Internal Medicine. This study program has been accredited since 1993. The department is also accredited for associate professor and professor degrees proceedings in the field of Military Internal Medicine..

Military Hygiene

The group of Military Hygiene takes part in undergraduate education of military hygiene and preventive medicine for all military students of the Faculty of Military Health Sciences including civilian students of the Faculty of Health Sciences in Pardubice.

The group members participate in teaching at Charles University, the Faculty of Medicine in Hradec Kralove and cover the final exam in hygiene, military hygiene and epidemiology.

The group can provide education of hygiene and preventive medicine in the doctoral study program Preventive medicine and health care.

The group is engaged in education of hygiene and preventive medicine of civilian and military doctors and nurses including training of NATO missions participants.

The group cooperates with the Military Academy in Vyskov and ensures education and special training of the employees of the Ministry of Defence in the field of occupational hygiene, occupational medicine and risk prevention.

RESEARCH

Military Internal Medicine

The scientific-research branch is the third main part of the group of Military Internal Medicine. In general, the department is focused on clinical research in internal medicine and its implementation in specific military practice. The research is aimed at covering requirements of the Army of the Czech Republic including field and foreign military operations.

The shape of our recent research activities was formed together with the development of organization structure of the department. The long history and development of our department was connected with the development of public society, the Army and both schools in Hradec Kralove, the University of Defence Brno, the Faculty of Military Health Sciences and Charles University, the Faculty of Medicine..

Main topics are:

- New trends in transplantation of hematopoietic stem cells and supportive care
- Optimization and individualization of treatment of disorders involving bone marrow and hematopoiesis, especially research in acute leukemias as a "model disease"

- Monitoring of side effects during treatment of hematologic disorders using various novel biochemical markers, especially for evaluation of cardiac toxicity
- Cardiovascular research with focus on acute coronary syndrome and heart failure
- The role of enteral and parenteral nutrition in intensive care
- Participation in international clinical trials, especially in fields of hematology and cardiology

Cooperation in clinical research

- Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT), transplantrelated complications and supportive care, the role of cytokines, cytokine receptors and adhesion molecules in HSCT, acute leukemias and other hematologic disorders – the project has continued.
- New biochemical markers of cardiac injury, complex monitoring of cardiotoxicity of antitumorous treatment – clinical and laboratory evaluation has continued.
- Analysis of transplantation activities, indications and results in the Czech Republic – the National Stem Cell Transplantation Registry – the project has continued.
- 4. A study on application of enteral and parenteral nutrition in intensive metabolic care the research project has continued.
- International randomized clinical trials (PRAN-16-52, REACH 3, ASTRAL SGI-110-07, OPTIC 2L, CABL 001, ROBUST and others).
- 6. Academic studies of the Czech Hematology Society and the Czech Leukemia Study Group for Life.

Military Hygiene

Scientific research is focused on primary prevention of chronic diseases and relation of life and job environment and life style. Realization of intervention study and project is focused on healthy status of professional soldiers.

Main topics are:

- Epidemiological studies of non-infectious diseases
- Evaluation of nutritional and health statuses
- Evaluation of energetic and metabolic requirements
- Combat rations in different climatic conditions
- Evaluation of response of the organism to work in unfavourable environmental and working conditions
- Evaluation of working energy expenditure
- Evaluation of physiological function in protective suits
- Elaboration of proposals for working and rest regimes, energy, fluids and minerals as a prevention of diseases

RESEARCH PROJECTS

PARENTERAL NUTRITION – Influence of parenteral nutrion on selected metabolic markers in critically ill patients

Skořepa, P., Horáček, J.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2018–2019 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201811)

The issue of rational and effective parenteral nutrition in critically ill patients is one of the main areas of interest in intensive care medicine and a number of other medical clinical disciplines. The metabolic changes related to the administration of total parenteral nutrition (TPN) are very complex and not fully understood. In critically ill patients, activation of anti-regulation hormones leads to gluconeogenesis, glycogenolysis and insulin resistance, which is important information regarding the composition of parenteral nutrition. The aim of this prospective randomized study is the measurement of plasma concentrations of non-esterified fatty, antioxidants, vitamins and other specific metabolic markers in critically ill patients randomized to receive either total parenteral nutrition in combination with a fat emulsion (SMOFlipid). The results will give us deeper information on metabolic changes in critical conditions, which will help in planning an appropriate nutritional support.

Long-term organization development plan 1011 – Clinical branches

DEPARTMENT OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE AND MILITARY GENERAL MEDICINE K-307

DEPARTMENT OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE AND MILITARY GENERAL MEDICINE K-307

Educational and Research Staff

DOLEŽELOVÁ Miroslava (maternity leav)	miroslava.dolezalova@unob.cz
DUŠKOVÁ Klára	klara.duskova@unob.cz
FINK Matěj	matej.fink@unob.cz
KRUTIŠ Jan	jan.krutis@unob.cz
KRUTIŠOVÁ Pavla	pavla.krutisova@unob.cz
MATOUŠEK Radovan	radovan.matousek@unob.cz
NOVOTNÝ Pavel	pavel.novotny2@unob.cz
PLODR Michal (Head of the Department)	michal.plodr@unob.cz
PÚDELKA L'udovít	ludovit.pudelka@unob.cz

Technicians

ŠÍSTKOVÁ Jitka

jitka.sistkova@unob.cz

History of the Department started in 1983 at the J. E. Purkyně Military Medical Research and Postgraduate Institute. First as a Group of Military Medical Service Organization in Peacetime which was a part of the Department of Military Medical Service Organization. With increasing demands on training of the military health personnel, the Department of General Medicine was established. First Specialization Exams in this new basic specialization branch were held in February 1985. 525 military doctors passed the Specialization Exam in General Medicine at the Department of General Medicine till 31st December 2004. Now the Department collaborates in Specialization Exam with the Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education in Prague, the Chamber of Medicine, professional medical societies and associations in postgraduate training and specialized activities. It participates in establishing standards for special therapeutic care.

Since 1997, the work at this Department has focused more on prehospital emergency care and teaching the First Aid and Emergency Medicine. At the same time a significant modernization and a proper subdivision of teaching premises according to the type of courses were

carried out there. Now the Department is equipped with modern teaching models and simulators for teaching pre-hospital care, including the possibility of interactive teaching aids. Current innovations of medical material and equipment are applied in teaching process.

The Military Medical Service after the entry into NATO was one of the main contributers of the Czech Armed Forces to this international military organization. The Department of General Medicine and Emergency Medicine has been charged with specialization training of the military health personnel deployed on foreign mission. The extension of teaching activities in this new field called for changes in table posts at the Department. In 2001, the Healthcare Education and Training Group was established and other workers were engaged to teach the first aid. Since 2003, regarding the extension of teaching, the Department has had a new name – the Department of General and Emergency Medicine.

A new period of the Department started in 2014. After restructuring of the University of Defence and the Faculty of Military Health Science together with prevailing teaching topics in urgent medicine, the Department was renamed on **the Department of Emergency Medicine and Military General Medicine**. It consists of two groups – the Group of Emergency Medicine and the Group of General Medicine.

The main mission of the Department is education and training of medical officers in casualty medical care in both combat and disaster situations. For this purpose, the principles and procedures of emergency care in field conditions are taught at the Department through FEC – Field Emergency Courses. In the same area, the Department participates in training of medical personnel before their departure to foreign missions. The next important mission of the department is education and training of non-medical personnel in first-aid care. The most of the soldiers are trained in the Battlefield First-Aid Courses, some of them are trained in consequential Combat Life Saver Courses and Tactical Combat Casualty Courses. This course offers a lot of useful knowledge and skills, e.g. control life-threatening external hemorrhage, airway management and decompress the chest.

The Department of Emergency Medicine and Military General Medicine is the main department providing military-professional training in the subject called Military Medical Service Organization in Peacetime for students of the Master's Study Program in branches of General Medicine and Military Pharmacy, and for students of the Bachelor's Study Program in the branch of Military Medical Management and in various types of training and courses. It also provides further education for military doctors, pharmacists and other personnel of the Military Medical Service through refresher courses and specialization courses.

The subject called Disaster Medicine makes students acquainted with principles of emergency medicine and operation of individual parts of

DEPARTMENT OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE AND MILITARY GENERAL MEDICINE K-307

integrated rescue system in conditions of serious accidents, natural disasters and catastrophes. In connection with this training, the Department provides its participants with knowledge and experience of the operation of the Military Medical Service institutions and facilities in crisis, in combat or other extraordinary situations. It applies the knowledge of military and militaryprofessional subjects into specific conditions of operation of the Military Medical Service respecting both military principles and requirements as well as the principles of humanity, law and especially Geneva Conventions.

The Department is a co-ordinating centre in the branch of Military Medical Service Organization in Peacetime, Social Medicine, Emergency Medicine and Disaster Medicine. It participates in increasing the quality of organisational structure of medical units, formations and facilities. It elaborates their operation procedures and principles of their management in peacetime as well as in emergency situations. The Department provides expert activities and elaborates data and proposals from these areas for concept-making bodies of the Medical Service of the Armed Forces of the Czech Republic. The Department analyzes NATO regulations and directives and recommends their introduction in practice as well as in teaching process. It provides consultations for field leading officers of the Military Medical Service. The Department cooperates with civilian institutions, namely, with the bodies of the Ministry of Health of the Czech Republic in the issues concerning the cooperation between civilian and military medical services in extraordinary situations. It ensures publication activities focused on educational work requirements and on presenting scientific information. The Department is in charge of the education of talented students within the framework of students' scientific and professional activities. It participates in the solution of assignments within the organizational structure of the military health care in peacetime. It is the consultation and expert workplace in the branch of General and Emergency Medicine for the Armed Forces of the Czech Republic.

DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR PATHOLOGY AND BIOLOGY K-308

DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR PATHOLOGY AND BIOLOGY K-308

Educational and Research Staff

BALONOVÁ Lucie (maternity leave)	lucie.balonova@unob.cz
HERCÍK Kamil	kamil.hercik@unob.cz
KLIMENTOVÁ Jana	jana.klimentova@unob.cz
KROČOVÁ Zuzana (Head of the Department)	zuzana.krocova@unob.cz
KUBELKOVÁ Klára	klara.kubelkova@unob.cz
LINK Marek	marek.link@unob.cz
MACELA Aleš (Emerit. Prof.)	ales.macela@unob.cz
PÁVKOVÁ Ivona	ivona.pavkova@unob.cz
POHANKA Miroslav (Deputy-Head)	miroslav.pohanka@unob.cz
PORKERTOVÁ Stanislava	stanislava.porkertova@unob.cz
ŘEHULKA Pavel (Head of the Group)	pavel.rehulka@unob.cz
SHESHKO Valeria	valeria.sheshko@unob.cz
STULÍK Jiří	jiri.stulik@unob.cz
ŠPIDLOVÁ Petra	petra.spidlova@unob.cz

Technicians

LUKŠÍKOVÁ Lenka ŽÁKOVÁ Jitka

lenka.luksikova@unob.cz jitka.zakova@unob.cz

Administrative, Secretarial and Other Staff

FORETOVÁ Zdenka

zdena.foretova@unob.cz

28th Annual Report, 2019 - 59

DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR PATHOLOGY AND BIOLOGY K-308

Postgraduate Students

BAVLOVIČ Jan ĎURÁČOVÁ Miloslava KOPEČKOVÁ Monika PLZÁKOVÁ Lenka (till 27 May 2019) PROKŠOVÁ Magdaléna RADOCHOVÁ Věra SHESHKO Valeria STOJKOVÁ Pavla VÁLEK Tomáš VOZANDYCHOVÁ Věra jan.bavlovic@unob.cz miloslava.duracova@unob.cz monika.kopeckova@unob.cz lenka.plzakova@unob.cz magdalena.proksova@unob.cz vera.radochova@unob.cz valeria.sheshko@unob.cz pavla.stojkova@unob.cz tomas.valek@unob.cz vera.vozandychova@unob.cz

DEPARTMENT DESCRIPTION

The Department of Molecular Pathology and Biology is a research and educational center focused on application of advanced technologies of functional genomics in bio-medical defence research. Scientific work is preferably aimed at the studies of the host-pathogen interactions at the molecular level. The objectives of this research are divided into three main areas: bio-molecular signatures of biological agents potentially abused for the military, terrorist attacks or bio-crime acts, intracellular fate of ingested microbes and finally the modulation of host cell signaling and gene expression by ongoing infection. The favorite microbial model is the live vaccine strain of *Francisella tularensis*, a gram-negative facultative intracellular bacterial pathogen that is included in the List A CDC as the potential biological weapon. The laboratories of the Department are currently equipped with:

- the animal, tissue culture and microbiological labs for preparing samples for subsequent analyses,
- 2-D electrophoresis, liquid chromatography and mass spectrometers for realization of complete classical and shotgun proteomic analyses,
- PCR, RT-PCR and quantitative real-time PCR technologies for the basic search of gene expression and the mutant construction,
- light and fluorescent microscopy, ELISA, Western blot and flow cytometry for the study of bacterial or bacterial component impact on the host.

The established technologies enable researchers, PhD., and undergraduate students to realize complex studies oriented on the analyses of living system response to external (and internal, modulatory) signals encompassing the chemicals, biologically active bio-molecules, physical influences (temperature, radiation, etc.), and microorganisms. Currently, the Department of Molecular Pathology and Biology has 16 full-time employees, 13 scientists, 2 technicians and 1 administrative worker. Four scientists are supported by the grant agencies. The Department had 10 PhD students in 2019 and, furthermore, several undergraduates have been working on their diploma thesis at the Department.

PARTICIPATION IN INTERNATIONAL PROJECTS AND NETWORKS

The Department traditionally cooperates with the research facility in Sweden (the Department of Clinical Bacteriology and the Laboratory for Molecular Infection Medicine of the Umea University) on identification of new factors of virulence of Francisella tularensis, molecular mechanisms of suppression of interferon beta production in host cells infected by Francisella tularensis and on the analysis of possible interaction between host and bacterial proteins. Further important collaborations concern the U.S. Army Medical Research Institute of Infectious Diseases (Fort Detrick, USA) on preparation and testing of bacterial proteins with immunostimulatory potential, the Department of Microbiology and Parasitology of the University of Rijeka on microscopic analysis of microbial intracellular trafficking, proteome analysis of phagosomes isolated from infected host cells, and, finally, the Aquila Bioscience Ltd. of the National University of Ireland in Galway on identification of glycan or lectin structures recognizing bacterial carbohydrate structures with the aim of new decontamination tools development. Within the frame of the Czech Republic, the Department has developed beneficial contacts with the Institute of Microbiology and the Institute of Molecular Genetics of the Czech Academy of Science in Prague, the Faculty of Science of Charles University in Prague, the Faculty of Medicine and the Faculty of Pharmacy of Charles University in Hradec Králové, the University Hospital in Hradec Králové, the Department of Pharmacology of the Faculty of Medicine in Hradec Králové, the Department of Oncological and Experimental Pathology of Masaryk Memorial Cancer Institute in Brno and the Veterinary Research Institute in Brno and Military Health Institute, Prague. The financial support for research activities performed in collaboration with the above-mentioned institutes comes from the programs and projects of the Czech Grant Agencies, the Ministry of Education, and Youth and Sports and the Ministry of the Interior.

RESEARCH PROJECTS

Colorimetric sensor for diagnosis of pesticides poisoning

Horna, A., Pohanka, M., Voříšek, V.

Supported by Technology Agency of the Czech Republic, 2018–2021 (Project No.: TH03030336)

The project is focused to construction of a colorimetric sensor for a fast diagnosis of pesticides poisoning and it will be suitable for the both human and veterinarian samples. Functional sample of the device will be verified on biological samples. Aims of the project will be reached in the of the project solving.

Construction of sensor for quantitative detection of antibodies against tissue transglutaminase for celiac disease diagnostics

Kostelník, A., Martinková, P., Kostelníková, A., Pohanka, M., Voženílek, J.

Supported by Technology Agency of the Czech Republic, 2018–2019 (Project No.: TJ01000478)

The main goal of this project is development of function model for a fast diagnosis of celiac disease via the determination of antibodies against tissue transglutaminase (antitTG). Tissue transglutaminase (tTG) is the most used marker in celiac disease which is hereditary disease manifested by intestinal mucosa inflammation and intolerance of gluten in diet, which has to be modify and replace by gluten free diet. This project is focused on construction of biosensor for anti-tTG determination from blood using QCM sensor as a platform for binding of tTG and selective binding of anti-tTG from the sample. The biosensor will be constructed as a simple tool suitable for homecare, small labs and surgeries. Goals of the project will be accomplished to the end of the project.

INFECTION – Analysis of changes in host cell ubiquitinylation system during infection of pathogen *Francisella tularensis*

Vozandychová, V., Řehulka, P.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2018–2020 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201802)

Ubiquitinylation of proteins is one of the most important cell processes, which is involved in degradation of proteins, cell signaling, altering function of protein substrates, changing protein activity or their subcellular localization. Deubiqitinylation enzymes (DUBs) are an important part of the system

controlling the reversible process of protein ubiquitinylation, including editing and controlling of mono- and polyubiquitine chains attached to the protein substrates. DUBs can remove ubiquitin from proteins and rescue them from degradation or functional change. These enzymes can also modulate the activity of important proteins during infection process, which was already shown in case of several known pathogens and their DUBs, e.g. bacterial strains *Salmonella* and *Yersinia*. This project is focused on the identification of potential DUBs in pathogenic bacteria *Francisella tularensis* that causes tularemia zoonosis and is listed in Category A Bioterrorism agents. Further analysis will be aimed at changes of DUBs host cells during infection with *Francisella tularensis*. This is important for a further understanding of the molecular basis of the disease process.

MICRORGANISMS – Isolation of enzymes from unique microbial species and their practical application

Válek, T., Martinková, P., Pohanka, M.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2017–2019 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201701)

Enzymes are necessary in all of types of organisms and they have a lot of functions in physiological and pathological conditions. Most of enzymes used in industry or medicine are produced by microorganisms like bacteria or fungi, because of easy production and specific abilities. Some of microorganisms are able to catalyze in extreme conditions such as warm, cold, low or high pH. Psychrophilic organisms live in cold environment and their biological activity is also high in temperatures around 0 °C. This ability is very useful in biosensor construction, so, biosensor containing enzymes from psychrophilic organism can be used in abnormal conditions. Biosensors based on microbial enzymes with unique properties present innovative tool in diagnostic methods appropriate for use in clinical practice or battlefield.

PHOSPHINE – Phosphine anad mechanism of phosphine toxicity on the organism of laboratory animal

Radochová, V., Pohanka, M.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2018–2020 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201806)

Phosphine is a harmful chemical substance with not well-known mechanism of toxicity. It is probably caused by high phosphine reactivity and a toxic effect having impact on more sites like inhibition of enzymes on one site and damaging of soft tissues on the other site. This thesis is focused on study of phosphine toxicity and choice of markers indicating poisoning. There

DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR PATHOLOGY AND BIOLOGY K-308

will be also proposed an animal laboratory model suitable for study of phosphine toxicity.

Preparation of a standard collection of biologically important toxins – EBLN (European Biodefence Laboratory Network)

Dresler, J., Kročová, Z., Myslivcová, A., Klimentová, J., Sheshko, V., Řehulková, H., Dřevínek, M.

Supported by the Czech Republic Ministry of Internal Affairs, 2017–2020 (Project No.: VH20172020012)

The subject of the public contract is the creation of a collection of standards of difficult to obtain toxins using modern vector cultures / bacterial, insect or plant lines) that would allow the development and testing of targeted and highly specific techniques, where so far forensic analytical approaches are not available. Furthermore, the implementation and verification of procedures for working with difficult to cultivate agents / Coxiella spp./ whose detection and identification capabilities are not sufficient at present in most of the security units in the Czech Republic.

PROTEIN – Testing of protein expression systém in the *Francisella tularensis* microbe

Sheshko, V., Stulík, J.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2018–2019 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201801)

Francisella tularensis is a gram-negative intracellular pathogen causing tularemia (1). The low infectious dose, high virulence and environmental resistance, and the ability to be disseminated as an aerosol make this organism a potential agent for bioterrorism; therefore, F. tularensis is currently classified as A Military and Terroristically Abusive Agents (2). The administration of antibiotics is the standard procedure for the treatment of tularemia. This treatment is only effective for early diagnosis of the disease. Symptoms of tularemia in humans are non-specific that may delay the diagnosis of the disease and subsequent therapy. For this reason, recombinant subunit vaccine is attractive target for the development of new F. tularensis vaccine for military and medical personnel as well as for civilian populations (3). As part of the ROZHN project as well as the international DTRA project (collaboration with USAMRIID), we focused on the identification of bacterial proteins with significant immunogenic potential that could be used to design the subunit vaccine against the F. tularensis infection. Recombinant proteins were prepared in E. coli expression system. However, original protein modifications are not retained in this system that can affect their immune-stimulatory potential and protective capabilities. The

development of the protein production system in F. tularensis, which will maintain all posttranslational modifications, is another necessary step in the preparation of an effective subunit vaccine against F. tularensis. Fully functional proteins can be used for immunization, host-pathogen interaction studies, modifications and structure determination, as well as definition their biological function. Historically, difficulties in the genetic manipulation of F. tularensis were due partially to poor recognition of exogenous promoter elements by Francisella transcriptional machinery. A recent study showed that the transcriptional machinery of this organism is guite unique (4). Unlike all other bacteria, F. tularensis possesses two distinct a subunits of RNA polymerase, and these subunits are divergent even within the domains involved in promoter contact. These complications necessitated the design of genetic tools in which the expression of selectable and counterselectable markers was driven by Francisella promoters. Some promoter sequences have been characterized and adapted for use as a genetic tool for F. tularensis. One of the most frequently exploited and well-studied F. tularensis promoters is groEL that has been widely used for gene expression both in vivo and in vitro. Other promoters include the acpA promoter, which was used to drive the expression of green fluorescent protein (GFP) in F. tularensis strain LVS during a murine macrophage infection (5), and the FTN_1451 promoter (6), which was used to express the kanamycin resistance gene in the process of adapting the Targeton system for use in F. tularensis. In other studies, the bfr promoter, which appears to be about 10 times more potent than the groEL promoter, is identified as one of the most potent promoters in the F. tularensis microbe (7). Regulated expression systems are important tools for the manipulation of gene transcription for the study of organismal biology. Currently, there are no many suitable genetic control systems for Francisella tularensis. Two of the most widely used systems for recombinant gene expression in microorganisms based on the classic lactose- and arabinose-inducible promoters do not work in F. tularensis (8-10). A conditional expression system was developed for F. tularensis that relies on the F. tularensis glucose-repressible promoter, FGRp (11). This system is active in macrophages, but it relies on a ubiquitous carbon source and is not flexible. Additionally, a regulatory system for the expression of F. tularensis genes was developed to utilize tetracycline transcription control (TetR). This system can be used for both induction and gene repression (12). Recently, selection of constitutive and controllable promoters from the library of synthetic DNA molecules having activities similar to those of the most potently identified promoters of F. tularensis (13) has been completed. The aim of the project is a testing of the existing regulated F. tularensis (FTRp) expression system and preparing a new genetic tools based on endogenous and exogenous promoters (14,15). Based on previous results of proteomic and immunological studies, proteins with different localization, structure and molecular properties will be selected. The genes of selected proteins will be amplified from the F. tularensis chromosomal DNA and subsequently cloned into vectors under different

DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR PATHOLOGY AND BIOLOGY K-308

promoters. The subsequent production of the proteins will take place in *F. tularensis* cells. Detection of expression will be performed by SDS-PAGE electrophoresis, Western Blot and mass spectrometry. His-tagged proteins will be purified under native and denaturation conditions by affinity chromatography. The results will be evaluated and compared.

Proteome analysis of potential markers of dilation cardiomyopathy

Pudil, R., Stulík, J., Řehulka, P.

Supported by the Internal Grant Agency of the Czech Republic Health Service, 2019–2022 (Project No.: NV19-02-00297)

Left ventricle remodeling and its reversal are the key factors affecting the longterm survival of the patients with dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM). Therefore, the prediction of future left ventricle remodeling at initial diagnosis is of prognostic significance. Based on the results of our pilot study, where we revealed more than 50 unique proteins for DCM, we assume, that proteomic methods can identify new markers for DCM, and could have a potential to be useful for risk stratification. Hence in the proposed project we plan to employ state of art non-gel proteomic analysis in combination with bioinformatics to discover and validate new plazma protein markers, which can early distinguish patients responding or non-responding to standard therapy. Left ventricle remodeling will be evaluated with the use of established and proved methods (echocardiography) in accordance with recommended standards.

Study of the secretion of outer membrane vesicles in *Francisella tularensis* and their role in the interaction with the host

Stulík, J., Klimentová, J., Pávková, I., Kubelková, K.

Supported by the Czech Republic Grant Agency, 2017–2019 (Project No.: GA17-04010S)

Francisella tularensis is a gram-negative intracellular bacterium causing a severe disease known as tularemia. As one of the most infectious pathogens (as few as ten bacteria can initiate the disease) it has been classified as a potential biological warfare agent. Outer membrane vesicles secreted by gram-negative bacteria play an important role in bacterial physiology as well as in virulence and host-pathogen interaction. Isolated vesicles of number of bacteria have also been studied for their immunomodulatory potential. *F. tularensis* secretes vesicles of unusual tubular structure. The project aims to study the relationship of vesiculation and virulence in *F. tularensis*. The major goal presents the characterization of these vesicles and nanotubes composition, their production and description of their fate during interaction with the host cell. Consequently,

DEPARTMENT OF MOLECULAR PATHOLOGY AND BIOLOGY K-308

their potential protective effect in vivo will be studied. The acquired information will help elucidating their role in the host-pathogen interaction and extend our knowledge about mechanism of virulence of *Francisella tularensis*.

VESICLES – Study of the secretion of outer membrane vesicles in *Francisella tularensis* and their role in the host-pathogen interaction

Bavlovič, J., Klimentová, J.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2018–2020 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201804)

The aim of the presented project is to describe at the cellular level the interaction of the outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) isolated from the *F. tularensis* bacterium with the host cell. Model host cells will be mouse bone marrow macrophages (BMDM). The host cell response will be evaluated via changes in cytokine secretion and mapping of the localization of OMVs within the cell.

VIVARIUM

Educational and Research Staff

RADOCHOVÁ Věra (Head of the Department) vera.radochova@unob.cz

Technicians

ETFLAIŠOVÁ Petra	petra.etflaisova@unob.cz
CHLÁDKOVÁ Martina	martina.chladkova@unob.cz
MILITKÝ Richard	richard.militky@unob.cz
SLAVÍK Jaroslav	jaroslav.slavik@unob.cz
TÁNCOŠOVÁ Erika	erika.tancosova@unob.cz

The Vivarium at the Faculty of Military Health Sciences of the University of Defence fulfils science, research and teaching tasks of the departments and specialized workplaces of the Faculty of Military Health Sciences. The vivarium is subordinated to the Vice-Dean for Research.

The separate vivarium for mice and sewer-rats is a part of the Department of Toxicology and Military Pharmacy.

From the point of view of the capacity the Faculty of Military Health Sciences is able to carry out experiments, place and take care of laboratory mice, sewer-rats, guinea-pigs, rabbits, pigs or mini pigs. In the area of the vivarium there are also laboratory workplaces and operating theatres, which are equipped for experiments on laboratory animals. All studies have to be allowed by the Ethical Board of the Faculty of Military Health Sciences fully in compliance with the legal standards of the protection against cruelty to animals.

The Vivarium with the operating block is intesively used above all for experiments on large experimental animals. The courses CLS (CLS, R-CLS, CLS LVO), UPP/R and UPP/FEC are held there. During the courses different model situations and cases of emergency medicine are performed for military doctors and participants of foreign mission including war injuries on dead and live experimental animals.

On December 2015, the Vivarium was accredited for use again for 5 years (till January 2021) by the Central Board for Animal Protection.

The above-mentioned range of the activities shows that it is necessary to time work and also co-ordinate it personally including permanent presence of a veterinary surgeon, veterinary technicians and breeders of laboratory animals.

RESEARCH PROJECTS

PHOSPHINE – Phosphine anad mechanism of phosphine toxicity on the organism of laboratory animal

Radochová, V., Pohanka, M.

Supported by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, 2018–2020 (Project No.: SV/FVZ201806)

Phosphine is a harmful chemical substance with not well-known mechanism of toxicity. It is probably caused by high phosphine reactivity and a toxic effect having impact on more sites like inhibition of enzymes on one site and damaging of soft tissues on the other site. This thesis is focused on study of phosphine toxicity and choice of markers indicating poisoning. There will be also proposed an animal laboratory model suitable for study of phosphine toxicity.

COMMUNICATION AND INFORMATIOM SYSTEMS OFFICE SCIENCES

COMMUNICATION AND INFORMATION SYSTEMS OFFICE

Educational and Research Staff	
OSIČKA Jan	jan.osicka@unob.cz
VOPLATKOVÁ Zdeňka	zdenka.voplatkova@unob.cz
ZEDNÍČEK Jiří (Head of the CISO)	jiri.zednicek@unob.cz
Technicians	
RYDRYCH Jiří	jiri.rydrych@unob.cz

Administrative, Secretarial and Other Staff

VÍCHOVÁ Eva	eva.vichova@unob.cz
ZETOCHOVÁ Dita	dita.zetochova@unob.cz
ZIKOVÁ Jitka	jitka.zikova@unob.cz

The Communication and Information Systems Office provides the top quality information service to ensure efficient scientific, research and teaching activities for teaching and research staff as well as under- and postgraduate students of our faculty.

The Communication and Information Systems Office provides the operation of the faculty network, enables access to army, specialized and public information systems and supplies the needs of the Faculty with modern information technologies. Main activity is ensuring the access to INTERNET and to specialized information systems. Management of data network, central management of software, servicing as well as specialized support of users is also provided.

Part of the Communication and Information Systems Office are also graphic services that create graphic documents and posters for presentations, make arrangements and changes of drafts for printing, make digital pictures and do other associated work. It also provides the operating and updating of the web site of the Faculty (http://fvz.unob.cz).

The library provides students, research and teaching staff of the Faculty of Military Health Sciences and members of the Czech Army Medical Service with scientific and information services. The main information services are provided by the library with 63 000 library units concerning medicine as well as associated branches.

Information sources in the field of military medicine, emergency medicine and disaster medicine are specificity of this library. The library enables access to various information databases (WoK, ScienceDirect, SCOPUS, SpringerLink, BiblioMedica, etc.) and provides systematic help when being used.

The library participates in teaching activities in the doctoral study programmes and scientific education (PhD) by giving lectures in Basics of Informatics focused on retrievals, processing and publication of scientific information.

VISITORS TO THE FACULTY OF MILITARY HEALTH SCIENCES

Belgium

 COL VEKERDI Zoltan MD PhD (Brussels) – 19th Conference of the Professional Society of Military Doctors, Pharmacists and Veterinary Doctors of the Czech Medical Association of J. E. Purkyně, 13 November 2019–13 November 2019

Jordan

 BANY DOUMI Mohammad Isam Ali, MD; BARAKAT ALSHWAYAT Mohammad Subhi, MD; AHMAD ALZYOUD Essam Ibrahim; MOUSA ALQATAMIN Omar Tawfiq; OVERID ALJBOOR Mansour Okleh; HILAL AL-ABDALLAT Awwad Yousef, MD; SWEILEM ALKHAWALDEH Abdul Kareem; HAMDAN OBEIDAT Ali Badi; MOHAMMAD AL-TWAHEH Haytham Abdulluh; ALI ALALWAN Ahmad Salem; ALLAH AL-AMRYYIN Haitham Bassam, MD; ABED RAWASHDEH Eyad Walid, MD (aMMAN) – Field Emergency Care (FEC) Course, 07 October 2019–09 October 2019

Portugal

 LOUREIRO MELO Sara Maria (Coimbra) – Erasmus+ Internship, 02 September 2019–30 October 2019

Slovakia

 KOPEROVÁ Erika; KRUTÁKOVÁ Mária (Bratislava) – Specialized Internship, 08 July 2019–12 July 2019

Ukraine

 LTC NEHODUIKO Volodymyr Volododymyrovič; LTC BABII Vadym Juryjovyč; 1LT GANIUK Vatalii Mychajlovyč; LTC TELISTNYKOV Oleksii Volodymyrovič; CPT MURADIAN Karen Rubenovyč; MAJ TYTYNIUK Andrii Juryjovič; CPT PRYTULA Volodymyr Mychajlovyč (Kiev) – Field Emergency Care (FEC) Course, 18 February 2019– 20 February 2019
VISITS ABROAD

Austria

- Chlíbek, R. (21st Annual Meeting of the International Scientific Working Group on Tick-Borne Encephalitis (ISW-TBE), Vienna, 15 May 2019–17 May 2019)
- Řehulka, P. (30th MassSpec-Forum Vienna, Vienna, 18 February 2019–20 February 2019)
- Smetana, J. (21st Annual Meeting of the International Scientific Working Group on Tick-Borne Encephalitis (ISW-TBE), Vienna, 15 May 2019–17 May 2019)

Belgium

- Boštík, P. (CapTech National Coordinators meeting ESM4 EDA, Brussels, 13 February 2019–15 February 2019)
- Vašek, T. (Military Committee Medical Standartization Board, Brussels, 20 January 2019–24 January 2019)

Bulgaria

- Vašek, T. (6th International Multidisciplinary Scientific Conference on SOCIAL Sciences & Arts, SGEM 2019, Albena, 24 August 2019–02 September 2019)
- Žďára, J. (6th International Multidisciplinary Scientific Conference on SOCIAL Sciences & Arts, SGEM 2019, Albena, 24 August 2019–02 September 2019)

Croatia

- Chlíbek, R. (CEEPAG 9th Meeting, Zagreb, 28 March 2019–29 March 2019)
- Stulík, J. (Bilateral negotiations on scientific collaboration, Rijeka, 24 April 2019–26 April 2019)

Finland

 Pohanka, M. (Eurotox 2019, Helsinki, 08 September 2019–12 September 2019)

France

- Górecki, L. (3rd International Conference CBRNE Research and Innovation, Nantes, 20 May 2019–23 May 2019)
- Górecki, L. (26th Young Research Fellows meeting, Paris, 20 February 2019–22 February 2019)
- Jakl, M. (ESC Congress 2019, Paris, 30 August 2019–05 September 2019)
- Jeličová, M. (47th IUPAC World Chemistry Congress (IUPAC 2019), Paris, 07 July 2019–12 July 2019)

- Kassa, J. (3rd International Conference CBRNE Research and Innovation, Nantes, 20 May 2019–23 May 2019)
- Konečný, J. (26th Young Research Fellows meeting, Paris, 20 February 2019–22 February 2019)
- Korábečný, J. (3rd International Conference CBRNE Research and Innovation, Nantes, 20 May 2019–23 May 2019)
- Korábečný, J. (26th Young Research Fellows meeting, Paris, 20 February 2019–22 February 2019)
- Kostelník, A. (47th IUPAC World Chemistry Congress (IUPAC 2019), Paris, 07 July 2019–12 July 2019)
- Soukup, O. (3rd International Conference CBRNE Research and Innovation, Nantes, 20 May 2019–23 May 2019)
- Svobodová, B. (26th Young Research Fellows meeting, Paris, 20 February 2019–22 February 2019)
- Šinkorová, Z. (StTARS 2019 Software tools for Triage of the Acute Radiation Syndrome: a practical workshop, Brétigny sur Orge, 08 October 2019–12 October 2019)
- Tichý, A. (StTARS 2019 Software tools for Triage of the Acute Radiation Syndrome: a practical workshop, Brétigny sur Orge, 08 October 2019–12 October 2019)

Germany

- Jošt, P. (17th International Medical Chemical Defence Conference, Munich, 26 March 2019–29 March 2019)
- Kassa, J. (17th International Medical Chemical Defence Conference, Munich, 26 March 2019–29 March 2019)
- Matula, M. (17th International Medical Chemical Defence Conference, Munich, 26 March 2019–29 March 2019)
- Šinkorová, Z. (Becton Dickinson Customer Support & Training Center, Heidelberg, 06 May 2019–10 May 2019)
- Tichý, A. (23rd ConRad Nuclear Medical Defense Conference, Munich, 13 May 2019–16 May 2019)
- Válek, T. (2nd MCDC project meeting, Munich, 22 April 2019–26 April 2019)
- Vašek, T. (NATO Medical Sharing Group meeting, Leipzig, 07 October 2019–11 October 2019)

Greece

• Kubelková, K. (16th International Conference on Innate Immunity, Rhodos, 07 June 2019–13 June 2019)

Hungary

• Vašek, T. (2nd WS Medical Modular Approaches – Employment, Budapest, 02 December 2019–06 December 2019)

Iraq

• Fink, M. (Combined Joint Task Force – Operation Inherent Resolve (CJTF-OIR) mission, 01 August 2019–29 February 2020)

Israel

- Hrabinová, M. (16th International Symposium on Cholinergic Mechanisms, Rehovot, 07 December 2019–14 December 2019)
- Jun, D. (16th International Symposium on Cholinergic Mechanisms, Rehovot, 07 December 2019–14 December 2019)

Jordan

- Plodr, M. (Expert Medical Services Meeting, Amman, 22 September 2019–27 September 2019)
- Púdelka, L. (Expert Medical Services Meeting, Amman, 22 September 2019–27 September 2019)

Kenya

 Janásová, M. (Specialized Internship, Itibo, 11 January 2019–11 February 2019)

Philippines

• Kubelková, K. (Symposium on Biological Response Mechanisms and the Practicle Application to Health, Disease and Prevention, Manila, 17 June 2019–23 June 2019)

Poland

Hrabinová, M. (44th FEBS Congress, Krakow, 06 July 2019–11 July 2019)

Portugal

- Benková, M. (3rd International Caparica Conference in Antibiotic Resistance 2019, Caparica, 10 June 2019–13 June 2019)
- Boštík, P. (3rd International Caparica Conference in Antibiotic Resistance, Caparica, 08 June 2019–13 June 2019)

Romania

 Vašek, T. (Experiment MMA-Emp (MCDC), Făgăraş, 02 April 2019– 14 April 2019)

Singapore

- Dušek, T. (5th Asian Congress of Robotic and Laparoscopic Surgery, Singapore, 12 November 2019–17 November 2019)
- Páral, J. (5th Asian Congress of Robotic and Laparoscopic Surgery, Singapore, 12 November 2019–17 November 2019)
- Plodr, M. (5th Asian Congress of Robotic and Laparoscopic Surgery, Singapore, 12 November 2019–17 November 2019)

28th Annual Report, 2019 - 75

Slovakia

- Chlíbek, R. (4th Primary Pediatrics Days, Demänovská Dolina, 17 May 2019–19 May 2019)
- Chlíbek, R. (10th Slovak Vaccination Congress, Tatranská Lomnica, 11 April 2019–13 April 2019)
- Pavlík, V. (27th International Conference Life Conditions and Health, Nový Smokovec, 23 September 2019–25 September 2019)
- Pavlík, V. (ERASMUS+ Internship Program, Nitra, 02 December 2019–06 December 2019)
- Smetana, J. (10th Slovak Vaccination Congress, Tatranská Lomnica, 11 April 2019–13 April 2019)
- Válek, T. (24th Interdisciplinary Toxicology Conference, Vyhne, 26 June 2019–28 June 2019)
- Vašek, T. (Visegrad Military Medicine Conference VIMIMED 2019, Liptovský Mikuláš, 03 February 2019–06 February 2019)
- Vašek, T. (ERASMUS+ Internship Program, Liptovský Mikuláš, 25 November 2019–29 November 2019)
- Žďára, J. (ERASMUS+ Internship Program, Liptovský Mikuláš, 25 November 2019–29 November 2019)
- Žďára, J. (Visegrad Military Medicine Conference VIMIMED 2019, Liptovský Mikuláš, 03 February 2019–06 February 2019)

Slovenia

- Chlíbek, R. (ESPID 2019 37th Annual Meeting of the European Society for Paediatric Infectious Diseases, Ljubljana, 08 May 2019– 10 May 2019)
- Smetana, J. (ESPID 2019 37th Annual Meeting of the European Society for Paediatric Infectious Diseases, Ljubljana, 06 May 2019– 10 May 2019)

Spain

- Bavlovič, J. (Bacterial networks (BacNet19), Sant Feliu de Guíxols, 01 September 2019–06 September 2019)
- Klimentová, J. (Bacterial networks (BacNet19), Sant Feliu de Guíxols, 01 September 2019–06 September 2019)
- Pávková, I. (Bacterial networks (BacNet19), Sant Feliu de Guíxols, 01 September 2019–06 September 2019)
- Pohanka, M. (Nutrients 2019 Nutritional Advances in the Prevention and Management of Chronic Disease, Barcelona, 24 September 2019–27 September 2019)

Sweden

- Klimentová, J. (18th Swedish Proteomics Society Symposium, Göteborg, 24 November 2019–25 November 2019)
- Stulík, J. (18th Swedish Proteomics Society Symposium, Göteborg, 24 November 2019–25 November 2019)

Switzerland

- Ďuráčová, M. (Presentation of Scientific Results, Davos, 22 June 2019–26 June 2019)
- Sheshko, V. (Presentation of Scientific Results, Davos, 22 June 2019–26 June 2019)

The Netherlands

- Herman, D. (Evaluation of Results of OPCW Biomedical Proficiency Tests, Haag, 17 July 2019–21 July 2019)
- Pohanka, M. (Industry's European meeting for Antibody and Protein Therapeutics Science, Technology and Networking, Amsterdam, 10 June 2019–14 June 2019)
- Prchal, L. (Evaluation of Results of OPCW Biomedical Proficiency Tests, Haag, 17 July 2019–21 July 2019)
- Váňová, N. (Evaluation of Results of OPCW Biomedical Proficiency Tests, Haag, 17 July 2019–21 July 2019)

United Kingdom

- Filipová, A. (ICRR 2019 16th International Congress for Radiation Research, Manchester, 24 August 2019–29 August 2019)
- Marková, A. (Eurobiofilms 2019, Glasgow, 02 September 2019–06 September 2019)
- Šinkorová, Z. (ICRR 2019 16th International Congress for Radiation Research, Manchester, 24 August 2019–29 August 2019)
- Tichý, A. (NATO HFM-291 Research Task Group "Ionizing Radiation Bioeffects and Countermeasures" meeting, Gosport, 01 September 2019–06 September 2019)

United States

- Boštíková, V. (Presentation of the Faculty of Military Health Sciences of the University of Defence and his scientific results, Atlanta, 08 December 2019–18 December 2019)
- Boštíková, V. (CDC, Atlanta, 30 June 2019–11 July 2019)
- Horáček, J. (61st ASH Annual Meeting and Exposition, Orlando, 07 December 2019–10 December 2019)
- Kassa, J. (Chemical and Biological Defense Science & Technology (CBD S&T) Conference, Cincinnati, 17 November 2019–22 November 2019)

- Kobrlová, T. (American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists (AAPS) workshop, Herndon, 28 April 2019–01 May 2019)
- Kopečková, M. (Microbial Pathogenesis Conference: Mechanisms of Infectious Disease, Snowmass Village, 20 July 2019–28 July 2019)
- Matula, M. (Chemical and Biological Defense Science & Technology (CBD S&T) Conference, Cincinnati, 17 November 2019–22 November 2019)
- Pejchal, J. (Chemical and Biological Defense Science & Technology (CBD S&T) Conference, Cincinnati, 17 November 2019–22 November 2019)
- Řehulka, P. (67th ASMS Conference on Mass Spectrometry and Allied Topics, Atlanta, 01 June 2019–05 June 2019)
- Stojková, P. (Microbial Pathogenesis Conference: Mechanisms of Infectious Disease, Snowmass Village, 20 July 2019–28 July 2019)
- Vašek, T. (Multinational Capabilities Devlopment Campaign 2019-2020, Portmouth, 11 February 2019–15 February 2019)

WORKSHOPS, COURSES, RESIDENCIES AT THE FACULTY IN 2019

Radiobiology

 Specialized course – Radiation accident – protection and basic measures, 14 May 2019–15 May 2019

Military Hygiene

- Specialized basic course Teaching on foodstuff I, 25 February 2019–26 February 2019
- Specialized follow-up course Teaching on foodstuff II, 15 April 2019–16 April 2019, 18 November 2019–19 November 2019
- Specialized course Overweight and obesity, diagnosis, prevention and therapy, 04 November 2019–05 November 2019
- Specialised course Nutrition state assessment, 14 January 2019– 15 January 2019
- Specialized course Evaluation of workload and health protection at work, 21 October 2019–22 October 2019
- Specialized course Muscle imbalance prevention and compensation exercises, 11 March 2019–13 March 2019

Language Courses

- Terminology course for nurses 2, 04 February 2019–15 February 2019, 18 November 2019–29 November 2019
- Combined language courses English (STANAG 3), 03 September 2018–31 May 2019
- Combined language courses English (STANAG 2), 03 September 2018–31 May 2019, 09 September 2019–03 April 2020
- Terminology course for MEDOPS, 17 June 2019–28 June 2019
- Combined language courses English (STANAG 1), 09 September 2019–03 April 2020

Military Epidemiology

- Specialized course Current infectious diseases news in epidemiology and microbiology, 14 October 2019–16 October 2019
- Specialized course Vaccination in adulthood, 18 March 2019–19 March 2019
- Specialized course Highly dangerous infections, new infectious diseases, 14 January 2019–16 January 2019

Military Medical Service Organization

• Specialized course – MS PowerPoint, 28 January 2019–30 January 2019

- Specialized course Aeromedical evacuation, 09 April 2019–11 April 2019
- Specialized course MS WORD, 11 November 2019–13 November 2019
- MEDEVAC specialized course Use of helicopter, 30 September 2019–04 October 2019
- Specialized course Microsoft Office 2013 Professional, 25 November 2019–27 November 2019
- Specialized course MS Excel, 11 March 2019–13 March 2019, 04 November 2019–06 November 2019
- Specialized course for Medical operations officers MedOps The tenets of the use of Medical Service forces and assets, 10 June 2019–12 June 2019, 18 November 2019–20 November 2019, 26 November 2019–28 November 2019

General Medicine

- Specialized course Transportation of casualties in the field, 24 May 2019–28 May 2019
- Special course Extended first aid in the field (CLS Course), 28 January 2019–08 February 2019, 01 April 2019–12 April 2019, 20 May 2019–31 May 2019, 10 June 2019–21 June 2019, 14 October 2019–25 October 2019
- Special course Repetitory of extended first aid in field conditions (R-CLS Course), 13 May 2019–17 May 2019, 04 November 2019– 08 November 2019
- Specialized course First aid in field conditions (health training) for Military High School Moravska Trebova, 25 March 2019–26 March 2019, 27 March 2019–28 March 2019, 23 April 2019–24 April 2019, 25 April 2019–26 April 2019
- Specialized course First aid in field conditions for military paramedics, 24 July 2019–26 July 2019
- Specialized course Repetitory of field emergency care, 21 January 2019–24 January 2019, 09 September 2019–12 September 2019, 11 November 2019–14 November 2019
- Specialized course Defibrilators and their operation, 21 February 2019–21 February 2019
- Specialized course Repetitory of first aid for non-medical personnel, 09 December 2019–11 December 2019
- Special course Extended first aid in the field (CLS Course) for military paramedicals, 19 August 2019–30 August 2019
- Special course Extended first aid in the field for the Police of the Czech Republic (CLS Course), 11 March 2019–15 March 2019
- Specialised course Basics of non-professional first aid, 10 July 2019–10 July 2019, 15 November 2019–15 November 2019

- Specialized course Field emergency care, 18 March 2019–21 March 2019, 03 June 2019–06 June 2019, 18 November 2019–21 November 2019
- Specialized course Field emergency care for foreign armies (Ukraine, Jordan), 18 February 2019–20 February 2019, 07 October 2019–10 October 2019
- Specialized course First aid in field conditions, 14 January 2019– 18 January 2019, 11 February 2019–15 February 2019, 04 March 2019–08 March 2019, 25 November 2019–29 November 2019

Military Toxicology

 Specialized course – Dealing with extremely dangerous poisons, drugs and psychotropic substances, 14 January 2019–17 January 2019, 27 May 2019–30 May 2019, 01 July 2019–04 July 2019, 07 October 2019–10 October 2019

Molecular Pathology

- Specialized course II advanced Collection and transport of biological samples, 21 January 2019–22 February 2019
- Specialized course I basic Collection and transport of biological samples, 11 March 2019–22 March 2019

Multidisciplinary Studies

• Preparatory course for entrance examination, 10 June 2019–15 June 2019

Military Pharmacy

 Specialized course – Basics of pharmacology and self-treatment, 18 February 2019–21 February 2019

INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION

Cooperation at the military medical facility level

France

• Armed Forces Biomedical Research Institute, Brétigny-sur-Orge

Germany

- Institute of Microbiology of Federal Armed Forces Medical Academy, Munich
- Bundeswehr Institute for Radiobiology, Munich

Norway

• Norwegian Defence Research Establishment – FFI, Kjeller

Poland

• Military Institute of Hygiene and Epidemiology, Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, Warsaw

Slovakia

• Central Military Hospital, Ruzomberok

Sweden

• Swedish Defence Research Agency, Department of Threat Assessment, Division of CBRN Defence, Umea

Scientific cooperation with civilian institutions abroad (on the basis of individual agreements and joint projects)

Austria

Institute of Chemical Technologies and Analytics, Vienna University of Technology, Vienna

Croatia

- Department of Microbiology and Parasitology, University of Rijeka, Rijeka
- Institute for Medical Research and Occupational Health, Zagreb

France

• University of Burgundy – Franche-Comté,

Germany

- Department of Solid States Nuclear Physics, University of Leipzig, Leipzig
- German Cancer Research Center, Heidelberg

Italy

• University of Bologna, Bologna

Portugal

 University of Porto, Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Biological Sciences, Laboratory of Biochemistry

Republic of Korea

• Korea Research Institute of Chemical Technology, Daejeon

Slovakia

- P. J. Safarik University, Kosice
- Agricultural University in Nitra, Nitra

Spain

- University of Alcalá, Enviromental Sciences and Chemistry, School of Biology, Department of Organic Chemistry and Inorganic Chemistry, Alcalá de Henares
- Centre for Research of Environmental Epidemiology (CREAL), Barcelona

Sweden

- Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Goteborg, Goteborg
- University of Umea, Umea

United States

- Emory University, Atlanta
- MMRHVLB/CCID/CDC, Atlanta
- University of California San Diego, Skaggs School of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences, San Diego

 University of Pennsylvania, Perelman School of Medicine, Departments of Medicine and Pathology, Philadelphia

Participation in international projects and networks

Ireland	National University of Ireland in Galway Centre for Research of Environmental Epidemiology (CREAL), Barcelona			
Spain				
Switzerland	European Study Group on Nosocomial Infection,			
United Kingdom	Public Health England – Centre for Radiation, Chemical and Environmental Hazards, Didcot			
United States	U. S. Army Medical Research Institute of Infectious Disease, Fort Detrick			

Other expert commissions

- L. Andrejsová member of the European Radiation Research Society
- P. Boštík national coordinator for CBRN in Cap Tech ESM04 EDA
- P. Boštík member of NATO LTSS HFM 273
- P. Boštík council member of the European Society of Clinical Virology
- P. Boštík member of Regional Cooperation for Health Science and Technology
- P. Boštík member of the Association of UICC Fellows
- P. Boštík member of the American Association of Immunologists (AAI)
- P. Boštík member of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology
- P. Boštík member of the American Society of Microbiology
- P. Boštík member of Editorial board of *"the Open Infectious Diseases Journal"*
- V. Boštíková member of the International Board for the Investigation and Control of Influenza and Other Epidemic Diseases
- V. Boštíková member of the European Society of Clinical Virology
- V. Boštíková member of Editorial board of *"Journal of Clinical Virology"*
- T. Dušek member of the European Society of Coloproctology

- J. Horáček member of the European Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT)
- J. Horáček member of the European Society of Hematology
- R. Chlíbek European Centre for Disease Control (ECDC) member of Potential shortages of Vaccines and treatment for rare communicable diseases in Europe Group
- R. Chlíbek European Centre for Disease Control (ECDC) member of Expert Panel Hepatitis A
- R. Chlíbek member of the Global Pertussis Initiative(GPI)
- R. Chlíbek supervisor of the Central European Vaccination Awareness Group (CEVAG)
- R. Chlíbek member of the Central and Eastern Europe Pertussis Awareness Group
- R. Chlíbek. member of C.O.P.E. Consensus on Pertussis Booster Vaccination in Europe
- M. Jakl member of the European Society of Cardiology
- L. Jebavý member of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT)
- L. Jebavý member of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer (MASCC)
- L. Jebavý member of the European Study Group on Nosocomial Infections (ESGNI)
- D. Jun member of Editorial board of "Scientifica"
- J. Kassa member of NATO CBRN Medical Working Group
- J. Kassa member of the European Society for Neurochemistry
- J. Kassa member of Editorial board of *"Journal of Medical Chemical, Biological and Radiological Defence"*
- J. Kassa member of Editorial board of "Challenge Medical CBRN Defense International"
- L. Klein Secretary General, Committee of the International Association for Humanitarian Medicine Chisholm Gunn (IAHM)
- L. Klein Assistant Secretary General, International Committee of Military Medicine (ICMM)
- L. Klein member of the European Burns Association (EBA)
- L. Klein member of the International Society for Burn Injuries (ISBI)
- L. Klein member of the Mediterranean Council for Burns and Fire Disasters (MBC)
- L. Klein member of the Academic Council on the United Nations System (ACUNS)
- L. Klein Honorary member of the United States Army Medical Department Regiment
- L. Klein member of the Editorial board of "Annals of Burns and Fire Disasters"
- L. Klein member of the Editorial board of the "European Journal of Burn Care"

INTERNATIONAL COOPERATION

- J. Korábečný member of the Society for Neuroscience
- K. Kubelková member of the European Radiation Research Society
- M. Link member of the Human Proteome Organization (HUPO)
- P. Lochman member of the European Society of Surgical Oncology
- P. Lochman member of the European Wound Management Association
- P. Lochman member of the FACS American College of Surgeons
- V. Pavlík member of NATO RTO HFM-154
- J. Pejchal member of the CBRN Joint Assessment Team
- M. Pohanka member of Editorial board of *"Mini Reviews In Medicinal Chemistry"*
- M. Pohanka member of Editorial board of "Sensors"
- M. Pohanka member of Editorial board of "Interdisciplinary Toxicology"
- M. Pohanka member of Editorial board of *"Journal of Mellomics and Nanotechnologies"*
- M. Pohanka member of Editorial board of *"BioMed Research International"*
- O. Soukup member of the Society for Neuroscience
- H. Střítecká member of Editorial board of *"Journal of Obesity & Weight loss Therapy"*
- H. Střítecká member of Editorial board "Journal of Food Security"
- H. Střítecká member of the International Association for the Study of Obesity
- H. Střítecká member of the European Association for the study of obesity (EASO)
- H. Střítecká member of the European Federation of the Associations of Dietitians (EFAD)
- J. Stulík member of Editorial board of "Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology"
- Z. Šinkorová member of NATO CBRN Medical Working Group
- Z. Šinkorová member of the NATO RTO HFM 222
- Z. Šinkorová member of the European Radiation Research Society
- P. Špidlová member of the American Society for Microbiology
- M. Špliňo member of the European Study Group on Nosocomial Infection
- M. Špliňo member of the International Board for the Investigation and Control of Influenza and Other Epidemic Diseases
- M. Špliňo member of the Inetrnational Bigraphical Centre Advisory Council
- M. Špliňo member of the American Biographical Institute
- M. Špliňo member of the International Society for Tropical and Travel Medicine

- M. Špliňo member of the International Society for Infectious Diseases
- A. Tichý member of the NATO HFM Panel RTG-291
- A. Tichý member of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry
- A. Tichý member of the European Society of Radiation Biology
- A. Tichý member of the European Society for Radiotherapy and Oncology (ESTRO)
- T. Vašek member of the Multinational Capabilities Development Campaign (MCDC)

SCIENTIFIC AND RESEARCH ACTIVITIES

Completed associate professorships

Pavlík Vladimír

 Depaertment of Military Internal Medicine and Military Hygiene, Faculty of Military Health Sciences, University of Defence, Hradec Králové

area of specialization:	Hygiene, Preventive Medicine and Public Health Protection				
habilitation thesis:	Non-infectious diseases of mass incidence in the Army of the Czech Republic				
habilitation lecture:	The program of preventive medical care in the Army of the Czech Repubic and primary prevention benefits				

Dissertation defences

Plzáková Lenka

• Department of Molecular Pathology and Biology, Faculty of Military Health Sciences, University of Defence, Hradec Králové

study programs:	Infection Biology
-----------------	-------------------

dissertation: The role of B lymphocytes in the early immune response against the intracellular pathogen *Francisella tularensis*

Salajková Šárka

• Department of Toxicology and Military Pharmacy, Faculty of Military Health Sciences, University of Defence, Hradec Králové

study programs:	Preventive Protection	Medicine	and	Public	Health

dissertation: Quaternary ammonium compounds for potential prevention or treatment of diseases

Váňová Nela

- Department of Toxicology and Military Pharmacy, Faculty of Military Health Sciences, University of Defence, Hradec Králové
- study programs: Toxicology
- dissertation: Determination of oxidative stress markers by HPLC

Zelená Hana

 Department of Epidemiology, Faculty of Military Health Sciences, Univirsity of Defence, Hradec Králové

study programs: Epidemiology

dissertation: Molecular epidemiology of hantavirus infections

Dyrhonová Markéta

 Department of Epidemiology, Faculty of Military Health Sciences, Univirsity of Defence, Hradec Králové

study programs: Epidemiology

dissertation: Epidemiology of chronic HCV infection and quality of life of patients treated with pegylated interferon alpha and ribavirin

Górecki Lukáš

 Department of Toxicology and Military Pharmacy, Faculty of Military Health Sciences, University of Defence, Hradec Králové

study programs: Toxicology

dissertation: Development of novel cholinesterase modulators

Kučera Tomáš

- Department of Toxicology and Military Pharmacy, Faculty of Military Health Sciences, University of Defence, Hradec Králové
- study programs: Toxicology
- dissertation: Interaction of small molecules with proteins in silico

THE REVIEW OF RESEARCH PROJECTS CARRIED OUT AT THE FACULTY OF MILITARY HEALTH SCIENCES IN 2019

THE INTERNAL GRANT AGENCY OF THE CZECH REPUBLIC HEALTH SERVICE

Principal investigators

Pavel Boštík

(NV17-31765A) The potential of xanthohumol and beta-bitter acids in the therapy of nosocomial infections

• Daniel Jun

(NV18-09-00181) Development of polyvalent decontamination mean

Co-investigators

Vanda Boštíková

(NV17-31765A) The potential of xanthohumol and beta-bitter acids in the therapy of nosocomial infections

Jiří Páral

(NV17-31765A) The potential of xanthohumol and beta-bitter acids in the therapy of nosocomial infections

• Daniel Jun

(NV17-32801A) Centrally acting antidotes for the treatment of organophosphorus poisoning

• Jiří Stulík

(NV19-02-00297) Proteome analysis of potential markers of dilation cardiomyopathy

Pavel Řehulka

(NV19-02-00297) Proteome analysis of potential markers of dilation cardiomyopathy

THE CZECH REPUBLIC MINISTRY OF INTERNAL AFFAIRS

Principal investigators

Aleš Tichý

(VH20172020010) New approaches in diagnostics and therapy of irradiated persons

Co-investigators

Zuzana Kročová

(VH20172020012) Preparation of a standard collection of biologically important toxins - EBLN (European Biodefence Laboratory Network)

Alena Myslivcová

(VH20172020012) Preparation of a standard collection of biologically important toxins - EBLN (European Biodefence Laboratory Network)

Jana Klimentová

(VH20172020012) Preparation of a standard collection of biologically important toxins - EBLN (European Biodefence Laboratory Network)

Valeria Sheshko

(VH20172020012) Preparation of a standard collection of biologically important toxins - EBLN (European Biodefence Laboratory Network)

Helena Řehulková

(VH20172020012) Preparation of a standard collection of biologically important toxins - EBLN (European Biodefence Laboratory Network)

Vendula Hepnarová

(VI20192022114) MARYSA – Research in chemical properties and methods of individual protection against the last generation of nerve agents

Petr Jošt

(VI20192022114) MARYSA – Research in chemical properties and methods of individual protection against the last generation of nerve agents

Daniel Jun

(VI20192022114) MARYSA – Research in chemical properties and methods of individual protection against the last generation of nerve agents

Lucie Junová

(VI20192022114) MARYSA – Research in chemical properties and methods of individual protection against the last generation of nerve agents

• Jaroslav Pejchal

(VI20192022114) MARYSA – Research in chemical properties and methods of individual protection against the last generation of nerve agents

• Jana Žďárová Karasová

(VI20192022114) MARYSA – Research in chemical properties and methods of individual protection against the last generation of nerve agents

• Jana Hatlapatková

(VI20192022114) MARYSA – Research in chemical properties and methods of individual protection against the last generation of nerve agents

THE CZECH REPUBLIC GRANT AGENCY

Principal investigators

• Zuzana Šinkorová

(GA17-13541S) Development of novel radioprotectvive agents based on small molecular inhibitors

Jiří Stulík

(GA17-04010S) Study of the secretion of outer membrane vesicles in *Francisella tularensis* and their role in the interaction with the host

Jana Žďárová Karasová

(GA18-08937S) Research of oxime-CB[7] complexes for central nervous system penetration of quaternary acetylcholinesterase reactivators

Co-investigators

Jana Klimentová

(GA17-04010S) Study of the secretion of outer membrane vesicles in *Francisella tularensis* and their role in the interaction with the host

Ivona Pávková

(GA17-04010S) Study of the secretion of outer membrane vesicles in *Francisella tularensis* and their role in the interaction with the host

Klára Kubelková

(GA17-04010S) Study of the secretion of outer membrane vesicles in *Francisella tularensis* and their role in the interaction with the host

Daniel Jun

(GA18-01734S) SCAVENGERS – Butyrylcholinesterase reactivators for preparation of pseudo-catalytic scavengers applicable for organophosphorus intoxications

THE MINISTRY OF EDUCATION, YOUTH AND SPORTS

Principal investigators

Tomáš Válek

(SV/FVZ201701) MICRORGANISMS – Isolation of enzymes from unique microbial species and their practical application

Alžběta Filipová

(SV/FVZ201703) CILIA - Primary cilia as an indicator of cell stress

Marek Matula

(SV/FVZ201702) TENSIDES – Development of decontamination substances aganist chemical warfare agent based on surfactants

Tereza Kobrlová

(SV/FVZ201708) MDCK – The development and validation of new in vitro methodology based on MDCK cell lines for the study of the penetration of potential drugs across the blood brain barrier

Valeria Sheshko

(SV/FVZ201801) PROTEIN - Testing of protein expression systém in the

Francisella tularensis microbe

• Pavel Skořepa

(SV/FVZ201811) PARENTERAL NUTRITION – Influence of parenteral nutrion on selected metabolic markers in critically ill patients

• Ivana Holmquist

(SV/FVZ201812) BREASTFEEDING – Factors influencing initiation and continuation of breastfeeding in the South-East United States

Věra Vozandychová

(SV/FVZ201802) INFECTION – Analysis of changes in host cell ubiquitinylation system during infection of pathogen *Francisella tularensis*

Jan Bavlovič

(SV/FVZ201804) VESICLES – Study of the secretion of outer membrane vesicles in *Francisella tularensis* and their role in the host-pathogen interaction

Věra Radochová

(SV/FVZ201806) PHOSPHINE – Phosphine anad mechanism of phosphine toxicity on the organism of laboratory animal

Jan Konečný

(SV/FVZ201803) AGENTS – Development of new agents with antiinflammatory effect

David Herman

(SV/FVZ201807) EXPOSURE – Determination of toxicological parameters and markers of exposure to potential chemical warfare agents

Aneta Marková

(SV/FVZ201808) BIOFILM – Synthesis and evaluation of novel compounds based on quaternary ammonium salts for eradication of microbial bio films

Barbora Svobodová

(SV/FVZ201901) PROPHYLAXIS - Development of novel prophylactic

countermeasure against nerve agents based on reversible cholinesterase inhibitors

• Marcela Jeličová

(SV/FVZ201904) BIOINDICATORS – Determination of DNA damage bioindicators after irradiation by electrochemical analysis

Petra Polcarová

(SV/FVZ201903) TICK – Evaluation of risk of infection with tick-borne encephalitis, Lyme borreliosis and ehrlichiosis during the training of soldiers of the Czech Army in selected military areas

Michaela Hympánová

(SV/FVZ201905) MBEC – MBEC assay: The method modification for individual bacterial strains and multiple-species biofilms

Miroslav Sirový

(SV/FVZ201902) ADHESIONS – Prevention of postoperative intraabdominal adhesions: an experimental study

Co-investigators

• Pavla Martinková

(SV/FVZ201701) MICRORGANISMS – Isolation of enzymes from unique microbial species and their practical application

Miroslav Pohanka

(SV/FVZ201701) MICRORGANISMS – Isolation of enzymes from unique microbial species and their practical application

Marcela Jeličová

(SV/FVZ201703) CILIA - Primary cilia as an indicator of cell stress

Daniel Jun

(SV/FVZ201702) TENSIDES – Development of decontamination substances aganist chemical warfare agent based on surfactants

Ondřej Soukup

(SV/FVZ201708) MDCK – The development and validation of new in vitro methodology based on MDCK cell lines for the study of the penetration of potential drugs across the blood brain barrier

Jiří Stulík

(SV/FVZ201801) PROTEIN - Testing of protein expression systém in the *Francisella tularensis* microbe

Jan Horáček

(SV/FVZ201811) PARENTERAL NUTRITION – Influence of parenteral nutrion on selected metabolic markers in critically ill patients

Vanda Boštíková

(SV/FVZ201812) BREASTFEEDING – Factors influencing initiation and continuation of breastfeeding in the South-East United States

Pavel Řehulka

(SV/FVZ201802) INFECTION – Analysis of changes in host cell ubiquitinylation system during infection of pathogen *Francisella tularensis*

Jana Klimentová

(SV/FVZ201804) VESICLES – Study of the secretion of outer membrane vesicles in *Francisella tularensis* and their role in the host-pathogen interaction

Miroslav Pohanka

(SV/FVZ201806) PHOSPHINE – Phosphine anad mechanism of phosphine toxicity on the organism of laboratory animal

Jan Korábečný

(SV/FVZ201803) AGENTS – Development of new agents with antiinflammatory effect

Nela Váňová

(SV/FVZ201807) EXPOSURE – Determination of toxicological parameters and markers of exposure to potential chemical warfare agents

Daniel Jun

(SV/FVZ201807) EXPOSURE – Determination of toxicological parameters and markers of exposure to potential chemical warfare agents

Ľubica Múčková

(SV/FVZ201807) EXPOSURE – Determination of toxicological parameters and markers of exposure to potential chemical warfare agents

Lenka Čechová

(SV/FVZ201807) EXPOSURE – Determination of toxicological parameters and markers of exposure to potential chemical warfare agents

Jakub Mišík

(SV/FVZ201807) EXPOSURE – Determination of toxicological parameters and markers of exposure to potential chemical warfare agents

• Jan Marek

(SV/FVZ201808) BIOFILM – Synthesis and evaluation of novel compounds based on quaternary ammonium salts for eradication of microbial bio films

Lukáš Górecki

(SV/FVZ201901) PROPHYLAXIS – Development of novel prophylactic countermeasure against nerve agents based on reversible cholinesterase inhibitors

Jan Korábečný

(SV/FVZ201901) PROPHYLAXIS – Development of novel prophylactic countermeasure against nerve agents based on reversible cholinesterase inhibitors

Zuzana Šinkorová

(SV/FVZ201904) BIOINDICATORS – Determination of DNA damage bioindicators after irradiation by electrochemical analysis

• Jan Smetana

(SV/FVZ201903) TICK - Evaluation of risk of infection with tick-borne

encephalitis, Lyme borreliosis and ehrlichiosis during the training of soldiers of the Czech Army in selected military areas

• Jan Marek

(SV/FVZ201905) MBEC – MBEC assay: The method modification for individual bacterial strains and multiple-species biofilms

Jiří Páral

(SV/FVZ201902) ADHESIONS – Prevention of postoperative intraabdominal adhesions: an experimental study

TECHNOLOGY AGENCY OF THE CZECH REPUBLIC

Principal investigators

Adam Kostelník

(TJ01000478) Construction of sensor for quantitative detection of antibodies against tissue transglutaminase for celiac disease diagnostics

Co-investigators

Miroslav Pohanka

(TH03030336) Colorimetric sensor for diagnosis of pesticides poisoning

Pavla Martinková

(TJ01000478) Construction of sensor for quantitative detection of antibodies against tissue transglutaminase for celiac disease diagnostics

Anna Kostelníková

(TJ01000478) Construction of sensor for quantitative detection of antibodies against tissue transglutaminase for celiac disease diagnostics

Miroslav Pohanka

(TJ01000478) Construction of sensor for quantitative detection of antibodies against tissue transglutaminase for celiac disease diagnostics

RESEARCH AIMS

Daniel Jun

A long-term organization development plan 1011 – Health problems of the weapons of mass destruction

Jiří Páral

A long-term organization development plan 1011 - Clinical fields

ARTICLES IN JOURNALS WITH IMPACT FACTOR

- ANDRŠ, M., POSPÍŠILOVÁ, M., SEIFRTOVÁ, M., HAVELEK, R., TICHÝ, A., VEJRYCHOVÁ, K., POLEDNÍKOVÁ, M., GÓRECKI, L., JUN, D., KORÁBEČNÝ, J., REZÁČOVÁ, M. Purin-6-one and pyrrolo[2,3-d]pyrimidin-4-one derivatives as potentiating agents of doxorubicin cytotoxicity. *Future Medicinal Chemistry*. 2018, **10**(17), 2029–2038. ISSN 1756-8919. IF **3.969**
- BOGDANOVÁ, K., RÖDEROVÁ, M., KOLÁŘ, M., LANGOVÁ, K., DUŠEK, M., JOŠT, P., KUBELKOVÁ, K., BOŠTÍK, P., OLŠOVSKÁ, J. Antibiofilm activity of bioactive hop compounds humulone, lupulone and xanthohumol toward susceptible and resistant staphylococci. *Research in Microbiology.* 2018, **169**(3), 127–134. ISSN 0923-2508. IF **2.372**
- CAISBERGER, F., PEJCHAL, J., MISÍK, J., KASSA, J., VALIŠ, M., KUČA, K. The benefit of combinations of oximes for the ability of antidotal treatment to counteract sarin-induced brain damage in rats. *BMC Pharmacology & Toxicology*. 2018, **19**(1), Article number 35. ISSN 2050-6511. IF **1.865**
- CUNNINGHAM, AL., HEINEMAN, TC., LAL, H., GODEAUX, O., CHLÍBEK, R., HWANG, S., MCELHANEY, JE., VESIKARI, T., ANDREWS, C., CHOI, WS., ESEN, M., IKEMATSU, H., KOVAC CHOMA, M., PAUKSENS, K., RAVAULT, S., SALAUN, B., SCHWARZ, TF., SMETANA, J., VANDEN ABEELE, C., VAN DEN STEEN, P., VASTIAU, I., WECKX, LY., LEVIN, MJ., ZOE-50/70, SG. Immune responses to a recombinant glycoprotein E herpes zoster vaccine in adults age 50 years or older. *Journal of Infectious Diseases*. 2018, **217**(11), 1750–1760. ISSN 0022-1899. IF **5.186**
- DE ALMEIDA, J., DOLEŽAL, R., KREJCAR, O., KUČA, K., MUSÍLEK, K., JUN, D., FRANCA, T. Molecular modeling studies on the interactions of aflatoxin B1 and its metabolites with human acetylcholinesterase. Part II: interactions with the catalytic anionic site (CAS). *Toxins.* 2018, **10**(10), Article Number: 389. ISSN 2072-6651. IF **3.273**
- DOLEŽAL, R., KARÁSKOVÁ, N., MUSIL, K., NOVÁK, M., MALTSEVSKAYA, N., MALIŇÁK, D., KOLÁŘ, K., SOUKUP, O., KUČA, K., ŽĎÁROVÁ KARASOVÁ, J. Characterization of the penetration of the blood-brain barrier by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) using a stationary phase with an immobilized artificial membrane. *Analytical Letters*. 2018, **51**(15), 2401–2414. ISSN 0003-2719. IF **1.206**

- DOSTÁLOVÁ, V., SCHREIBEROVÁ, J., DOSTÁLOVÁ, V. Jr., PÁRAL, J., KRAUS, J., TICHÁ, A., RADOCHOVÁ, V., DOSTÁL, P. Effects of hypertonic saline and sodium lactate on cortical cerebral microcirculation and brain tissue oxygenation. *Journal of Neurosurgical Anesthesiology*. 2018, **30**(2), 163–170. ISSN 0898-4921. IF **3.238**
- ĎURÁČOVÁ, M., KLIMENTOVÁ, J., FUČÍKOVÁ, A., DRESLER, J. Proteomic methods of detection and quantification of protein toxins. *Toxins.* 2018, **10**(3), Article Number: 99. ISSN 2072-6651. IF **3.273**
- ĎURIŠOVÁ, K., ČECHÁKOVÁ, L., JOŠT, P., ŠINKOROVÁ, Z., KMOCHOVÁ, A., PEJCHAL, J., ONDREJ, M., VÁVROVÁ, J., TICHÝ, A. DNA repair inhibitors as radiosensitizers in human lung cells. *Journal of Applied Biomedicine*. 2018, **16**(1), 66–74. ISSN 1214-021X. IF **1.783**
- DUŠEK, T., ÖRHALMI, J., SOTONA, O., KRČMOVÁ KUJOVSKÁ, L., JVORSKÁ, L., DOLEJŠ, J., PÁRAL, J. Neopterin, kynurenine and tryptophan as new biomarkers for early detection of rectal anastomotic leakage. *Videosurgery and Other Miniinvasive Techniques*. 2018, **13**(1), 44–52. ISSN 1895-4588. IF **0.852**
- DVOŘÁK, J., MELICHAR, B., FILIPOVÁ, A., GRIMOVÁ, J., GRIMOVÁ, N., ROZSYPALOVÁ, A., BUKA, D., VOBOŘIL, R., ZAPLETAL, R., BUCHLER, T., RICHTER, I. Simulations of centriole of polarized centrosome as a mon-opole antenna in immune and viral synapses. *Journal of BUON*. 2018, 23(2), 514–521. ISSN 1107-0625. IF 1.766
- FABRIK, I., LINK, M., PUTZOVÁ, D., PLZÁKOVÁ, L., LUBOVSKÁ, Z., PHILIMONENKO, V., PÁVKOVÁ, I., ŘEHULKA, P., KROČOVÁ, Z., HOZÁK, P., SANTIC, M., STULÍK, J. The early dendritic cell signaling induced by virulent Francisella tularensis strain occurs in phases and involves the activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERKs) and p38 In the later stage. *Molecular and Cellular Proteomics*. 2018, **17**(1), 95–108. ISSN 1535-9476. IF **5.232**
- FRYZOVÁ, R., POHANKA, M., MARTINKOVÁ, P., CIHLÁŘOVÁ, H., BRTNICKÝ, M., HLADKÝ, J., KYNICKÝ, J. Oxidative stress and heavy metals in plants. *Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*. 2018, 245(October), 129–156. ISSN 0179-5953. IF 7.000
- HAMUĽAKOVÁ, S., JANOVEC, L., SOUKUP, O., JUN, D., JANOČKOVÁ, J., HRABINOVÁ, M., ŠEPSOVÁ, V., KUČA, K. Tacrine-coumarin and tacrine-7-chloroquinoline hybrids with thiourea linkers: cholinesterase inhibition properties, kinetic study, molecular docking and permeability assay for blood-brain barrier. *Current*

Alzheimer Research. 2018, 15(12), 1096–1105. ISSN 1567-2050. IF 3.289

- HEPNAROVÁ, V., KORÁBEČNÝ, J., MATOUŠKOVÁ, L., JOŠT, P., MÚČKOVÁ, Ľ., HRABINOVÁ, M., VYKOUKALOVÁ, N., KERHARTOVÁ, M., KUČERA, T., DOLEŽAL, R., NEPOVIMOVÁ, E., ŠPILOVSKÁ, K., MEZEIOVÁ, E., PHAM, N., JUN, D., ŚTAUD, F., KAPING, D., KUČA, K., SOUKUP, O. The concept of hybrid molecules of tacrine and benzyl quinolone carboxylic acid (BQCA) as multifunctional agents for Alzheimer's disease. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*. 2018, **150**(April), 292–306. ISSN 0223-5234. IF **4.816**
- HLÁVKA, A., VAŇÁSEK, J., ODRÁŽKA, K., ŠTUK, J., DOLEŽEL, M., ULRYCH, V., VÍTKOVÁ, M., MYNARIK, J., KOLÁŘOVÁ, I., VILASOVÁ, Z. Tumor bed radiotherapy in women following breast conserving surgery for breast cancer-safety margin with/without image guidance. Oncology Letters. 2018, **15**(4), 6009–6014. ISSN 1792-1074. IF **1.664**
- HOLMQUIST, I., BOŠTÍKOVÁ, V., STŘÍTECKÁ, H., ZMRZLÁ, H., POHNÁN, R., MYDLILOVÁ, A. Expansion of lactation support services to neonatal intensive care unit. *Central European Journal of Public Health.* 2018, **26**(3), 242–244. ISSN 1210-7778. IF **0.800**
- HRABINOVÁ, M., MISÍK, J., JUN, D., KUČA, K. Reactivation potential of novel more lipophilic pralidoxime analogs. *Letters in Drug Design & Discovery*. 2018, **15**(8), 822–827. ISSN 1570-1808. IF **0.924**
- HRABOVSKÝ, Š., FOLBER, F., HORÁČEK, J., STEHLÍKOVÁ, O., JELÍNKOVÁ, H., ŠÁLEK, C., DOUBEK, M. Comparison of real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction and eight-color flow cytometry in assessment of minimal residual disease in adult acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Clinical Lymphoma, Myeloma and Leukemia*. 2018, **18**(11), 743–748. ISSN 2152-2650. IF **2.308**
- HROMÁDKOVÁ, L., KUPČÍK, R., VAJRYCHOVÁ, M., PŘIKRYL, P., CHARVÁTOVÁ, A., JANKOVIČOVÁ, B., RIPOVÁ, D., BÍLKOVÁ, Z., SLOVÁKOVÁ, M. Kinase-loaded magnetic beads for sequential in vitro phosphorylation of peptides and proteins. *Analyst.* 2018, **143**(2), 466–474. ISSN 0003-2654. IF **3.864**
- CHIOUA, M., SERRANO, E., DGACHI, Y., MARTIN, H., JUN, D., JANOČKOVÁ, J., ŠEPSOVÁ, V., SOUKUP, O., MORALEDA, I., CHABCHOUB, F., ISMAILI, L., IRIEPA, I., MARCO-CONTELLES, J. Synthesis, biological assessment and molecular modeling of racemic QuinoPyranoTacrines for Alzheimer's disease therapy. *ChemistrySelect.* 2018, **3**(2), 461–466. ISSN 2365-6549. IF **1.505**

- JANOČKOVÁ, J., DOLEŽAL, R., NEPOVIMOVÁ, E., KOBRLOVÁ, T., BENKOVÁ, M., KUČA, K., KONEČNÝ, J., MEZEIOVÁ, E., MELÍKOVÁ, M., HEPNAROVÁ, V., RING, A., SOUKUP, O., KORÁBEČNÝ, J. Investigation of new orexin 2 receptor modulators using in silico and in vitro methods. *Molecules.* 2018, 23(11), Article number 2926. ISSN 1420-3049. IF 3.098
- KALA, P., CERVINKA, P., JAKL, M., KANOVSKY, J., KUPEC, A., SPACEK, R., KVASNAK, M., CERVINKOVA, M., POLOCZEK, M., BEZERRA, H., VALENTA, Z., ATTIZZANI, GF., SCHNELL, A., HONG, L., COSTA, MA. OCT guidance during stent implantation in primary PCI: A randomized multicenter study with nine months of optical coherence tomography follow-up. *International Journal of Cardiology*. 2018, **250**(January)98–103. ISSN 0167-5273. IF **4.034**
- KASSA, J., KORÁBEČNÝ, J., NEPOVIMOVÁ, E., JUN, D. The influence of modulators of acetylcholinesterase on the resistance of mice against soman and on the effectiveness of antidotal treatment of soman poisoning in mice. *Journal of Applied Biomedicine*. 2018, 16(1), 10–14. ISSN 1214-021X. IF 1.783
- KASSA, J., TIMPERLEY, C., BIRD, M., WILLIAMS, R., GREEN, A., TATTERSALL, J. Some benefit from non-oximes MB408, MB442 and MB444 in combination with the oximes HI-6 or obidoxime and atropine in antidoting sarin or cyclosarin poisoned mice. *Toxicology*. 2018, **408**(September), 95–100. ISSN 0300-483X. IF **3.265**
- KASSA, J., TIMPERLEY, C., BIRD, M., WILLIAMS, R., GREEN, A., TATTERSALL, J. Evaluation of the influence of three newly developed bispyridinium anti-nicotinic compounds (MB408, MB442, MB444) on the efficacy of antidotal treatment of nerve agent poisoning in mice. *Basic and Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology*. 2018, **122**(4), 429–435. ISSN 1742-7835. IF **2.659**
- KAŠKA, M., BLAŽEJ, S., TUREK, Z., RYSKA, A., JEGOROV, B., RADOCHOVÁ, V., BEZOUŠKA, J., PÁRAL, J. The effect of three different surgical techniques for colon anastomosis on regional postoperative microperfusion: Laser Doppler Flowmetry study in pigs. *Clinical Hemorheology and Microcirculation*. 2018, **68**(1), 61–70. ISSN 1386-0291. IF **1.914**
- KOPP, R., PALÍKOVÁ, M., PAPEŽÍKOVÁ, I., MAREŠ, J., NAVRÁTIL, S., PIKULA, J., POHANKA, M. Oxidative stress response of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) to multiple stressors. *Acta Veterinaria Brno.* 2018, 87(1), 55–64. ISSN 0001-7213. IF 0.422
- KORÁBEČNÝ, J., NEPOVIMOVÁ, E., CIKÁNKOVÁ, T., ŠPILOVSKÁ, K., VAŠKOVÁ, L., MEZEIOVÁ, E., KUČA, K., HROUDOVÁ, J. Newly developed drugs for Alzheimer's disease in relation to energy

metabolism, cholinergic and monoaminergic neurotransmission. *Neuroscience*. 2018, **370**(February), 191–206. ISSN 0306-4522. IF **3.382**

- KOSTELNÍK, A., POHANKA, M. Inhibition of acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase by a plant secondary metabolite boldine. *Biomed Research International.* 2018, **2018**(April), Article Number: 9634349. ISSN 2314-6133. IF **2.583**
- 31. KOSTELNÍK. Α.. POHANKA. M. Superficially bound acetylcholinesterase based chitosan matrix for on а neurotoxiccCompound assay by a photographic technique. Analytical Letters. 2018, 51(10), 1622-1632. ISSN 0003-2719. IF 1.206
- KOVÁŘ, D., HOLÝ, R., VOLDŘICH, Z., VOSKA, P., LEŠTÁK, J., ASTL, J. The application of volumometry as an indication criterion in blow-out fractures. *Biomedical Papers*. 2018, **162**(1), 61–64. ISSN 1213-8118. IF **1.087**
- KROČOVÁ, Z., PLZÁKOVÁ, L., MACELA, A(P., BENUCHOVA, M., KUBELKOVÁ, K. Early cellular responses of germ-free and specificpathogen-free mice to Francisella tularensis infection. *Microbial Pathogenesis*. 2018, **123**(October), 314–322. ISSN 0882-4010. IF **2.332**
- KUČA, K., JUN, D., JUNOVÁ, L., MUSÍLEK, K., HRABINOVÁ, M., VALLE DA SILVA, J., RAMALHO, T., VALKO, M., WU, Q., NEPOVIMOVÁ, E., COSTA FRANCA, T. Synthesis, biological evaluation, and docking studies of novel bisquaternary aldoxime reactivators on acetylcholinesterase and butyrylcholinesterase inhibited by paraoxon. *Molecules*. 2018, 23(5), Article Number: 1103. ISSN 1420-3049. IF 3.098
- KUČA, K., MUSÍLEK, K., JUN, D., PEJCHAL, J., KREJCAR, O., PENHAKER, M., WU, Q., LOPES, R., RAMALHO, T., FRANCA, T., NEPOVIMOVÁ, E., SOUKUP, O. Oxime K033-reactivation activity of cholinesterases inhibited by various nerve agents and organophosphorus pesticides. *Letters in Drug Design & Discovery*. 2018, **15**(11), 1124–1130. ISSN 1570-1808. IF **0.924**
- KUČA, K., MUSÍLEK, K., JUN, D., ŽĎÁROVÁ KARASOVÁ, J., NEPOVIMOVÁ, E., SOUKUP, O., HRABINOVÁ, M., MIKLER, J., FRANCA, T., DA CUNHA, E., DE CASTRO, A., VALIŠ, M., RAMALHO, T. A newly developed oxime K203 is the most effective reactivator of tabun-inhibited acetylcholinesterase. *BMC Pharmacology & Toxicology*. 2018, **19**(February), Article Number: 8. ISSN 2050-6511. IF **1.865**

- KUČA, K., ŽĎÁROVÁ KARASOVÁ, J., SOUKUP, O., KASSA, J., NOVOTNÁ, E., ŠEPSOVÁ, V., HOROVÁ, A., PEJCHAL, J., HRABINOVÁ, M., VODÁKOVÁ, E., JUN, D., NEPOVIMOVÁ, E., VALIŠ, M., MUSÍLEK, K. Development of small bisquaternary cholinesterase inhibitors as drugs for pre-treatment of nerve agent poisonings. *Drug Design Development and Therapy*. 2018, 12(March), 505–512. ISSN 1177-8881. IF 2.935
- LENČO, J., VAJRYCHOVÁ, M., PIMKOVÁ, K., PROKŠOVÁ, M., BENKOVÁ, M., KLIMENTOVÁ, J., TAMBOR, V., SOUKUP, O. Conventional-flow liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry for exploratory bottom-up proteomic analyses. *Analytical Chemistry*. 2018, **90**(8), 5381–5389. ISSN 0003-2700. IF **6.042**
- LIEROVÁ, A., JELIČOVÁ, M., NĚMCOVÁ, M., PROKŠOVÁ, M., PEJCHAL, J., ZÁRYBNICKÁ, L., ŠINKOROVÁ, Z. Cytokines and radiation-induced pulmonary injuries. *Journal of Radiation Research*. 2018, **59**(6), 709–753. ISSN 0449-3060. IF **2.031**
- LIPOVÝ, B., HOLOUBEK, J., HANSLIANOVÁ, M., CVANOVÁ, M., KLEIN, L., GROSSOVÁ, I., ZAJÍČEK, R., BUKOVČAN, P., KOLLER, J., BARAN, M., LENGYEL, P., EIMER, L., JANDOVÁ, M., KOŠŤÁL, M., BRYCHTA, P. Toxic epidermal necrolysis data from the CELESTE multinational registry. Part I: Epidemiology and general microbiological characteristics. *Burns.* 2018, 44(6), 1551–1560. ISSN 0305-4179. IF 2.134
- LIPOVÝ, B., HOLOUBEK, J., HANSLIANOVÁ, M., CVANOVÁ, M., KLEIN, L., GROSSOVÁ, I., ZAJÍČEK, R., BUKOVČAN, P., KOLLER, J., BARAN, M., LENGYEL, P., EIMER, L., JANDOVÁ, M., KOŠŤÁL, M., BRYCHTA, P. Toxic epidermal necrolysis data from the CELESTE multinational registry. Part II: Specific systemic and local risk factors for the development of infectious complications. *Burns.* 2018, 44(6), 1561–1572. ISSN 0305-4179. IF 2.134
- LUSTIG, Y., COTAR, A., CEIANU, C., CASTILLETTI, C., ZELENÁ, H., BURDINO, E., VAN TIENEN, C., AVSIC, T., AARONS, E., REUSKEN, C. Lack of Zika virus antibody response in confirmed patients in non-endemic countries. *Journal of Clinical Virology*. 2018, 99-100(February–March), 31–34. ISSN 1386-6532. IF 3.101
- MALIŇÁK, D., KORÁBEČNÝ, J., SOUKUP, O., GÓRECKI, L., NEPOVIMOVÁ, E., PSOTKA, M., DOLEŽAL, R., NGUYEN, T., MEZEIOVÁ, E., MUSÍLEK, K., KUČA, K. A review of the synthesis of quaternary acetylcholinesterase reactivators. *Current Organic Chemistry*. 2018, 22(16), 1619–1648. ISSN 1385-2728. IF 2.193
- 44. MALIŇÁK, D., NEPOVIMOVÁ, E., JUN, D., MUSÍLEK, K., KUČA, K. Novel group of AChE reactivators-synthesis, in vitro reactivation and

molecular docking study. *Molecules*. 2018, **23**(9), Article Number: 2291. ISSN 1420-3049. IF **3.098**

- MAREK, J., JOSKOVÁ, V., DOLEŽAL, R., SOUKUP, O., BENKOVÁ, M., FUČÍKOVÁ, A., MALIŇÁK, D., BOŠTÍKOVÁ, V., KUČA, K. Synthesis, antimicrobial effect and surface properties of hydroxymethyl-substituted pyridinium salts. *Letters in Drug Design & Discovery*. 2018, **15**(8), 828–842. ISSN 1570-1808. IF **0.924**
- MAREK, J., MALIŇÁK, D., DOLEŽAL, R., SOUKUP, O., BENKOVÁ, M., NACHTIGAL, P., VÁVRA, P., KUČA, K. Novel series of quaternary ammonium surfactants based on 2,3-dihydro-[1,4]dioxino[2.3-b]pyridin-7-ol ring: synthesis, analysis and antimicrobial evaluation. *Letters in Organic Chemistry*. 2018, **15**(1), 3– 9. ISSN 1570-1786. IF **0.539**
- MARTINKOVÁ, P., BRTNICKÝ, M., KYNICKÝ, J., POHANKA, M. Fast and simple glucose assay based on filter paper as enzymes carrier using phone camera detection. *Chemical Papers.* 2018, **72**(11), 2719–2728. ISSN 0366-6352. IF **0.963**
- MARTINKOVÁ, P., BRTNICKÝ, M., KYNICKÝ, J., POHANKA, M. Iron oxide nanoparticles: innovative tool in cancer diagnosis and therapy. *Advanced Healthcare Materials*. 2018, **7**(5), Article Number: 1700932. ISSN 2192-2640. IF **5.609**
- MEZEIOVÁ, E., ŠPILOVSKÁ, K., NEPOVIMOVÁ, E., GÓRECKI, L., SOUKUP, O., DOLEŽAL, R., MALIŇÁK, D., JANOČKOVÁ, J., JUN, D., KUČA, K., KORÁBEČNÝ, J. Profiling donepezil template into multipotent hybrids with antioxidant properties. *Journal of Enzyme Inhibition and Medicinal Chemistry*. 2018, **33**(1), 583–606. ISSN 1475-6366. IF **3.638**
- MISÍK, J., NEPOVIMOVÁ, E., PEJCHAL, J., KASSA, J., KORÁBEČNÝ, J., SOUKUP, O. Cholinesterase inhibitor 6chlorotacrine – in vivo toxicological profile and behavioural effects. *Current Alzheimer Research*. 2018, **15**(6), 552–560. ISSN 1567-2050. IF **3.289**
- NOVOTNÝ, P., DĚDEK, T., FRANK, M., ŠMEJKAL, K., BÚTORA, S., KOČÍ, J., TRLICA, J. Extracapsular proximal femoral fractures – retrospective evaluation of a group of patients with a focus on complications of treatment. *Acta chirurgiae orthopaedicae et traumatologiae čechoslovaca*. 2018, **85**(4), 249–253. ISSN 0001-5415. IF **0.645**
- 52. O'BRIEN, G., CRUZ-GARCIA, L., MAJEWSKI, M., GREPL, J., ABEND, M., PORT, M., TICHÝ, A., SIRÁK, I., MÁLKOVÁ, A., DONOVAN, E., GOTHARD, L., BOYLE, S., SOMAIAH, N.,

AINSBURY, E., PONGE, L., SLOSAREK, K., MISZCZYK, L., WIDLAK, P., GREEN, E., PATEL, N., KUDARI, M., GLEESON, F., VINNIKOV, V., STARENKIY, V., ARTIUKH, S., VASYLIEV, L., ZAMAN, A., BADIE, C. FDXR is a biomarker of radiation exposure in vivo. *Scientific Reports.* 2018, **8**(January), Article Number: 684. ISSN 2045-2322. IF **4.122**

- PANEK, D., WIECKOWSKA, A., JONCZYK, J., GODYN, J., BAJDA, M., WICHUR, T., PASIEKA, A., KNEZ, D., PISLAR, A., KORÁBEČNÝ, J., SOUKUP, O., ŠEPSOVÁ, V., SABATE, R., KOS, J., GOBEC, S., MALAWSKA, B. Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of 1-benzylamino-2-hydroxyalkyl derivatives as new potential disease-modifying multifunctional anti-Alzheimer's agents. ACS Chemical Neuroscience. 2018, 9(5), 1074–1094. ISSN 1948-7193. IF 4.211
- 54. PAPA, A., ZELENÁ, H., PAPADOPOULOU, E., MRÁZEK, J. Uukuniemi virus, Czech Republic. *Ticks and Tick-Borne Diseases*. 2018, **9**(5), 1129–1132. ISSN 1877-959X. IF **2.612**
- PAVLÍK, V., FAJFROVÁ, J., ŠAFKA, V., PRAVDOVÁ, L., URBAN, M., KRUTIŠOVÁ, P., TUČEK, M. Prevalence of risk factors in cardiovascular diseases in selected population of the Czech Republic. *Central European Journal of Public Health.* 2018, **26**(2), 118–123. ISSN 1210-7778. IF **0.800**
- PAVLÍKOVÁ, R., MISÍK, J., CABAL, J., MAREK, J., KUČA, K. In vitro skin decontamination of paraoxon – wet-type cleansing effect of selected detergents. *Cutaneous and Ocular Toxicology*. 2018, **37**(1), 77–83. ISSN 1556-9527. IF **0.888**
- 57. POHANKA, M. Magnetic particles in electrochemical analyses. International Journal of Electrochemical Science. 2018, **13**(1), 12000– 12009. ISSN 1452-3981. IF **1.369**
- 58. POHANKA, M. Overview of piezoelectric biosensors, immunosensors and DNA sensors and their applications. *Materials*. 2018, **11**(3), Article Number: 448. ISSN 1996-1944. IF **2.467**
- POHANKA, M. Oxidative stress in Alzheimer disease as a target for therapy. *Bratislava Medical Journal-Bratislavske Lekarske Listy*. 2018, 119(9), 535–543. ISSN 0006-9248. IF 0.678
- POHANKA, M. Piezoelectric biosensor for the determination of Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha. *Talanta*. 2018, **178**(February), 970–973. ISSN 0039-9140. IF **4.244**
- POHANKA, M. Piezoelectric immunosensor for the determination of immunoglobulin G. International Journal of Electrochemical Science. 2018, 13(9), 8784–8791. ISSN 1452-3981. IF 1.369
- POHANKA, M. The determination of human albumin by a quartz crystal microbalance immunosensor. *International Journal of Electrochemical Science*. 2018, **13**(9), 8471–8480. ISSN 1452-3981. IF **1.369**
- POHANKA, M., VLČEK, V. Assay of glomalin using a quartz crystal microbalance biosensor. *Electroanalysis*. 2018, **30**(3), 453–458. ISSN 1040-0397. IF **2.851**
- POHANKA, M., ŽÁKOVÁ, J., SEDLÁČEK, I. Digital camera-based lipase biosensor for the determination of paraoxon. Sensors and Actuators B-Chemical. 2018, 273(Nov), 610–615. ISSN 0925-4005. IF 5.667
- PORT, M., MAJEWSKI, M., HERODIN, F., VALENTE, M., DROUET, M., FORCHERON, F., TICHÝ, A., SIRÁK, I., ZAVŘELOVÁ, A., MÁLKOVÁ, A., BECKER, B., VEIT, D., WALDECK, S., BADIE, C., O'BRIEN, G., CHRISTIANSEN, H., WICHMANN, J., EDER, M., BEUTEL, G., VACHELOVÁ, J., DOUCHA-SENF, S., ABEND, M. Validating baboon ex vivo and in vivo radiation-related gene expression with corresponding human data. *Radiation Research*. 2018, **189**(4), 389–398. ISSN 0033-7587. IF **2.530**
- 66. PRÁŠIL, P., BOŠTÍKOVÁ, V., HERMANNOVÁ, Z., PLÍŠEK, S., BOŠTÍK, P. Invasive primary intracerebral infections in women caused by Streptococcus intermedius manifesting as purulent meningitis and intracerebral abscess. Česká a slovenská neurologie a neurochirurgie. 2018, 81(2), 220–222. ISSN 1210-7859. IF 0.508
- PRYMULA, R., SHAW, J., CHLÍBEK, R., URBANČÍKOVÁ, I., PRYMULOVÁ, K. Vaccination in newly arrived immigrants to the European Union. *Vaccine.* 2018, **36**(36), 5385–5390. ISSN 0264-410X. IF **3.285**
- RICHTEROVÁ, M., ŠTĚTINA, R., JOŠT, P., SVOBODOVÁ, H., ŘEHÁČEK, V., KASSA, J. Inter strand crosslinks in DNA induced in vivo by percutaneous application of sulphur mustard to rats and mice. *Mutation Research-Genetic Toxicology and Environmental Mutagenesis.* 2018, 832(Aug), 35–40. ISSN 1383-5718. IF 1.996
- ŘEHULKA, P., ZAHRADNÍKOVÁ, M., ŘEHULKOVÁ, H., DVOŘÁKOVÁ, P., NENUTIL, R., VALÍK, D., VOJTĚŠEK, B., HERNYCHOVÁ, L., NOVOTNÝ, MV. Microgradient separation technique for purification and fractionation of permethylated N-glycans before mass spectrometric analyses. *Journal of Separation Science*. 2018, **41**(9), 1973–1982. ISSN 1615-9306. IF **2.415**
- 70. SCHMIDT, M., HRABCOVÁ, V., JUN, D., KUČA, K., MUSÍLEK, K. Vector control and insecticidal resistance in the African malaria

mosquito Anopheles gambiae. Chemical Research in Toxicology. 2018, **31**(7), 534–547. ISSN 0893-228X. IF **3.432**

- SCHWARZ, TF., VOLPE, S., CATTEAU, G., CHLÍBEK, R., DAVID, MP., RICHARDUS, JH., LAL, H., OOSTVOGELS, L., PAUKSENS, K., RAVAULT, S., ROMBO, L., SONDER, G., SMETANA, J., HEINEMAN, T., BASTIDAS, A. Persistence of immune response to an adjuvanted varicella-zoster virus subunit vaccine for up to year nine in older adulst. *Human Vaccines and Immunotherapeutics*. 2018, 14(6), 1370–1377. ISSN 2164-5515. IF 2.229
- SMETANA, J., CHLÍBEK, R., HANOVCOVÁ, I., ŠOŠOVIČKOVÁ, R., SMETANOVÁ, L., POLCAROVÁ, P., GÁL, P., DÍTĚ, P. Serological survey of mumps antibodies in adults in the Czech Republic and the need for changes to the vaccination strategy. *Human Vaccines and Immunotherapeutics.* 2018, 14(4), 887–893. ISSN 2164-5515. IF 2.229
- SMETANA, J., CHLÍBEK, R., SHAW, J., ŠPLIŇO, M., PRYMULA, R. Influenza vaccination in the elderly. *Human Vaccines and Immunotherapeutics*. 2018, 14(3), 540–549. ISSN 2164-5515. IF 2.229
- 74. SOUKUP, O., KORÁBEČNÝ, J., MALIŇÁK, D., NEPOVIMOVÁ, E., PHAM, N., MUSÍLEK, K., HRABINOVÁ, M., HEPNAROVÁ, V., DOLEŽAL, R., PÁVEK, P., JOŠT, P., KOBRLOVÁ, T., JANKOČKOVA, J., GÓRECKI, L., PSOTKA, M., NGUYEN, T., BOX, K., OUTHWAITE, B., ČEČKOVÁ, M., ŠORF, A., JUN, D., KUČA, K. In vitro and in silico evaluation of non-quaternary reactivators of AChE as antidotes of organophosphorus poisoning – a new hope or a blind alley? *Medicinal Chemistry.* 2018, **14**(3), 281-292. ISSN 1573-4064. IF **2.631**
- STOJKOVÁ, P., ŠPIDLOVÁ, P., LENČO, J., ŘEHULKOVÁ, H., KRÁTKÁ, L., STULÍK, J. HU protein is involved in intracellular growth and full virulence of Francisella tularensis. *Virulence*. 2018, 9(1), 754– 770. ISSN 2150-5594. IF 3.947
- 76. STRATILOVÁ, B., KLAUDINY, J., ŘEHULKA, P., STRATILOVÁ, E., MÉSZÁROSOVÁ, C., GARAJOVÁ, S., PAVLATOVSKÁ, B., ŘEHULKOVÁ, H., KOZMON, S., ŠESTÁK, S., FIRÁKOVÁ, Z., VADKERTIOVÁ, R. Characterization of a long-chain alphagalactosidase from Papiliotrema flavescens. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology. 2018, 34(2), Article Number: 19. ISSN 0959-3993. IF 2.100
- 77. ŠAFRATOVÁ, M., HOŠT'ALKOVÁ, A., HULCOVÁ, D., BREITEROVÁ, K., HRABCOVÁ, V., MACHADO, M., FONTINHA, D., PRUDENCIO, M., KUNEŠ, J., CHLEBEK, J., JUN, D., HRABINOVÁ, M.,

NOVÁKOVÁ, L., HAVELEK, R., SEIFRTOVÁ, M., OPLETAL, L., CAHLIKOVÁ, L. Alkaloids from Narcissus poeticus cv. Pink Parasol of various structural types and their biological activity. *Archives of Pharmacal Research.* 2018, **41**(2), 208–218. ISSN 0253-6269. IF **2.330**

- ŠALOVSKÁ, B., JANEČKOVÁ, H., FABRIK, I., KARLÍKOVÁ, R., ČECHÁKOVÁ, L., ONDREJ, M., LINK, M., FRIEDECKY, D., TICHÝ, A. Radio-sensitizing effects of VE-821 and beyond: Distinct phosphoproteomic and metabolomic changes after ATR inhibition in irradiated MOLT-4 cells. *PLoS One.* 2018, **13**(7), Article Number: e0199349. ISSN 1932-6203. IF **2.766**
- ŠKOLOUDÍK, L., CHROBOK, V., KOČÍ, Z., POPELÁŘ, J., SYKA, J., LACO, J., FILIPOVÁ, A., SYKOVÁ, E., FILIP, S. The transplantation of hBM-MSCs increases bone neo-formation and preserves hearing function in the treatment of temporal bone defects – on the experience of two month follow up. *Stem Cell Reviews and Reports*. 2018, **14**(6), 860–870. ISSN 1550-8943. IF **3.612**
- ŠKULEC, R., ASTAPENKO, D., ČERNÁ PAŘÍZKOVÁ, R., FURST, B., BÍLSKÁ, M., PAŘÍZEK, T., HOVANEC, T., PINTÉROVÁ, N., KNOR, J., DUDÁKOVÁ, J., TRUHLÁŘ, A., RADOCHOVÁ, V., ZADÁK, Z., ČERNÝ, V. Novel patterns of left ventricular mechanical activity during experimental cardiac arrest in pigs. *Physiological Research*. 2018, **67**(3), 391–399. ISSN 0862-8408. IF **1.324**
- 81. ŠPIDLOVÁ, P., STOJKOVÁ, P., DAŇKOVÁ, V., ŠENITKOVÁ, I., SANTIC, M., PINKAS, D., PHILIMONENKO, V., STULÍK, J. Francisella tularensis D-Ala D-Ala carboxypeptidase DacD is involved in intracellular replication and it is necessary for bacterial cell wall integrity. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*. 2018, 8(Apr), Article Number: 111. ISSN 2235-2988. IF 3.520
- ŠPONER, P., KUČERA, T., BRTKOVÁ, J., URBAN, K., KOČÍChyba! Záložka není definována., Z., MEŘIČKA, P., BEZROUK, A., KONRÁDOVÁ, S., FILIPOVÁ, A., FILIP, S. Comparative study on the application of mesenchymal stromal cells combined with tricalcium phosphate scaffold into femoral bone defects. *Cell Transplantation*. 2018, 27(10), 1459–1468. ISSN 0963-6897. IF 2.885
- TICHÝ, A., KABACIK, S., O'BRIEN, G., PEJCHAL, J., ŠINKOROVÁ, Z., KMOCHOVÁ, A., SIRAK, I., MÁLKOVÁ, A., BELTRAN, C., GONZALEZ, J., GREPL, J., MAJEWSKI, M., AINSBURY, E., ZÁRYBNICKÁ, L., VACHELOVÁ, J., ZAVŘELOVÁ, A., DAVÍDKOVÁ, M., ŠŤASTNÁ MARKOVÁ, M., ABEND, M., PERNOT, E., CARDIS, E., BADIE, C. The first in vivo multiparametric comparison of different radiation exposure biomarkers in human blood. *PLoS One.* 2018, 13(2), Article Number: e0193412. ISSN 1932-6203. IF 2.766

- TICHÝ, A., MAREK, J., HAVELEK, R., PEJCHAL, J., SEIFERTOVÁ, M., ZÁRYBNICKÁ, L., FILIPOVÁ, A., ŘEZÁČOVÁ, M., ŠINKOROVÁ, Z. New light on an old friend: targeting PUMA in radioprotection and therapy of cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases. *Current Drug Targets*. 2018, **19**(16), 1943–1957. ISSN 1389-4501. IF **3.112**
- VÁŇOVÁ, N., MÚČKOVÁ, Ľ., SCHMIDT, M., HERMAN, D., DLABKOVÁ, A., PEJCHAL, J., JUN, D. Simultaneous determination of malondialdehyde and 3-nitrotyrosine in cultured human hepatoma cells by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Biomedical Chromatography*. 2018, **32**(12), Article Number: e4349. ISSN 0269-3879. IF **1.688**
- VÁŇOVÁ, N., PEJCHAL, J., HERMAN, D., DLABKOVÁ, A., JUN, D. Oxidative stress in organophosphate poisoning: role of standard antidotal therapy. *Journal of Applied Toxicology*. 2018, **38**(8), 1058– 1070. ISSN 0260-437X. IF **2.909**
- VOŠMIK, M., LACO, J., SIRÁK, I., DVOŘÁK, J., LOCHMAN, P., HODEK, M., MALÁ, P., REJCHRT, S., REPÁK, R., LEŠKO, M., FERKO, A., RYSKA, A., MELICHAR, B., PETERA, J. Histopathologic features are more important prognostic factors than primary tumour location in gastro-oesophageal adenocarcinoma treated with preoperative chemoradiation and surgery. *Pathology & Oncology Research.* 2018, **24**(2), 373–383. ISSN 1219-4956. IF **1.935**
- WIECKOWSKA, A., WICHUR, T., GODYN, J., BUCKI, A., MARCINKOWSKA, M., SIWEK, A., WIECKOWSKI, K., ZAREBA, P., KNEZ, D., GLUCH-LUTWIN, M., KAZEK, G., LATACZ, G., MIKA, K., KOLACZKOWSKI, M., KORÁBEČNÝ, J., SOUKUP, O., BENKOVÁ, M., KIEC-KONONOWICZ, K., GOBEC, S., MALAWSKA, B. Novel multitarget-directed ligands aiming at symptoms and causes of Alzheimer's disease. ACS Chemical Neuroscience. 2018, 9(5), 1195– 1214. ISSN 1948-7193. IF 4.211
- 89. ŽĎÁROVÁ KARASOVÁ, J., MZIK, M., HROCH, M., KORÁBEČNÝ, J., NEPOVIMOVÁ, E., VOŘÍŠEK, V., PALIČKA, V., KUČA, K. The new acetylcholinesterase inhibitors PC-37 and PC-48 (7-methoxytacrinedonepezil-like compounds): characterization of their metabolites in human liver microsomes, pharmacokinetics and in vivo formation of the major metabolites in rats. *Basic and Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology*. 2018, **122**(4), 373–382. ISSN 1742-7835. IF **2.659**
- 90. ŽĎÁROVÁ KARASOVÁ, J., ŠESTÁK, V., KORÁBEČNÝ, J., MEZEIOVÁ, E., PALIČKA, V., KUČA, K., MŽIK, M. 1-benzyl-4methylpiperidinyl moiety in donepezil: The priority ticket across the blood-brain-barrier in rats. *Journal of Chromatography. B-Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical and Life Sciences.* 2018, 1092(August), 350–358. ISSN 1570-0232. IF 2.441

 ŽĎÁROVÁ KARASOVÁ, J., ŽĎÁRA, J. Non-lethal chemical weapons – irritating substances, biological effect and treatment. *Chemické listy*. 2018, **112**(6), 359–365. ISSN 0009-2770. IF **0.260**

ARTICLES IN SCOPUS INDEXED JOURNALS

- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda, HOLMQUIST, Ivana. Global initiatives in healthcare: hepatitis B immunization. *Military Medical Science Letters*, 2019, 88(2), 71-78. ISSN 0372-7025.
- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda, STŘÍTECKÁ, Hana. Army measures in response to the risk of infectious viral diseases transmitted by invasive mosquito species. *Military Medical Science Letetrs*, 2019, 88(2), 54-62. ISSN 0372-7025.
- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. Analysis of causes of measles epidemics in the United States and follow-up measures. *Vakcinologie*, 2019, **13**(2), 83-85. ISSN 1802-3150.
- 4. BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. It's a matter of when and where, not if. Are we ready? *Vakcinologie*, 2019, **13**(3), 122-125. ISSN 1802-3150.
- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. News in vaccine development in the struggle against trypanophobia. *Vakcinologie*, 2019, **12**(4), 158-160. ISSN 1802-3150.
- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. Pregnancy related maternal mortality-contemporary perspectives. *Military Medical Science Letters*, 2019, 88(1), 19-25. ISSN 0372-7025.
- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. The role of the military sector during ebola epidemic in west Africa. *Military Medical Science Letters*, 2019, 88(1), 11-18. ISSN 0372-7025.
- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. Vaccination against Ebola haemorrhagic fever with experimental vaccine rVSVDG-ZEBOV-GP in the Democratic Republic of Congo. *Vakcinologie*, 2019, **13**(3), 106-109. ISSN 1802-3150.
- DUŠKOVÁ, Klára, ČECHÁKOVÁ, Lucie, PLZÁKOVÁ, Lenka, ŠINKOROVÁ, Zuzana, KUBELKOVÁ, Klára. Natural immune booster imuregen significantly affects the proliferation of tumor cells. *Military Medical Science Letters*, 2019, **88**(3), 106-114. ISSN 0372-7025.
- GERYCH, David, VESELÁ, Jana, STŘÍTECKÁ, Hana, OBERMANN, Čestmír, KOPECKÝ, Miroslav. Dietary requirements of Czech Air Force aircrew members. *Military Medical Science Letters*, 2019, 88(2), 46-50. ISSN 0372-7025.
- 11. HOBZOVÁ, Lenka, SMETANA, Jan. Measles and vaccination at healthcare workers in university hospital Hradec Kralove. *Vakcinologie*, 2019, **13**(1), 6-12. ISSN 1802-3150.
- 12. HORÁČEK, Jan. Internal medical disciplines in the Ministry of Defence - the current state and options for further development.

Military Medical Science Letters, 2019, **88**(3), 139-148. ISSN 0372-7025.

- 13. CHLÍBEK, Roman. Vaccination against human papillomavirus later in life and in adulthood. *Vakcinologie*, 2019, **13**(2), 62-68. ISSN 1802-3150.
- CHMELAŘ, Josef, KOSINA, Pavel, CHLÍBEK, Roman. Monitoring hospitalised patients with herpes zoster at the Department of Infectious diseases of the University hospital at Hradec Kralove in the years 2017-2018. Vakcinologie, 2019, 13(1), 13-18. ISSN 1802-3150.
- KLEIN, Leo, ROKYTA, Richard. Book review: Le bout du tunnel (at the end of the tunnel) – How to handle post-traumatic stress problems. *Millitary Medical Science Letters*, 2019, **88**(2), 93-94. ISSN 0372-7025.
- KOLÁŘ, Bronislav. IFMSA Internship, Mostar, Bosnia and Herzegovina: Surgery of bursitis of Achilles tendon – case report. *Military Medical Science Letters*, 2019, **88**(2), 79-83. ISSN 0372-7025.
- KONEČNÝ, Jan, JŮZA, Radomír, SOUKUP, Ondřej, KORÁBEČNÝ, Jan. Pharmacological profile of dizocilpine (Mk-801) and its potential use in animal model of schizophrenia. *Military Medical Science Letters*, 2019, **88**(4), 166-179. ISSN 0372-7025.
- KUBELKOVÁ, Klára, MACELA, Aleš. A short history of Imuregen an original tissue extract. *Military Medical Science Letters*, 2019, 88(3), 115-120. ISSN 0372-7025.
- KUBELKOVÁ, Klára. Glance back and look ahead: 9th international conference on tularemia. *Military Medical Science Letters*, 2019, 88(1), 33-36. ISSN 0372-7025.
- LOVĚTÍNSKÁ, Vanesa, ZÁLEŠÁK, Bohumil, KLEIN, Leo, BRANDEJSOVÁ, Adriana. The angiosomal concept: An overview and 3 illustrative cases. *Millitary Medical Science Letters*, 2019, 88(2), 84-92. ISSN 0372-7025.
- SKOŘEPA, Pavel, FORTUNATO, Joao, SOBOTKA, Ondřej, TICHÁ, Alena, BLAHA, Vladimír, SOBOTKA, Luboš, HORÁČEK, Jan. The influence of total parenteral nutrition on the metabolism of non-esterified fatty acids in critically ill patients: Ongoing data from a prospective randomized study. *Military Medical Science Letters*, 2019, 89(4), 1-9. ISSN 0372-7025.
- SMETANA, Jan, HOBZOVÁ, Lenka. Influenza and flu vaccination at healthcare workers. *Vakcinologie*, 2019, **13**(1), 19-26. ISSN 1802-3150.

- STŘÍTECKÁ, Hana. What parents consider to be a healthy diet for children, or That's what the internet says - It must be true. *Pediatrie* pro praxi, 2019, **20**(1), 55-58. ISSN 1213-0494.
- STŘÍTECKÝ, Jakub, STŘÍTECKÁ, Hana, BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. A zika virus vaccine is now demanded by cardiologists as well. *Vakcinologie*, 2019, **13**(1), 34-35. ISSN 1802-3150.
- SVOBODOVÁ, Barbora, GÓRECKI, Lukáš, KORÁBEČNÝ, Jan. Prophylactic agents in the management of organophosphorus intoxication. *Military Medical Science Letters*, 2019, 88(3), 121-133. ISSN 0372-7025.
- 26. SZANYI, Juraj, PRÁŠIL, Petr, SMETANA, Jan. Visceral leishmaniosis. *Vakcinologie*, 2019, **13**(1), 27-30. ISSN 1802-3150.
- ŠAFKA, Václav, FAJFROVÁ, Jana, PAVLÍK, Vladimír, KUČERA, Otto, HŮLEK, Petr, HORÁČEK, Jan. Recommended fluid intake and evidence-based medicine. *Časopis lékařů českých*, 2019, **158**(3-4), 141-146. ISSN 0008-7335.
- ŠIMEK, Jan, ŠMEJKAL, Karel, FRANK, Martin, TRLICA, Jan, HOLEČEK, Tomáš, KAŠKA, Milan, KOČÍ, Jaromír, PÁRAL, Jiří, DĚDEK, Tomáš. The occurence and detection of hemodynamically significant bleeding into the retroperitoneum in patients dying due to blunt traumatic-haemorrhagic shock. *Military Medical Science Letters*, 2019, **88**(1), 2-10. ISSN 0372-7025.
- THIBAUD, Daniel, POLCAROVÁ, Petra, KUČERA, Tomáš. Obligatory Vaccination from the point of view of the Constitutional Court of the Czech Republic: Selected Annotated Judgements. *Vakcinologie*, 2019, **13**(3), 126-129. ISSN 1802-3150.
- VAŠEK, Tomáš, ŽĎÁRA, Jaroslav, SUCHÁNEK, Zbyněk, LAŠÁK, Petr, FAJFROVÁ, Jana. The impact of catering on the health and life satisfaction of coalition soldiers during their deployment on a military operation. *Military Medical Science Letters*, 2019, **88**(4), 188-194. ISSN 0372-7025.
- 32. VERNER, Jaroslav, CHMÁTAL, Petr, CHROBOK, J, TLAPÁK, Jakub. The double duct cysticus: rare finding at cholecystectomy. *Military Medical Science Letters*, 2019, **88**(4), 201-204. ISSN 0372-7025.
- VINKLEROVÁ, Kateřina. Kenya-it's not just "malaria" from the doctor's point of view. *Military Medical Science Letters*, 2019, 88(1), 26-32. ISSN 0372-7025.

ARTICLES IN OTHERS JOURNALS

- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Nora, BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. Emergent zoonoses threaten the European continent. *Practicus*, 2019, 5(18), 6-9. ISSN 1213-8711.
- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. Herpes zoster and/or varicella zoster could complicate the health of patients with immunodeficiency. *poruchy-imunity.cz*, 2019, **711**(10), 36. ISSN 1805-3408.
- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda, HOLMQUIST, Ivana. Vaccination against black cough – taking into account the applied principles and practices in US healthcare facilities. *Practicus*, 2019, **18**(2), 18-19. ISSN 1213-8711.
- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. Recent findings on the action of ceftazidime / avibactam against resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae. proLékaře.cz, 2019, 1(1), 10-12. ISSN 1803-6597.
- 96. BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda, SALAVAC, Miloslav. History of variolla. Česká dermatovenerologie, 2019, **9**(3), 78-79. ISSN 1805-0611.
- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda, SALAVEC, Miloslav, BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Nora. Skin infections caused by herpes simplex viruses (HSV-1, HSV-2) and varicella zoster (VZV), their diagnosis and treatment. *Practicus*, 2019, 18(1), 18-21. ISSN 1213-8711.
- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. The dangers of cytomegalovirus infection in people with immune disorders. *proLékaře.cz*, 2019, **16**(1), 1. ISSN 1803-6597.
- 99. BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. The news in malarias vaccines field. proLékaře.cz, 2019, **16**(1), 1. ISSN 1803-6597.
- 100. BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. Treatment in group of pregnant women with Rilpivirin. *proLékaře.cz*, 2019, **15**(1), 1. ISSN 1803-6597.
- 101. BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. Treatment of HIV positive patients using Darunavir/Cobicistat. *proLékaře.cz*, 2019, **15**(1), 1. ISSN 1803-6597.
- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. Underestimating norovirus infections does not pay off, especially at risk groups. *proLékaře.cz*, 2019, 1(1), 1. ISSN 1803-6597.
- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. Vaccination against Ebola virus hemorrhagic fever with experimental vaccine rVSVDG-ZEBOV-GP. *proLékaře.cz*, 2019, 1(1), 1-4. ISSN 1803-6597.
- 104. BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. Varicella zoster may not present with typical blisters, especially individuals with impaired immunity should be aware. *Poruchy imunity*, 2019, **15**(2), 1. ISSN 1805-3408.

- 105. CHLÍBEK, Roman. Recommended vaccination for the elderly. *Remedia*, 2019, **29**(1), 43-55. ISSN 0862-8947.
- 106. KOVALSKÁ, Jana, ČERVINKOVÁ, Monika, CHMELÍKOVÁ, Eva, PLANSKÁ, Daniela, ČÍŽKOVÁ, Jana, HORÁK, Vratislav. Immunohistochemical Evidence of the Involvement of Natural Killer (CD161+) Cells in Spontaneous Regression of Lewis Rat Sarcoma. *In Vivo*, 2019, (33), 47-52. ISSN 0258-851X.
- 107. PAVLÍK, Vladimír, LAŠÁK, Petr, HORÁČEK, Jan, DLOUHÝ, Martin. Physical Activity in the Armed Forces of the Czech Republic. International Review of the Armed Forces Medical Services, 2019, 92(3), 24-30. ISSN 0259-8582.
- PAVLÍK, Vladimír, ŠAFKA, Václav, LAŠÁK, Petr, URBAN, Miroslav, PRAVDOVÁ, Lucie, FAJFROVÁ, Jana. Options of primary prevention in the Army of the Czech Republic. *Hygiena*, 2019, **64**(3), 112-116. ISSN 1802-6281.
- PLODR, Michal, LEKEŠ, Jan, BLÁHA, Václav, TRUHLÁŘ, Anatolij, MUSIL, Vít. Comparison of the effectiveness of dispatcher-assisted cardiopulmonary resuscitation depending on the instructions used: a prospective randomized simulation study. *Urgentní medicína*, 2019, 21(4), 16-21. ISSN 1212-1924.
- POTÁČ, Michal, HUMLÍČEK, Vojtěch, SUCHÁNEK, Zbyněk. Use of forces and means of the Czech Republic Army in favor of the population in 2014-2018. *Science for Population Protection*, 2019, 11(2), 21-26. ISSN 1803-635X.
- 111. RADOCHOVÁ, Věra, POHANKA, Miroslav. Phosphine and its impact on the organism, the current knowledge. *Zpravodaj vojenského zdravotnictví*, 2019, **29**(2), 16-20. ISSN 1805-7985.
- 112. ZAZULA, Roman, PRŮCHA, Miroslav, PEHAL, František, DRYAHINA, Kseniya, MORAVEC, Michal, MÜLLER, Martin, NEJTEK, Tomáš. Kinetics of Myristic Acid Following Accidentally Induced Septic Response. *Prague Medical Report*, 2019, **120**(2-3), 103-106. ISSN 1214-6994.

TEXTBOOKS, MONOGRAPHS, ARTICLES IN MONOGRAPHS AND PROCEEDINGS

- BLAŽEK, Pavel, KREJCAR, Ondřej. The extended authentication process in the environment of the laboratory information and management system. In: NGUYEN N., CHBEIR R., EXPOSITO E., ANIORTÉ P., TRAWIŃSKI B. (eds.) Computational Collective Intelligence. ICCCI 2019. Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Cham: Springer, 2019, vol. 11684, p. 357-368. ISSN 0302-9743. ISBN 978-3-030-28373-5.
- BOŠTÍK, Pavel, SALAVEC, Miloslav, BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. HIV Infection from dermatological view. In: *HERCOGOVÁ, Jana et al. Klinická dermatovenerologie. 2. díl.* Praha: Mladá fronta, 2019, s. 1388-1400. ISBN 978-80-204-5549-9.
- BOŠTÍK, Pavel, SALAVEC, Miloslav, PRÁŠIL, Petr, SLEHA, Radek, KUKLA, Rudolf, BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda. Exanthema viral inefctions. In: *HERCOGOVÁ, Jana et al. Klinická dermatovenerologie 2. díl*. Praha: Mladá fronta, 2019, s. 1309-1341. ISBN 978-80-204-5549-9.
- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda, SALAVEC, Miloslav, SLEHA, Radek, BOŠTÍK, Pavel. Herpes simplex. In: *HERCOGOVÁ, Jana et al. Klinická dermatovenerologie. 2. díl.* Praha: Mladá fronta, 2019, s. 1341-1349. ISBN 978-80-204-5549-9.
- BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda, SALAVEC, Miloslav, SLEHA, Radek, BOŠTÍK, Pavel. Varicella and herpes zoster. In: *HERCOGOVÁ, Jana et al. Klinická dermatovenerologie. 2. díl.* Praha: Mladá fronta, 2019, s. 1350-1361. ISBN 978-80-204-5549-9.
- HERCOGOVÁ, Jana, BOŠTÍK, Pavel, BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda, BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Nora, SALAVEC, Miloslav, et al. *Clinical dermatovenerology.* Praha: Mladá Fronta, 2019. 1736 s. ISBN 978-80-204-5321-1.
- HUMLÍČEK, Vojtěch, POTÁČ, Michal, ŽĎÁRA, Jaroslav. Medical support on operations. [skripta]. Brno: Univerzita obrany, 2019, 91 s. ISBN 978-80-7582-154-6.
- KASSA, Jiří. Oxime Research. In: LUKEY, Brian J., ROMANO James A. Jr., SALEM, Harry. (eds.). Chemical Warfare Agents – Biomedical and Psychological Effects, Medical Countermeasures and Emergency Response. Boca Raton, USA: CRC Press, 2019, p. 681-695. ISBN 978-1-4987-6921-1.

TEXTBOOKS, MONOGRAPHS, ARTICLES IN MONOGRAPHS AND PROCEEDINGS

- PLODR, Michal. Urgent care in a battlefield condition. In: ŠÍN, Robin, ŠTOURAČ, Petr, VIDUNOVÁ, Jana et al. Lékařská první pomoc. Praha: Galén, 2019, s. 177-195. ISBN 978-80-7492-433-0.
- RŮŽIČKA, Milan, HUMLÍČEK, Vojtěch, SUCHÁNEK, Zbyněk, ŽĎÁRA, Jaroslav, BLAŽEK, Pavel. *Medical support of a mechanized battalion in an attack.* Brno: Univerzita obrany v Brně, 2019, 117 s. ISBN 978-80-7582-155-3.
- SALAVEC, Miloslav, BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda, BOŠTÍK, Pavel. HPV Infections. In: *HERCOGOVÁ, Jana et al. Klinická dermatovenerologie. díl.* Praha: Mladá fronta, 2019, s. 1376-1387. ISBN 978-80-204-5549-9.
- SALAVEC, Miloslav, BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda, SLEHA, Radek, BOŠTÍK, Pavel. Poxviral infection. In: *HERCOGOVÁ, Jana et al. Klinická dermatovenerologie. 2. díl.* Praha: Mladá fronta, 2019, s. 1362-1375. ISBN 978-80-204-5549-9.
- SLEHA, Radek, SALAVEC, Miloslav, LOUDA, Miroslav, BOŠTÍKOVÁ, Vanda, JANOVSKÁ, Sylva, BOŠTÍK, Pavel. Mycoplasmosis, ureaplasmosis. In: *HERCOGOVÁ, Jana et al. Klinická dermatovenerologie. 2. díl.* Praha: Mladá fronta, 2019, s. 1432-1436. ISBN 978-80-204-5549-9.

PRESENTATIONS AND POSTERS

- BASTIDAS, A, CATTEAU, G, VOLPE, S, MRKVAN, Tomas, ENEMUO, A, SMETANA, Jan, SCHWARZ, T, ROMBO, L, PAUKSENS, K, BERENGIER, E, HERVE, Caroline, OOSTOVOGELS, Lidia, SCHUIND, Anne. Long-term Immunological Persistence of the Adjuvanted Recombinant Zoster Vaccine: Clinical Data and Mathematical Modeling. Washington, DC: IDWeek. 2.10.2019-6.10.2019.
- BAVLOVIČ, Jan. Study of secretion of outer membrane vesicles at the bacterium F. tularensis and their role in host-pathogen interaction. Hradec Králové: 13. fakultní konference studentů doktorských programů. 1.10.2019.
- BAVLOVIČ, Jan. Study of secretion of outer membrane vesicles at the pathogen F. tularensis and their role in host-pathogen interaction. Deštné v Orlických horách: Výroční zasedání KMPB. 28.11.2019-29.11.2019.
- BAVLOVIČ, Jan, KLIMENTOVÁ, Jana, PÁVKOVÁ, Ivona, PLZÁKOVÁ, Lenka, PROKŠOVÁ, Magdaléna, STULÍK, Jiří. Outer membrane vesicles in Francisella tularensis - characterization and role in host-pathogen interaction. [poster]. Glasgow: 8th Congress of European Microbiologists. 4.7.2019-12.7.2019.
- BAVLOVIČ, Jan, KLIMENTOVÁ, Jana, PÁVKOVÁ, Ivona, PLZÁKOVÁ, Lenka, PROKŠOVÁ, Magdaléna, STULÍK, Jiří. Secretion of outer membrane vesicles in *F. tularensis and mutants with* compromised surface integrity. [poster]. Sant Feliu de Guíxols: BacNet2019. 1.9.2019-6.9.2019.
- 6. ČĺŽKOVÁ, Jana, ŠINKOROVÁ, Zuzana, STRNADOVÁ, Kateřina, HORÁK, Vratislav, ŠINKORA, Marek, ČERVINKOVÁ, M, ŠINKORA, Jiří, LUKAC, P. Characterization of Tumor-Associated Double Positive T Cells in Melanoma-Bearing Libechov Minipigs. [poster]. Hradec Králové: 19. konference Společnosti vojenských lékařů, farmaceutů a veterinárních lékařů ČLS JEP. 12.11.2019-13.11.2019.
- DUŠEK, Tomáš. Options of surgical treatment of advanced malignancies of small pelvis organs. Čejkovice: Chirurgické sympózium. 5.4.2019-6.4.2019.
- FILIPOVÁ, Alžběta, JELIČOVÁ, Marcela, ŠINKOROVÁ, Zuzana. Association between Primary Cilia and Ionizing Radiation in Lung Mesothelioma Cells. [poster]. Manchester: 16th International Congress of Radiation Research. 25.8.2019-29.8.2019.

PRESENTATIONS AND POSTERES

- FILIPOVÁ, Alžběta, JELIČOVÁ, Marcela, ŠINKOROVÁ, Zuzana. Relationship between primary cilia and ionizing radiation in lung mesothelioma cells. [poster]. Mikulov: XLI. Dny radiační ochrany. 4.11.2019-8.11.2019.
- FILIPOVÁ, Alžběta, MAREK, Jan, HAVELEK, Radim, TICHÝ, Aleš, PEJCHAL, Jaroslav, ČĺŽKOVÁ, Jana, MAJOROŠOVÁ, Martina, MÚČKOVÁ, Ľubica, KUČERA, Tomáš, PRCHAL, Lukáš, PSOTKA, Miroslav, ŽIVNÁ, Natálie, KOUTOVÁ, Darja, ŘEZÁČOVÁ, Martina, ŠINKOROVÁ, Zuzana. Development of new radioprotective agents based on small molecular inhibitors. Hradec Králové: Seminář – Současné výzkumné trendy v radiobiologii. 11.12.2019.
- HAIN, Johannes, OOSTOVOGELS, Lidia, HEINEMAN, Thomas, JOHNSON, Robert, LEVIN, Miron J., MCELHANEY, Janet, VAN DEN STEEN, Peter, ZAHAF, Toufik, DAGNEW, Alemnew, CHLÍBEK, Roman, DIEZ-DOMINGO, Javier, GORFINKEL, Iris, HERVE, Caroline, HWANG, S, IKEMATSU, H, KALEMA, George, LAL, Himal, MCNEIL, Shelly, MRKVAN, Tomas, PAUKSEN, Karlis, SMETANA, Jan, WATANABE, Daisuke, WECKX, Lily, CUNNINGHAM, Anthony. Baseline Medical Conditions Do Not Impact the Efficacy and Safety of the Adjuvanted Recombinant Zoster Vaccine: a Post-hoc Analysis of Pooled Data from Two Parallel Randomized Trials. [poster]. Wiesbaden: DGIM (2019) Deutsche Gesellschaft für Innere Medizin – 125th International Congress. 4.5.2019-7.5.2019.
- HORÁČEK, Jan. Innovations in treatment and diagnostics of ALL. Hrubá Skála: Regionální hematologický seminář východočeského a libereckého regionu. 8.11.2019.
- HORÁČEK, Jan. Internal medicine in the Ministry of Defence summary of activities in year 2018, current status and vision of development in the military medical service. Olomouc: 65. konference vojenských internistů s mezinárodní účastí. 16.10.2019-18.10.2019.
- HORÁČEK, Jan. Report on activities of SVLFVL CLS JEP. Hradec Králové: 19. konference Společnosti vojenských lékařů, farmaceutů a veterinárních lékařů ČLS JEP. 12.11.2019-13.11.2019.
- HORÁČEK, Jan, KUPSA, Tomáš, JEBAVÝ, Ladislav, ZAK, Pavel. Acute lymphoblastic leukemia in adults in year 2019. Olomouc: 65. konference vojenských internistů s mezinárodní účastí. 16.10.2019-18.10.2019.
- HORÁČEK, Jan, KUPSA, Tomáš, VANĚK, Jan, JEBAVÝ, Ladislav, ŽÁK, Pavel. Serum levels of cytokines and adhesion molecules in B-cell precursor acute lymphoblastic leukemia and their association with overall survival. [poster]. Berlin: International Conference on Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia. 17.5.2019-19.5.2019.

- HUMLÍČEK, Vojtěch. Forces and resources of the Czech Republic for international disaster relief assistance. [poster]. Düsseldorf: 7th International Conference on Disaster and Military Medicine. 18.11.2019-19.11.2019.
- CHLÍBEK, Roman. Efficacy of HPV vaccination after commencement of sexual life. Hradec Králové: 15. Hradecké vakcinologické dny. 3.10.2019-5.10.2019.
- 19. CHLÍBEK, Roman. *Factors affecting the immune response of infants to vaccination during their first year of life.* Hradec Králové: 15. Hradecké vakcinologické dny. 3.10.2019-5.10.2019.
- CHLÍBEK, Roman. Intervention studies, practical aspects. Praha: Kurz IPVZ – Obecná epidemiologie a epidemiologická metodologie pro postgraduální doktorské studium. 15.5.2019.
- 21. CHLÍBEK, Roman. *News in adult vaccination worldwide*. Tatranská Lomnica: X. Slovenský vakcinologický kongres. 11.4.2019-13.4.2019.
- 22. CHLÍBEK, Roman. *News in Vaccination.* Litomyšl: Přednáškový večer pořádány Spolkem lékařů Litomyšl ČLS JEP. 13.3.2019.
- CHLÍBEK, Roman. Preparation of safe vaccine by modern (genetic) methods. Praha: SymGen 2019 – Genetika ve výzkumu, klinice a sportu. 14.3.2019.
- 24. CHLÍBEK, Roman. *Prevence neuroinfekcí (meningokoky a klíšťová encefalitida).* Brno: Okresní seminář pediatrů. 31.1.2019.
- CHLÍBEK, Roman. Prevention of neuroinfections (meningococci and tick-borne encephalitis). Hradec Králové: Cyklus regionálních seminářů SVL pro praktické lékaře. 10.1.2019.
- CHLÍBEK, Roman. Prevention of neuroinfections (meningococci and tick-borne encephalitis). Liberec: Cyklus regionálních seminářů SVL pro praktické lékaře. 3.1.2019.
- CHLÍBEK, Roman. Prevention of neuroinfections (meningococci and tick-borne encephalitis). Olomouc: Cyklus regionálních seminářů SVL pro praktické lékaře. 5.1.2019.
- CHLÍBEK, Roman. Prevention of neuroinfections (meningococci and tick-borne encephalitis). Pardubice: Cyklus regionálních seminářů SVL pro praktické lékaře. 8.1.2019.
- CHLÍBEK, Roman. Prevention of neuroinfections (meningococci and tick-borne encephalitis). Praha: Cyklus regionálních seminářů SVL pro praktické lékaře. 16.1.2019.

- CHLÍBEK, Roman. Prevention of neuroinfections (meningococci and tick-borne encephalitis). Praha: Cyklus regionálních seminářů SVL pro praktické lékaře. 24.1.2019.
- 31. CHLÍBEK, Roman. Prevention of neuroinfections (meningococci and tick-borne encephalitis). Praha: XIII. Jarní interaktivní konference. 27.4.2019.
- CHLÍBEK, Roman. Safety of HPV Vaccination Evidence-based medicine. Demänovská Dolina: 4. Dní primárnej pediatrie. 17.5.2019-19.5.2019.
- CHLÍBEK, Roman. The most common myths about vaccine safety. Praha: Mimořádný kurz IPVZ – Očkování: mýty, realita a jak dál? 15.6.2019.
- 34. CHLÍBEK, Roman. Vaccination against neuroinfections in childhood. Liberec: Regionální seminář. 20.3.2019.
- CHLÍBEK, Roman. Vaccination as a modern part of patient prevention and care. Praha: Celostátní konference Interna pro 21. stolení. 3.12.2019.
- CHLÍBEK, Roman. Vaccination in the care of a nephrological patient. Praha: Porada primářů a vrchních sester – Fresenius medical care. 19.9.2019.
- 37. CHLÍBEK, Roman. Vaccination of oncological patients. Brno: Odborný seminář Masarykova onkologického ústavu. 9.1.2019.
- CHLÍBEK, Roman. Vaccination strategies in recurrent infections. Krkonoše – Husova bouda: 21. setkání přednostů a primářů infekčních klinik a oddělení. 24.4.2019-26.4.2019.
- 39. CHLÍBEK, Roman. *Views on anti-vaccine attitudes and activities.* Třeboň: 27. mezioborový seminář. 16.1.2019-18.1.2019.
- 40. JAKL, Martin, ČERVINKA, Pavel, KALA, Petr, KAŇOVSKÝ, Jan, BEZERRA, Hiram G, COSTA, Marco A. Long term effect of primary percutaneous coronary interventions utilizing optical coherence tomography. Hradec Králové: 19. konference Společnosti vojenských lékařů, farmaceutů a veterinářů ČSL JEP. 12.11.2019-13.11.2019.
- JAKL, Martin, ČERVINKA, P, HORÁČEK, Jan. Significance of coronary stent malaposition. Olomouc: 65. konference vojenských internistů s mezinárodní účastí. 16.10.2019-18.10.2019.
- 42. JAKL, Martin, SKOŘEPA, Pavel, HORÁČEK, Jan. Sepsis in Settings of Tactical Evacuation Care System. Hradec Králové: 19. konference Společnosti vojenských lékařů, farmaceutů a veterinárních lékařů ČLS JEP. 12.11.2019-13.11.2019.

- JAKL, Martin, TUČEK, David. Sepsis in tactical settings and prehospital care and fluids for volume resuscitation in nonsurgical patients. Hradec Králové: Konference válečné medicíny. 1.11.2019-3.11.2019.
- JELIČOVÁ, Marcela, ŠINKOROVÁ, Zuzana, METELKA, Radovan. Modification of Screen-Printed Carbone Electrodes for Voltammetric Studies of Oxidative DNA Damage. [poster]. Paris: 47th IUPAC World Chemistry Congress. 7.7.2019-12.7.2019.
- JELIČOVÁ, Marcela, ŠINKOROVÁ, Zuzana, METELKA, Radovan. Voltammetric Studies of Oxidative DNA Damage after Irradiation using Screen-printed Carbone Electrodes. [poster]. Mikulov: XLI. Dny radiační ochrany. 4.11.2019-8.11.2019.
- 46. KASSA, Jiří, HEPNAROVÁ, Vendula, MUSÍLEK, Kamil, JUN, Daniel. A comparison of the reactivating and therapeutic efficacy of a newly developed oxime K870 with pralidoxime and the oxime HI-6 in tabun-poisoned rats and mice. [poster]. Munich: 17th Medical Chemical Defense Conference. 27.3.2019-28.3.2019.
- KASSA, Jiří, MISÍK, Jan, HATLAPATKOVÁ, Jana, ŽĎÁROVÁ KARASOVÁ, Jana. The evaluation of neuroprotective efficacy of the oxime HI-6 alone or in combination with trimedoxime or the oxime K203 on sarin-poisoned rats. [poster]. Lázně Jeseníky: 61. Česko-slovenská psychofarmakologická konference. 16.1.2019-20.1.2019.
- KASSA, Jiří, TIMPERLEY, Christopher M., BIRD, Mike, WILLIAMS, Rebecca L., GREEN, A. Christopher, TATTERSALL, John E. H. Evaluation of the influence of three newly-developed bispyridinium antinicotinic compounds (MB408, MB442, MB444) on the efficacy of antidotal treatment of mice poisoned with tabun or soman. [poster]. Nantes: 3rd International Conference CBRNE – Research and Innovation. 20.5.2019-23.5.2019.
- KASSA, Jiří, TIMPERLEY, Christopher M., BIRD, Mike, WILLIAMS, Rebecca L., GREEN, A. Christopher, TATTERSALL, John E. H. *The* benefit of novel non-oxime bispyridinium compounds for the standard antidotal treatment of nerve agent-poisoned mice. [poster]. Cincinnati: 2019 Chemical and Biological Defense, Science and Technology Conference. 18.11.2019-21.11.2019.
- KLEIN, Leo. *Thermal and chemical burns of the skin.* Hradec Králové:
 9. mezioborové ORL sympozium Akutní stavy v otologii v ambulantní a klinické praxi. 12.4.2019-13.4.2019.
- 51. KLIMENTOVÁ, Jana, PÁVKOVÁ, Ivona, BAVLOVIČ, Jan, PLZÁKOVÁ, Lenka, STULÍK, Jiří. *Francisella tularensis outer*

membrane vesicles and nanotubes in host-pathogen interaction. [poster]. Sant Feliu de Guíxols: BacNet2019. 1.9.2019-6.9.2019.

- KLIMENTOVÁ, Jana, PÁVKOVÁ, Ivona, STULÍK, Jiří. Francisella tularensis subsp. holarctica releases differentially loaded outer membrane vesicles under various stress conditions. [poster]. Goteborg: SPS 2019. 24.11.2019-25.11.2019.
- KLIMENTOVÁ, Jana, ŘEHULKA, Pavel, STULÍK, Jiří. Cross-species proteomic comparison – approaches to database search. [poster]. Goteborg: SPS 2019. 24.11.2019-25.11.2019.
- KOPEČKOVÁ, Monika, PÁVKOVÁ, Ivona. Identification of interaction partners of Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase from Francisella tularensis. Deštné v Orlických horách: Výroční zasedání KMPB, 2019. 28.11.2019-29.11.2019.
- KOPEČKOVÁ, Monika, PÁVKOVÁ, Ivona. Identification of interaction partners of Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase from Francisella tularensis. Hradec Králové: 13. fakultní konference studentů doktorských programů. 1.10.2019.
- KOPEČKOVÁ, Monika, PÁVKOVÁ, Ivona, LINK, Marek, STULÍK, Jiří. Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase as moonlighting protein of bacteria Francisella tularensis. [poster]. Praha: EMBO Young Scientists Forum 2019. 27.6.2019-28 .6.2019.
- KOPEČKOVÁ, Monika, PÁVKOVÁ, Ivona, LINK, Marek, STULÍK, Jiří. Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase as moonlighting protein of intracellular bacteria Francisella tularensis. [poster]. Snowmass Village, Colorado: The Microbial Pathogenesis Conference: Mechanisms of Infectious Disease. 21.7.2019-26.7.2019.
- KOPEČKOVÁ, Monika, PÁVKOVÁ, Ivona, LINK, Marek, STULÍK, Jiří. Identification of interaction partners of Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase from Francisella tularensis. [poster]. Brno: XXIII. Biologické dny 2019. 9 .9. 2019-10. 9.2019.
- 59. KROČOVÁ, Zuzana. *Emerging and re-emerging infection diseases.* Komorní Hrádek: 4th Biological workshop. 23.4.2019-25.4.2019.
- KROČOVÁ, Zuzana. Emerging and Re-Emerging Infection Diseases. Ústav makromolekulární chemie AV ČR, Praha: Cyklus přednášek Věda pod makrohledem. 5.6.2019.
- 61. KROČOVÁ, Zuzana. *Emerging and Re-Emerging Infection Diseases.* Ústřední vojenská nemocnice Praha: Školení lékařů spádu. 29.5.2019.

- 62. KUBELKOVÁ, Klára, MACELA, Aleš. *Gut microbiome alterations by nutritional tissue extract supplement.* [poster]. Krakow: 7th World Congress on Targeting Microbiota. 9.10.2019-11.10.2019.
- KUBELKOVÁ, Klára, MACELA, Aleš. Which signals initiate the early antibody response of germ free mice to infection? [poster]. Rhodes: 16. konference přirozené imunity. 7.6.2019-13.6.2019.
- KUBELKOVÁ, Klára. Imuregen in vitro and in vivo modulatory effects. Manila: Symposium on Biological Response Mechanisms and the Practicle Application to Health, Disease and Prevention. 17.6.2019-23.6.2019.
- KUČERA, Tomáš, ŽĎÁROVÁ KARASOVÁ, Jana. Nervově paralytické látky a cucurbiturily: molekulová dynamika. [poster]. Lugano: BImBS 2019 – BioInformatics meets BioSimulations in protein and DNA studies: from theory to practice. 5.10.2019-12.10.2019.
- KUČERA, Tomáš. Legal responsibility of a healthcare professional. Město Libavá: 19. konference Vojenské zdravotnické služby. 27.3.2019-28.3.2019.
- KUČERA, Tomáš. Prediction of biological effects of small molecules. Hradec Králové: 19. konference SVLFVL ČLS JEP. 12.11.2019-13.11.2019.
- KUPSA, Tomáš, JEBAVÝ, Ladislav, HORÁČEK, Jan. A case report of fever of unknown origin. Olomouc: 65. konference vojenských internistů s mezinárodní účastí. 16.10.2019-18.10.2019.
- 69. KUPSA, Tomáš, VANĚK, Jan, JEBAVÝ, Ladislav, ZAK, Pavel, HORÁČEK, Jan. Serum levels of receptors for IL-2 and TNF-alfa and overal survival in patients with newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia. [poster]. Hradec Králové: 19. konference Společnosti vojenských lékařů, farmaceutů a veterinárních lékařů ČLS JEP. 12.11.2019-13.11.2019.
- 70. KUPSA, Tomáš, VANĚK, Jan, ZAK, Pavel, JEBAVÝ, Ladislav, HORÁČEK, Jan. Baseline serum levels of receptors for interleukin-2 and tumor necrosis factor-α predict overal survival in newly diagnosed acute myeloid leukemia. [poster]. Amsterdam: 24th Congress of the European Hematology Association. 13.6.2019-16.6.2019.
- LIEROVÁ, Anna, JITKA, Kašparová, PEJCHAL, Jaroslav, KUBELKOVÁ, Klára, KORECKÁ, Lucie, BÍLKOVÁ, Zuzana, ŠINKOROVÁ, Zuzana. *Radiation-induced lung damage and nanoparticle from hyaluronic acid.* [poster]. Mikulov: 41. Dny radiační ochrany. 4.11.2019-8.11.2019.

- 72. LOCHMAN, Petr, PÁRAL, Jiří. *Is the time to extend the indications of proximal gastrectomy*? [poster]. Praha: The IGCC 2019. 8.5.2019-11.5.2019.
- 73. LOCHMAN, Petr, PÁRAL, Jiří, KOČÍ, Jaromír. The role of proximal gastrectomy in the treatment of esophagogastric junction and gastric carcinomas. [poster]. Praha: The IGCC 2019. 8.5.2019-11.5.2019.
- 74. MALÝ, Ondřej. *Classic hemorrhoidectomy.* Praha: Pracovní dny Koloproktologické sekce ČCHS ČLS JEP. 21.2.2019-22.2.2019.
- 75. MALÍKOVÁ, Martina, POLCAROVÁ, Petra, HANOVCOVÁ, Irena, SMETANA, Jan, CHLÍBEK, Roman. Susceptibility of vancomycin-resistant and vancomycin-sensitive enterococci to selected disinfectants. [poster]. Hradec Králové: 19. konference Společnosti vojenských lékařů, farmaceutů a veterinárních lékařů ČLS JEP. 12.11.2019-13.11.2019.
- OOSTVOGELS, Lidia, HEINEMAN, Thomas, JOHNSON, Robert, 76. LEVIN, Miron J., MCELHANEY, Janet, VAN DEN STEEN, Peter, ZAHAF, Toufik, DAGNEW, Alemnew, CHLÍBEK, Roman, DIEZ-DOMINGO, Javier, GORFINKEL, Iris, HERVE, Caroline, HWANG, S, IKEMATSU, H, KALEMA, George, LAL, Himal, MCNEIL, Shelly, MRKVAN, Tomas, PAUKSEN, Karlis, SMETANA, Jan, WATANABE, Daisuke, WECKX, Lily, CUNNINGHAM, Anthony, MOSER, C. Baseline Medical Conditions Do Not Impact the Efficacy and Safety of the Adjuvanted Recombinant Zoster Vaccine: a Post-hoc Analysis of Pooled Data from Two Parallel Randomized Trials. [poster]. Dresden: 47. Kongress der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Rheumatologie (DGRh). 4.9.2019-7.9.2019.
- 77. PAVLÍK, Vladimír, ŠAFKA, Václav, LAŠÁK, Petr. Options of primary prevention in the army of the Czech republic. [poster]. Nový Smokovec: Životné podmienky a zdravie. 23.9.2019-25.9.2019.
- PAVLÍK, Vladimír, ŠAFKA, Václav, LAŠÁK, Petr. Options of primary prevention on obesity in the army of the czech republic. [poster]. Brno: Obezitologie a bariatrie. 7.11.2019-9.11.2019.
- 79. PAVLÍK, Vladimír. *Mysimba and control on obesity.* Praha: Jarní interaktivní konference SVL ČLS JEP. 26.4.2019-28.4.2019.
- PAVLÍK, Vladimír. Options of primary prevention in the Army of the Czech Republic. Hradec Králové: 19. konference Společnosti vojenských lékařů, farmaceutů a veterinárních lékařů ČLS JEP. 12.11.2019-13.11.2019.
- 81. PAVLÍK, Vladimír. *The obesity, prevention and treatment.* Hradec Králové: Regionální setkání dermatologů. 20.11.2019.

- 82. PAVLÍK, Vladimír. *The risk factors of life style.* Brno: Univerzita třetího věku, UO. 16.12.2019.
- PÁRAL, Jiří. Historical development and current trends of anastomoses in gastrointestinal surgery. Čejkovice: Chirurgické sympózium. 5.4.2019-6.4.2019.
- PÁVKOVÁ, Ivona. Overview of work for the year 2019 OMV, GapA. Deštné v Orlických horách: Výroční zasedání KMPB. 28.11.2019-29.11.2019.
- PÁVKOVÁ, Ivona, KOPEČKOVÁ, Monika, LINK, Marek, STULÍK, Jiří. Exploring on Functional Diversity of Glycolytic Enzyme Glyceraldehyde-3-Phosphate Dehydrogenase in Francisella tularensis. [poster]. Sant Feliu de Guíxols, Spain: Bacterial Networks (BacNet19), EMBO Workshop. 1.9.2019-6.9.2019.
- PEJCHAL, Jaroslav, MAREK, Jan, TICHÝ, Aleš, SEIFRTOVÁ, Martina, HAVELEK, Radim, ŘEZÁČOVÁ, Martina, FILIPOVÁ, Alžběta, ŠINKOROVÁ, Zuzana, KUČERA, Tomáš, MÚČKOVÁ, Ľubica, PRCHAL, Lukáš. PUMA inhibitors: development of new radioprotective agents based on small molecular inhibitors (work-flow). Brno: Ceitec. 4.11.2019-5.11.2019.
- POLCAROVÁ, Petra, SMETANA, Jan, HANOVCOVÁ, Irena, CHLÍBEK, Roman. Problematics of tick-borne diseases in Czech army. Hradec Králové: 19. konference Společnosti vojenských lékařů, farmaceutů a veterinárních lékařů ČLS JEP. 12.11.2019.
- POLCAROVÁ, Petra, SMETANA, Jan, HANOVCOVÁ, Irena, CHLÍBEK, Roman. Seroprevalence of antibodies against tick-borne encephalitis in Czech army recruits. [poster]. Olomouc: Kongres klinické mikrobiologie, infekčních nemocí a epidemiologie. 14.11.2019-16.11.2019.
- POLCAROVÁ, Petra, SMETANA, Jan, HANOVCOVÁ, Irena, CHLÍBEK, Roman. *Tick-borne encephalitis – perception of the risk of disease between recruits of Czech army and their relationship to prevention.* [poster]. Hradec Králové: XV. Hradecké vakcinologické dny. 3.10.2019-5.10.2019.
- 90. POLCAROVÁ, Petra, SMETANA, Jan, HANOVCOVÁ, Irena, CHLÍBEK, Roman. *Tick-borne encephalitis vaccination coverage between Czech Army recruits*. [poster]. Hradec Králové: 19. konference Společnosti vojenských lékařů, farmaceutů a veterinárních lékařů ČLS JEP. 12.11.2019-13.11.2019.
- 91. PROKŠOVÁ, Magdaléna. Interacting partners of Francisella tularensis effector proteins VgrG and IgIJ. Hradec Králové: 13. fakultní konferenci studentů doktorských programů. 1.10.2019.

- PROKŠOVÁ, Magdaléna. Interacting partners of VgrG and IgIJ proteins. Výroční zasedání KMPB, Deštné v Orlických horách: Výroční zasedání KMPB. 28.11.2019-29.11.2019.
- 93. SMETANA, Jan, HANOVCOVÁ, Irena, POLCAROVÁ, Petra, CHLÍBEK, Roman. Seroprevalence of Mumps Antibodies in the Czech Population and Impact on Immunization Schedule. [poster]. Ljubljana: 37th Annual Meeting of the European Society for Paediatric Infectious Diseases (ESPID). 6.5.2019-11.5.2019.
- SMETANA, Jan. Influenza vaccination in health care workers yes or no. Tatranská Lomnica: X. Slovenský vakcinologický kongres. 11.4.2019-13.4.2019.
- 95. SMETANA, Jan. *Pertussis still among us.* Hradec Králové: XV. Hradecké vakcinologické dny. 3.10.2019-5.10.2019.
- 96. SMETANA, Jan. *Pneumococcal vaccination in specialists.* Luhačovice: XXVI. Luhačovické dny. 29.3.2019-30.3.2019.
- 97. SMETANA, Jan. *Recent findings in meningococcal vaccines*. Hradec Králové: XV. Hradecké vakcinologické dny. 3.10.2019-5.10.2019.
- SMETANA, Jan. Vaccination of healthcare workers against influenza. Hradec Králové: XV. Hradecké vakcinologické dny. 3.10.2019-5.10.2019.
- SMETANA, Jan. Vaccination of selected risk groups in primary care. Hradec Králové: 6. Kongres Pediatrie pro praxi a Medicíny pro praxi. 31.5.2019-1.6.2019.
- SMETANA, Jan, CHLÍBEK, Roman. Pneumococcal vaccination in specialists surgeries. Luhačovice: XXVI. Luhačovické dny. 29.3.2019-30.3.2019.
- SMETANA, Jan, CHLÍBEK, Roman. The most common myths about vaccine safety. Praha: Kurz IPVZ – Očkování: mýty, realita a jak dál? 14.9.2019.
- 102. SOUKUP, Ondřej, GÓRECKI, Lukáš, KOBRLOVÁ, Tereza, JUN, Daniel, MUSILEK, Kamil, HEPNAROVÁ, Vendula, HRABINOVÁ, Martina, WOREK, Franz, NACHON, Florian, KORÁBEČNÝ, Jan. Novel Broad Spectrum Monoquarternary Reactivators for the Treatment of Organophosphorous Intoxication. [poster]. Rehovot: 16th International Symposium on Cholinergic Mechanismus. 8.12.2019-12.12.2019.
- 103. STOJKOVÁ, Pavla, ŠPIDLOVÁ, Petra, LENČO, Juraj, ŘEHULKOVÁ, Helena, KRÁTKÁ, Lucie, STULÍK, Jiří. Inactivation of HU protein results in changes of one third of Francisella proteome including FPI

and affecting the whole bacterial virulence. [poster]. Praha: EMBO Young Scientists Forum 2019. 27.6.2019-29.6.2019.

- 104. STŘÍTECKÁ, Hana. Food for children. Průhonice: Certifikační vzdělávací kurz v systému celoživotního vzdělávání Světa zdraví. 29.3.2019.
- 105. STŘÍTECKÁ, Hana. *Fruit / Vegetable or Vitamin Pill?* Blansko: 3. ročník pediatrické konference Pohybem k životu. 7.2.2019-8.2.2019.
- 106. STŘÍTECKÁ, Hana. *Omega 3 fat acids in our diet.* Jeseník: 61. Česko-slovenská psychofarmakologická konference. 16.1.2019-20.1.2019.
- 107. SUCHÁNEK, Zbyněk. Treatment of risks in the field of field medical devices. The risk of fire, endangering patients and staff. Město Libavá: 19. konference Vojenské zdravotnické služby. 26.3.2019.
- 108. ŠEŠKO (SHESHKO), Valeria. Protein expression system in the Francisella tularensis microbe. Deštné v Orlických horách: Výroční zasedání KMPB. 28.11.2020-29.11.2019.
- 109. ŠEŠKO (SHESHKO), Valeria, ĎURÁČOVÁ, Miloslava, KROČOVÁ, Zuzana. Expression and purification of recombinant standard toxins from C. perfringens for the purpose of development target proteomic method. [poster]. Davos: ETOX 19. European Workshops on Bacterial Protein Toxins. 22.6.2019-26.6.2019.
- 110. ŠIMEK, Jan, ŠMEJKAL, Karel, DĚDEK, Tomáš, PÁRAL, Jiří. Surgical treatment of clavicle diaphyseal fractures using intramedullary extramedullary internal fixation. [poster]. Hradec Králové: 19. konference Společnosti vojenských lékařů, farmaceutů a veterinárních lékařů ČLS JEP. 12.11.2019-13.11.2019.
- ŠINKOROVÁ, Zuzana. Radioprotection and new trends in Czech army. Město Libavá: 19. konference Vojenské zdravotnické služby. 27.3.2019-28.3.2019.
- 112. ŠINKOROVÁ, Zuzana, FILIPOVÁ, Alžběta, TICHÝ, Aleš, PEJCHAL, Jaroslav, ŘEZÁČOVÁ, Martina, HAVELEK, Radim, SEIFERTOVÁ, Martina, MAREK, Jan. *In-vitro and in-vivo evaluation of novel inhibitors of apoptosis on PUMA pathway.* [poster]. Manchester: ICRR 2019 – 16th International Congress for Radiation Research. 24.8.2019-29.8.2019.
- 113. ŠINKOROVÁ, Zuzana, LIEROVÁ, Anna, PEJCHAL, Jaroslav, JELIČOVÁ, Marcela, ANDREJSOVÁ, Lenka, KAŠPAROVÁ, Jitka, KORECKÁ, Lucie, NĚMCOVÁ, Markéta, BÍLKOVÁ, Zuzana. Immunophenotyping and cytokines profile after total body irradiation.

[poster]. Seč: 10th International Conference Analytical Cytometry. 21.9.2019-24.9.2019.

- ŠPIDLOVÁ, Petra. F. tularensis HU protein interaction with DNA. Deštné v Orlických horách: Výroční zasedání KMPB 2019. 28.11.2019-29.11.2019.
- 115. ŠPIDLOVÁ, Petra, STOJKOVÁ, Pavla, LENČO, Juraj, ŘEHULKOVÁ, Helena, KRÁTKÁ, Lucie, STULÍK, Jiří. Nucleoid-associated protein HU regulates the expression of PigR, the essential transcription regulator of Francisella pathogenicity island encoded genes. [poster]. Praha: EMBO Young Scientist Forum 2019. 27.6.2019-29.6.2019.
- 116. URBAN, Miroslav, PAVLÍK, Vladimír, LAŠÁK, Petr. Telemedicine in the obesity treatment. [poster]. Hradec Králové: 19. konference Společnosti vojenských lékařů, farmaceutů a veterinárních lékařů ČLS JEP. 12.11.2019-13.11.2019.
- 117. VOZANDYCHOVÁ, Věra. *Analysis of deubiquitination enzymes.* Hradec Králové: IV. ročník výukového semináře laboratorních metod doktorandi doktorandům 2019. 28.2.2019.
- VOZANDYCHOVÁ, Věra. Analysis of deubiquitination enzymes in the process of Francisella tularensis infection. Olomouc: 6. neformální proteomické setkání. 29.11.2019-30.11.2019.
- 119. VOZANDYCHOVÁ, Věra. Analysis of deubiquitination enzymes in the relation to Francisella tularensis infection. Hradec Králové: 13. fakultní konference studentů doktorských programů. 1.10.2019.
- 120. VOZANDYCHOVÁ, Věra. Analysis of the host response during infection by the intracellular pathogen Francisella tularensis. Deštné v Orlických horách: Výroční zasedání KMPB 2019. 28.11.2019-29.11.2018.

INDEX

A

ANDREJSOVÁ L., 31, 85, 132

В

BALONOVÁ L., 60 BLAŽEK P., 29, 120, 121 BOŠTÍK P., 18, 19, 22, 27, 48, 74, 76, 85, 92, 102, 110, 120, 121 BOŠTÍKOVÁ V., 21, 22, 26, 27, 48, 78, 104, 108, 110, 115, 117, 118, 120, 121 BRNDIAR M., 49 Č ČÍŽKOVÁ J., 31, 119, 122, 123 D DLABKOVÁ A., 36, 113 DOLEŽELOVÁ M., 57 DUŠEK T., 20, 45, 47, 76, 85, 103, 122 DUŠKOVÁ K., 21, 49, 57, 115 F FILIPOVÁ A., 31, 103, 112, 113, 122, 123, 130, 132 FINK M., 57, 76 FLÉGL V., 18 FUSEK J., 19, 29

Н

HANOVCOVÁ I., 22, 111, 129, 130, 131 HEPNAROVÁ V., 21, 36. 41, 93, 104, 105, 111, 126, 131 HERCÍK K., 60 HORÁČEK J. 19, 20, 49, 56, 78, 86, 98, 104, 115, 116, 117, 119, 123, 125, 128 HRABINOVÁ M., 36, 37, 76, 103, 104, 106, 107, 111, 131 HUMLÍČEK V., 29, 119, 120, 121, 124 CH CHLÍBEK R., 19, 20, 22, 74, 77, 86, 102, 110, 111, 116, 119, 123, 124, 125, 129, 130, 131 J JAKL M., 20, 21, 49, 74, 86, 105, 125, 126 JANOUCH J., 29 JANOVSKÁ S., 22, 121 JEBAVÝ L., 19, 49, 86, 123, 128 JOŠT P., 36, 41, 75, 93, 102, 103, 104, 110, 111 JUN D., 19, 20, 36, 40, 41, 43, 44, 76, 86, 92, 93, 95, 97, 99, 101, 102, 103, 104, 105, 106,

107, 108, 110, 111, 113, 126, 131 JUNOVÁ L., 36, 41, 94, 106 Κ KASSA J., 19, 36, 75, 78, 86, 102, 105, 107, 108, 110, 120, 126 KLEIN L., 45, 47, 86107, 116, 126 KLIMENTOVÁ J., 60, 65, 67, 68, 77, 78, 93, 94, 98103, 107, 122, 126, 127 KOČÍ J., 45, 108, 129 KOMÁREK J., 18 KORÁBEČNÝ J., 36, 39, 42, 75, 87, 98, 99, 102, 104, 105, 107, 108, 109, 111, 113, 116, 117, 131 KROČOVÁ Z., 19, 60, 65, 93, 103, 106, 127, 132 KRUTIŠ J., 57 KRUTIŠOVÁ P., 18, 21, 50, 57, 109 KUBELKOVÁ K., 20, 21, 60, 67, 75, 76, 87. 95102, 106, 115, 116, 128 KUČERA T., 20, 36, 37, 91, 104, 112, 117, 123. 128, 130 KUPSA T., 49, 123, 128

L

LAŠÁK P., 49, 50, 117, 119, 129, 133 LINK M., 60, 87, 103, 112, 127, 130 LOCHMAN P., 20, 45, 46, 47, 87, 113, 129 Μ MACELA A., 60, 106, 116, 128 MALÝ O., 21, 45, 129 MAREK J., 22, 21, 25, 26, 34, 39, 40, 99, 100, 108, 109, 113, 123, 130, 132 MATOUŠEK R., 57 MERVARTOVÁ L., 31 MÚČKOVÁ Ľ., 36, 37, 41, 99, 104, 113, 123, 130 Ν NOVOTNÝ P., 57, 108 Ρ PARAL J., 19, 27, 45, 47, 48, 76, 92, 100, 101, 103, 105, 117, 129, 130, 132 PÁVKOVÁ I., 60, 67, 77, 95, 103, 122, 126, 127, 130 PAVLÍK V., 20, 49, 77, 87, 89, 109, 117, 119, 129, 130, 133

PEJCHAL J., 36, 41, 79, 87, 94, 102, 103, 106, 107, 108, 112, 113, 123, 128, 130, 132 PLODR M., 18, 57, 76, 119, 121 POHANKA M., 3, 18, 19, 21, 60, 63, 64, 70, 74, 77, 78, 87, 97, 98, 100, 103, 105, 106, 108, 109, 110, 119 PORKERTOVÁ S., 60 POTÁČ M., 21, 29, 119, 120 PÚDELKA Ľ., 20, 23, 57, 76 RADOCHOVÁ V., 61, 64, 69, 70, 96, 103, 105, 112, 119 RŮŽIČKA M., 21, 29, 121 Ř ŘEHULKA P., 60, 63, 67, 74, 79, 92, 98, 103, 110, 111, 127 S SHESHKO V., 60, 61, 65, 78, 93, 95, 132 SKOŘEPA P., 49, 50, 56, 96, 116, 125 SLEHA R., 22, 120, 121 SMETANA J., 20, 21, 22, 27, 74, 77, 99, 102, 111, 115, 116, 117, 122, 123, 129, 130, 131 **SMOLA P., 29** SOUKUP O., 3640, 42, 75, 87, 97, 102, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 108, 109, 111, 113, 116, 131 STŘÍTECKÁ H., 21, 49, 87, 104, 115, 117, 132 STULÍK J., 60, 65, 67, 74, 78, 87, 92, 94, 98, 103, 111, 112, 122, 126, 127, 130, 131, 133 SUCHÁNEK Z., 29, 117, 119, 121, 132 SVOBODOVÁ H., 36, 37, 42, 75, 96, 110, 117 Š ŠAFKA V., 49, 109, 117, 119, 129 ŠIMEK J., 45, 46, 47,117, 132 ŠINKOROVÁ Z., 19, 20, 31, 33, 34, 75, 78, 87, 94, 99, 103, 107, 112, 113, 115, 122, 123, 126, 128. 130. 132 ŠMEJKAL K., 45, 108, 117, 132 ŠPIDLOVÁ P., 60, 87, 111, 112, 131, 133 ŠPLIŇO M, 19, 22, 87, 88, 111 Т TICHÝ A., 21, 31, 34, 75, 78, 88, 93, 102, 103,

 108, 110, 112, 113,
 Ž

 123, 130, 132
 ŽĎÁRA J., 20, 29, 114,

 V
 ŽĎÁROVÁ RARASOVÁ J.,

 VÁVROVÁ J., 31, 103
 ŽĎÁROVÁ KARASOVÁ J.,

 Z
 20, 36, 41, 43, 94, 102,

 106, 107, 113, 114,
 126, 128,

 113
 113

2019 Annual Report was edited and published by the Faculty of Military Health Sciences, University of Defence Brno, Hradec Kralove, Czech Republic

Editor: Mgr. Hana Hlaváčková Computer work: Dita Zetochová, Mgr. Hana Hlaváčková (using the OBD 3 and the VERSO programs)

Printing: 150 Printed: University of Defence in Brno

Contact address: Fakulta vojenského zdravotnictví Třebešská 1575 CZ-500 01 Hradec Králové Tel.: +420 973 253 101 Fax: +420 973 253 100 E-mail: pavel.bostik@unob.cz E-mail: ivana.komarkova@unob.cz

© Univerzita obrany v Brně, CZ

ISBN 978-80-7582-156-0